PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE – AGENDA PUBLISHED 14 AUGUST
Date: Tuesday 25 August 2020
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue:

To be held via Microsoft Teams - please click here

Copies of agendas, reports, minutes and other attachments for the Council’s meetings are available on
the Lambeth website. www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov
Members of the Committee
Councillor Paul Gadsby (Substitute), Councillor Ben Kind, Councillor Jessica Leigh, Councillor
Mohammed Seedat, Councillor Joanne Simpson (Vice-Chair), Councillor Becca Thackray and Councillor
Clair Wilcox (Chair)
Substitute Members
Councillor Liz Atkins, Councillor Jennifer Brathwaite, Councillor Marcia Cameron, Councillor Malcolm
Clark, Councillor Paul Gadsby, Councillor Nigel Haselden, Councillor Maria Kay, Councillor Marianna
Masters, Councillor Iain Simpson, Councillor Timothy Windle and Councillor Sonia Winifred

Further Information
If you require any further information or have any queries please contact:
Lara Edwards, Telephone: 020 7926 6816; Email: ledwards@lambeth.gov.uk
Queries on reports
Please contact report authors prior to the meeting if you have questions on the reports or wish to inspect
the background documents used. The contact details of the report author are shown on the front page of
each report.

@LBLdemocracy on Twitter http://twitter.com/LBLdemocracy or use #Lambeth

How to access the meeting
This meeting will be held in accordance with Paragraph 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020 and the related
Regulations which details that members of the public and press be provided access to the meeting
through remote means, such as video conferencing and live streaming as provided by the link provided on
the Council’s website.
For elected Members of the Council
Councillors who are not members of the committee but wish to make representations at the meeting must
inform Democratic Services by 12 noon on the last working day before the meeting. Please refer to the
guidance which has been circulated separately by Democratic Services.
For Members of the Public
This is a Microsoft Teams Live Event meeting. If you are new to Microsoft Teams, clicking the link on the
front page will take you to the meeting page where you will be prompted to download the app or watch on
the web instead. Please follow the instructions to watch on the web instead. On doing so, you can join our
live event anonymously.
Can I make representations at virtual PAC meetings?
Yes. Up to three supporters (including applicants), three objectors and the Ward Members can make
representations to the meeting at the Committee’s discretion for a maximum of two minutes each.
The Council is investigating the possibility of representations being made via the submission of audio file,
which would be played at the PAC meeting. However, arrangements are already in place to allow
members of the public to make written representations which, if required, will be read out by an officer at
the meeting.
Regardless of the option used, you must register your wish to make representations on any application,
and importantly submit the necessary information, by 12 noon on the last working day before the meeting.
You must supply a written statement outlining the points you wish to make to the committee. The written
statement when read aloud must not take more than two minutes (300 words).
For further information please contact Democratic Services as soon as possible by telephoning 020
7926 2170 or emailing democracy@lambeth.gov.uk
Where the number of requests to address the committee exceeds three, and/or it is clear the interested
parties wish to make similar points, the interested parties will be asked to liaise so that all the points can
be raised succinctly.
Representation
Ward Councillors (details via the website www.lambeth.gov.uk or phone 020 7926 2131) may be
contacted at their surgeries or through Party Group offices to represent your views to the Council:
(Conservatives 020 7926 2213) (Labour 020 7926 1166) (Greens 020 7926 2225).
Digital engagement
We encourage people to use Social Media and we normally tweet from most Council meetings. To get
involved you can tweet us @LBLDemocracy.
Audio/Visual Recording of meetings
Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees using whatever, nondisruptive, methods you think are suitable. If you have any questions about this please contact Democratic

Services (members of the press please contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the
meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons including disruption caused by
the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.
Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the material produced so that it
can be reused and edited by all local people and organisations on a non-commercial basis.

AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ORDER OF THE AGENDA MAY BE CHANGED AT THE MEETING
Page
Nos.

1.

Declaration of Pecuniary Interests
Under Standing Order 4.4, where any councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest (as defined in the Members’ Code of Conduct (para. 4))
in any matter to be considered at a meeting of the Council, a committee,
sub-committee or joint committee, they must withdraw from the meeting
room during the whole of the consideration of that matter and must not
participate in any vote on that matter unless a dispensation has been
obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

2.

Minutes

1 - 26

To agree minutes of the meeting held on 26 May, 23 June and 14 July
2020.

Town & Country Planning Act (1990), The Planning & Compensations Act
(1991), The Town & Country Planning (Control of Advertisement)
Regulations (1992), The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act (1990), The Town & Country Planning General Regulations
(1990), The Rush Common Act 1806 and related legislation: Applications
For information on documents used in the preparation of the reports
contact the Planning Advice Desk, Tel: 020 7926 1180.

3.

20-24 Popes Road (Coldharbour) 20/01347/FUL
Officers’ recommendations:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the
completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing the planning
obligations listed in this report and any direction as may be received
following further referral to the Mayor of London.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport
and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this
report, addendums and/or PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set
out in this report, addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant
to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).
3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning
permission and there is a subsequent appeal, delegated authority is

27 - 144

given to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability,
having regard to the heads of terms set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes, to negotiate and complete a
document containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in order to
meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.
4. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within
6 months of committee, delegated authority is given to the Director
of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to refuse planning
permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement for the
mitigating contributions identified in this report, addendums and/or
the PAC minutes.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE (PAC) FAQs - YOUR QUESTIONS ANSWERED
1

Who sits on the PAC?
The Council has established a PAC, which consists of seven Councillors (elected members).

2

Where and when do PAC meetings take place?
As a result of the current public health emergency, meetings are being held virtually and the link to
the meeting can be found on the committee agenda front sheet on the PAC page of the Council’s
website. The meetings are normally held on a Tuesday evening at 7pm and are held 1 or 2 times a
month and are listed on the Council’s calendar of meetings at:
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCalendarMonthView.asp?GL=1&bcr=1

3

Can I attend PAC meetings?
All virtual PAC meetings are open to the press and public although on rare occasions the Committee
may discuss a matter in private. The link to the meeting can be found on the PAC page of the
Council’s website.

4

How can I get a copy of any reports to be considered by PAC?
The officer reports on applications to be considered are circulated to PAC Members and published
on the Council’s website a week before the meeting. Papers for meetings can be viewed at:
http://www.lambeth.gov.uk/moderngov/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=600

5

Can I make written representations to the PAC meeting?
Yes. Written representations, including any letters, petitions or photos should be:

Sent to the relevant case officer listed on the front page of the officer report preferably by
email.

Sent by 12 noon two clear working days before the meeting. Meetings are normally on a
Tuesday, so the deadline would be 12 noon by the Thursday before the meeting.

6

Can I speak at PAC meetings?
Yes. Up to three supporters (including applicants), three objectors and the Ward Members can make
representations to the meeting at the Committee’s discretion for a maximum of two minutes each.
The Council is investigating the possibility of representations being made via the submission of
audio file, which would be played at the PAC meeting. However, arrangements are already in place
to allow members of the public to make written representations which, if required, will be read out by
an officer at the meeting.
Regardless of the option used, you must register your wish to make representations on any
application, and importantly submit the necessary information, by 12 noon on the last working day
before the meeting. You must supply a written statement outlining the points you wish to make to the
committee. The written statement when read aloud must not take more than two minutes (300
words).
For further information please contact Democratic Services as soon as possible by telephoning 020
7926 2170 or emailing democracy@lambeth.gov.uk
Where the number of requests to address the committee exceeds three, and/or it is clear the
interested parties wish to make similar points, the interested parties will be asked to liaise so that all
the points can be raised succinctly.

7

Does the PAC consider applications in the order listed on the agenda?
Not necessarily. The order of business is determined at the meeting taking into consideration:
1.
2.

Applications which are withdrawn or which officers recommend should be deferred.
Applications where there are no notified interested parties wishing to address the committee
and members have no questions to ask the applicant or officers.

3.
4.

Applications which have been deferred from a previous meeting or have been the subject of a
site visit.
Applications for developments which would be in receipt of public funding and which are subject
to deadlines affecting delivery and other applications subject to specific deadlines.

8

What is the process for considering an application at the meeting?
Officers will introduce each application with a brief PowerPoint presentation which will usually
include drawings and photographs of the application site. The Committee will then hear the written
representations from the interested parties. If the application is recommended for approval then
objectors’ written representations will be heard first. This is reversed if the application is
recommended for refusal. The merits of the application are considered taking into account the views
of the interested parties and planning officers before the committee reaches a decision.

9

What time does the meeting come to an end?
The meeting will be conducted in a business-like fashion and the Committee will endeavour to deal
with reports as quickly as possible.
However if there is a lot of outstanding business at 9.00pm the Chair will advise the meeting if and
how the timetable for the meeting has to be revised, in order to deal with remaining business and
finish the meeting at 10.00pm. At 10.00pm, if the meeting has not ended, the meeting will decide
which business can be completed by 10.45pm and any business not reached by that time will be
deferred to the next meeting.

10

What are site visits?
The decision whether to have a site visit is made by the Chair of the Planning Applications
Committee. Site visits are arranged by Planning Officers to allow the Committee and Ward Members
to observe the site and gain a better understanding of the impact of the proposal. Where permission
is needed to go on to private land, contact will be made with the owner by officers. Other than for
reasons of access, the arrangements for site visits will not normally be publicised or made known to
applicants, agents or third parties except in exceptional circumstances. In such circumstances,
officers have discretion to invite one representative of the applicant to be present but only to answer
any questions if Members require further context which the officer cannot provide. The applicant
must notify the planning officer prior to the site visit who will be attending on their behalf.
Objectors are not to be invited, except in exceptional circumstances where the chair of the
Committee agrees that there is information which cannot be provided by officers, and which it is
necessary to receive on site and which is only likely to be able to be provided by an objector.
In circumstances where the public may need to be involved – e.g. to gain access to a property to
view a site from a particular vantage point, officers will arrange this. Members of the public shall be
present only to grant access to premises and to answer factual questions.
A site visit is not a part of the formal determination of the planning application and therefore
the public attendance.

11

When do site visits take place?
A site visit will normally take place on the Saturday morning immediately before the committee which
will consider the matter. An alternative date of the preceding Friday morning could be arranged

12

If I am unable to attend the PAC meeting, how can I find out the decision?
Decisions will be posted on Twitter from @lbldemocracy immediately as the decision is taken. You
can also contact Democratic Services by telephone or email. The minutes from the meeting will also
be available on the Council’s website approximately five clear working days after the meeting.
Planning officers will send the applicant and any interested parties who have made written
representations formal notification of the Committee decision.

13

Where can I get further information or advice?

If you would like further information or advice, please contact:
(a) Town Planning Advice Desk: Tel: 020 7926 1180, Email: planning@lambeth.gov.uk
(b) Town Planning Webpage: https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control
(c) Democratic Services: Tel: 020 7926 6816, Email: democracy@lambeth.gov.uk

Guide to Use Classes Order in England.
The table below is intended as a general guide. Reference needs to be made to the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) and the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
Class
Class A1
Shops/Retail

Summary of Use/Description
Shops, post offices, hairdressers,
sale of tickets/travel agency, sale of
cold food for consumption off the
premises, funeral directors,
domestic hire shops, dry cleaners,
internet café (where the primary
purpose is to provide facilities to
access the internet)

Permitted Changes
Permitted change to or from a
mixed use as A1 or A2 and up to
2 flats;
Permitted change of A1 or mixed
A1 and dwellinghouse to C3
(subject to prior approval, max
150m2);
Permitted change to A2;
Permitted change to A3 (subject
to prior approval, max 150m2);
Permitted change to D2 (subject
to prior approval, max 200m2)
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A2, A3, B1
(interchangeable with notification
to the Council, max 150m2)

Class A2
Financial and
Professional
Services

Banks, building societies, estate
agents, employment agencies,
professional services.

Permitted change to A1 where
there is a display window at
ground floor level.
Permitted change to or from a
mixed use for any purpose within
A2 and up to 2 flats and for A1
and up to 2 flats, where there is a
display window at ground floor
level.
Permitted change from A2 or
mixed A2 and dwellinghouse to
C3 (subject to prior approval,
max 150m2)
Permitted change to A3 (subject
to prior approval, max 150m2)
Permitted change to D2 (subject
to prior approval, max 200m2)
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A2, A3, B1
(interchangeable with notification

to the Council, max 150m2)
Class A3
Restaurants and
Cafes

The sale of food and drink for
consumption on the premises

Permitted change to Class A1
and Class A2
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A2, A3, B1
(interchangeable with notification
to the Council, max 150m2)

Class A4
Drinking
Establishments

Public House, wine bar or other
drinking establishment

Permitted change to drinking
establishment with expanded
food provision.

Class A5
Hot food takeaways

The sale of hot food for
consumption off the premises.

Permitted change to A1, or A2 or
A3.
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A1, A2, B1
(interchangeable with notification
to the council, max 150m2)

Class B1
Business

Class B1(a)
Office

Class B1(c)
Light Industrial

Class B2
General Industrial
Class B8

B1(a)- Office other than a use
within Class A2.
B1(b)- Research and development
of products or processes
B1(c)- Light industrial uses that can
be carried out in residential areas

Permitted B1 change to B8 (max
500m2)
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A1, A2, A3
(interchangeable with notification
to the council, max 150m2)

Permitted B1 change to statefunded school or registered
nursery (subject to prior approval)
Office other than a use within Class B1(a) office permitted change to
A2
C3 (to be completed within a
period of 3 years from prior
approval date)
Light industrial uses that can be
Permitted change (from 1
carried out in residential areas such October 2017 until 30 September
as joinery workshops, tailors,
2020 only) from B1(c) to C3
printworks, commercial kitchen,
subject to prior approval (max
workshops
500m2), completion within 3
years of prior approval date.
Industrial process other than one
Permitted change to B1 and B8
falling within class B1.
(max 500m2)
Storage or as a distribution centre
Permitted change to B1 (max

Storage/Distribution

500m2)
Permitted change to C3 (subject
to prior approval, max 500m2)
until 15 April 2018.

Class C1
Hotels

Hotel or as a boarding/guest house
here no significant element of care
provided

Class C2
Residential
institutions

Residential accommodation and
care to people in need of care
(other than C3), hospital/nursing
home, residential school, college or
training centre
Prisons, young offenders’
institutions, detention centres,
custody centres, secure training
centres, secure hospitals, secure
local authority accommodation,
military barracks
Dwellinghouse occupied by a single
person or by people to be regarded
as a single household, not more
than 6 residents living together as a
single household where care is
provided or not provided (other
than a use in C4)
Use by not more than 6 residents
as a HMO

Class C2A
Secure residential
institutions

Class C3
Dwellinghouses

Class C4
Houses in multiple
occupation
Class D1
Non-residential
institutions

Class D2
Assembly and
Leisure

Medical/health services, crèche,
day nursery or day centre,
provision of education, display of
works of art, museum, public
library, public hall/exhibition hall,
public worship or religious
instruction, law court.
Cinema, concert hall, bingo hall,
dance hall, swimming bath, skating
rink, gymnasium, area for indoor or
outdoor sports or recreations (not
involving motor vehicles or fire
arms)

Permitted change to state-funded
school or registered nursery (and
back to previous lawful use)
(subject to prior approval)
Permitted change to state-funded
school or registered nursery (and
back to previous lawful use)
(subject to prior approval)
Permitted change to state-funded
school or registered nursery (and
back to previous lawful use)
(subject to prior approval)

Permitted change to C4

Permitted change to C3

Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A1, A2, A3, B1
(interchangeable with notification
to the Council, max 150m2)

Permitted change to state-funded
school or registered nursery (and
back to previous lawful
use)(subject to prior approval)
Temporary permitted change (2
years) to A1, A2, A3, B1
(interchangeable with notification

to the council, max 150m2)
Sui Generis
Uses that do not fall
within a specified
class

Includes large HMO, hostel,
theatre, amusement arcade/funfair,
launderette, sale of fuel for motor
vehicles, sale of motor vehicles,
taxi business/hire of motor vehicles,
scrapyard, waste disposal
installation, nightclub, casino,
betting office, pay day loan shop.

Casino to A2 (subject to prior
approval);
Casino to D2;
Amusement centre of casino to
C3 (subject to prior approval,
max 150m2);
Betting office or payday loan
shop to
- A1 or mixed use A1 and
up to 2 flats (if a display
window at ground floor
level), A2 or A2 mixed use
and up to 2 flats,
- A3 (max 150m2),
- D2 (subject to prior
approval, max 200m2),
- C3 (subject to prior
approval, max 150m2), or
- mixed use betting office or
pay day load shop and up
to two flats
Use as a betting office, pay day
loan shop or launderette to C3
(subject to prior approval, max
150m2);
Mixed use betting office, pay day
load shop or launderette and
dwellinghouse to C3 (subject to
prior approval, max 150m2);
Mixed use betting office and up to
two flats to
- A1 (if a display window at
ground floor level)
- A2 or betting office or pay
day loan shop
Temporary permitted change (2
years, max 150m2) from betting
office or pay day loan shop to A1,
A2, A3, or B1.

Please note: Permitted development rights can be removed by an Article 4 Direction. Further
details of Article 4 Directions can be found at https://www.lambeth.gov.uk/consultations/article-4-direction

Abbreviations
ADF
AQA
AQMA
BNPP
BRE
BREEAM
BSPD
CAS
CHP
CIL
CEMP
MHCLG
DD
EIA
ES
ESP
EVCP
HE
FTE
FVA
HSE
GLA
LLP
LVMF
MALP
NPPF
NPPG
OAPF
PAC
PPA
PTAL
PV
RICS
RSS
S106
SPD
SPG
TA
TfL
TLRN
TVIA

Average Daylight Factor
Air Quality Assessment
Air Quality Management Area
BNP Paribas (Financial Viability Advisors)
British Research Establishment
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment
Method
Brixton Supplementary Planning Document
Conservation Area Statement
Combined Heat and Power
Community Infrastructure Levy
Construction and Environmental Management Plan
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Daylight Distribution
Environmental Impact Assessment
Environmental Statement
Employment and Skills Plan
Electric Vehicle Charging Point
Historic England
Full Time Equivalent
Financial Viability Assessment
Health and Safety Executive
Greater London Authority
Lambeth Local Plan 2015
London View Management Framework
London Plan 2016 (formerly Minor Alterations to The London
Plan)
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance
Opportunity Area Planning Framework
Planning Applications Committee
Planning Performance Agreement
Public Transport Accessibility Level
Photovoltaic
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
Regulatory Support Service – Environmental Health advisors
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Supplementary Planning Document
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Transport Assessment
Transport for London
Transport for London Road Network
Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment

VSC
VSPD
WSPD

Vertical Sky Component
Vauxhall Supplementary Planning Document
Waterloo Supplementary Planning Document

Approach to Heritage Assets
Legislative Framework
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (“PLBCAA”)
provides that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects
a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses.
Section 72(1) of the PLBCAA provides that in the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other
land in a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of (amongst others) the planning
Acts, special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of the conservation area.
The South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment case and the
Barnwell Manor case (East Northamptonshire DC v SSCLG) establish that “preserving” in both
s.66 and s.72 means “doing no harm’.
National Policy
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF sets out 3 overarching objectives, contained within the planning
system, in order to achieve sustainable development. These objective are interdependent and
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways and include the following (with detail provided on
the most relevant objective to this section);
a) an economic objective
b) a social objective
c) an environmental objective –to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built
and historic environment.
The NPPF defines a “heritage asset” as:
“A building, monument, site place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest”.
The definition includes both designated heritage assets (of which, Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas are relevant here) and assets identified by the local planning authority
(including local listing)
“Significance” is defined within the NPPF as being:

“the value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage
interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance
derives from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its “setting”.
Paragraph 190 of the NPPF requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by
development affecting its setting), taking account of the available evidence and any necessary
expertise. That assessment should then be taken into account when considering the impact of
the proposal on the heritage asset, to avoid or minimise conflict between the heritage asset’s
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.
Paragraphs 192 and 193 of the NPPF provide as follows:
192. In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account
of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.
193. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and
the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial
harm to its significance.
194. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting) should require clear and
convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of: a) grade II listed buildings, or grade
II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional; b) assets of the highest significance,
notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and
II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites,
should be wholly exceptional.
Paragraph 195 of the NPPF deals with substantial harm to or total loss of significance of
significance of a designated heritage asset.
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF provides that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of the designated heritage asset, this harm should be
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.
Paragraph 197 of the NPPF deals with non-designated heritage assets as follows:

197. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that
affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset.
Paragraphs 200 and 201 of the NPPF are as follows:
200. Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within
Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of heritage assets, to
enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the
setting that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its
significance) should be treated favourably.
201. Not all elements of a Conservation Area or World Heritage Site will necessarily
contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which makes a positive
contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site should be
treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 195 or less than substantial harm
under paragraph 196, as appropriate, taking into account the relative significance of the
element affected and its contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World
Heritage Site as a whole.
Officers have also had regard to the National Planning Practice Guidance in respect of
conserving and enhancing the historic environment.
Approach to Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing
Where a proposed development may impact upon the sunlight and daylight received by an
adjoining property, planning applications are often accompanied by a Sunlight and Daylight
Assessment. These should be undertaken following the guidelines published by the Building
Research Establishment ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’ (BRE Guidelines). This
is a good practice guide which provides advice on site layout for good natural lighting within a
new development, safeguarding of daylight and sunlight within existing buildings nearby a
development and the protection of daylighting of adjoining land for future development. The
guide is advisory and whilst it provides numerical target values, these need also to be considered
holistically with the needs of the development and its surrounding context.
Two methods of measurement are recommended be used to measure daylight impacts: (1)
Vertical Sky Component (VSC); and (2) Daylight Distribution (DD). VSC assesses the quantum of
skylight falling on a vertical window and DD (also referred to as No Sky Line) the distribution of
direct skylight in a room space.
VSC is calculated from the centre of a window on the outward face and measures the amount of
light available on a vertical wall or window following the introduction of visible barriers, such as
buildings. The maximum VSC value is almost 40% for a completely unobstructed vertical wall or
window. The BRE guidance suggests that if the VSC is greater than 27%, enough skylight should

still be reaching the window of the existing building. Any reduction below this level should be kept
to a minimum. Should the VSC with development be both less than 27% and less than 0.8 times
its former value, occupants of the existing building shall notice a reduction in the amount of
skylight they receive. The guide says: “the area lit by the window is likely to appear gloomier, and
electric lighting will be needed more of the time”.
The DD method is a measure of the distribution of daylight at the ‘working plane’ within a room.
For the DD assessment the ‘working plane’ means a horizontal ‘desktop’ plane 0.85m in height
for residential properties. The DD divides those areas of the working plane which can receive
direct sky light from those which cannot. If a significant area of the working plane receives no
direct sky light, then the distribution of daylight in the room will be poor and supplementary
electric lighting may be required. The BRE Guidelines state that if the area of a room that does
receive direct sky light is reduced by more than 20% of its former value, then this would be
noticeable to its occupants.
Typically, it is recommended that VSC and DD are utilised for consideration on daylight losses
resulting from the proposal to existing neighbouring residential since it is a comparative test.
Sunlight is measured using Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH). Sunlight is measured using
a sun indicator which contains 100 spots, each representing 1% of APSH. Where no obstruction
exists, the total APSH would amount to 1486 hours and therefore each spot equates to 14.86
hours (for London) of the total annual sunlight hours. The number of spots is calculated for the
Baseline and Proposed Development scenarios during the whole year and also during the winter
period and a comparison made between the two. This provides a percentage of APSH for each of
the time periods for each window assessed.
The 2011 BRE Guidelines note that sunlight is valued in living rooms at any time of day but
especially in the afternoon. It is viewed as less important in bedrooms and in kitchens (the latter
where people prefer it in the morning rather than the afternoon. All main living rooms of
dwellings…should be checked if they have a window facing within 90° of due south. If the main
living room to a dwelling has a main window facing within 90° of due north, but a secondary
window facing within 90° of due south, sunlight to the secondary window should be checked.
With regard to existing surrounding receptors, the BRE Guidelines provide that a window may be
adversely affected if a point at the centre of the window receives - Less than 25% of the APSH
during the whole year, of which 5% APSH must be in the winter period; and - Receives less than
0.8 times its former sunlight hours in either time period; and - Has a reduction in sunlight for the
whole year more than 4% APSH.
Overshadowing is assessed through transient overshadowing plots which comprise an illustrative
tool showing the changing levels of direct sunlight received by amenity space throughout the day
on the dates assessed. The BRE ‘test’ for a development’s overshadowing impacts relates to the
area of an amenity space that receives more than two hours of sunlight on 21 March (the Spring
Equinox). The guide states: “…for it to appear adequately sunlit throughout the year, at least half
of a garden or amenity area should receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21 March. If, as a
result of new development, an existing garden or amenity area does not meet the above, and the

area which can receive two hours of sun on 21 March is less than 0.8 times its former value, then
the loss of sunlight is likely to be noticeable”.
Approach to Air Quality
There is a Lambeth wide Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and Lambeth is also covered by
the Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) Low Emission Zone.
The NPPF states within paragraph 181;
…decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or
national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management
Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through
traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement…Planning
decisions should ensure that any new development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean
Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action plan.
London Plan policy 7.14 states that development proposals should minimise increased exposure
to existing poor air quality and make provision to address local problems of air quality, promote
sustainable design and construction to reduce emissions from the demolition and construction of
buildings, be at least air quality neutral, ensure that where provision needs to be made to reduce
emissions from a development, this is normally made on-site, and where the development
requires a detailed air quality assessment and biomass boilers are included, the assessment
should forecast pollutant concentrations.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

PAC
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 26 May 2020 at 7.00 pm
MINUTES
PRESENT:

1.

Councillor Scarlett O'Hara, Councillor Ben Kind, Councillor Jessica Leigh,
Councillor Mohammed Seedat, Councillor Joanne Simpson (Vice-Chair),
Councillor Becca Thackray and Councillor Clair Wilcox (Chair)

DECLARATION OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS
With regard to items two, three and five of the agenda, Councillor Becca Thackray stated that
although a Ward Councillor for Herne Hill, she confirmed that she did not have a pre-determined
view of the applications.

2.

KINGS COLLEGE HOSPITAL, RUSKIN WING, DENMARK HILL (HERNE HILL)
20/00383/VOC
Case No. 20/00383/VOC (agenda item two, page one of the agenda pack, page one of the
addendum and page one of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 22 May 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included the request to permit 24-hour operation of the helipad for a temporary period of 3 years
in connection with medical emergencies. The existing permission was subject to a condition
requiring the monitoring of night flights. It was proposed to amend this condition to require the
provision of additional monitoring data. The data log would need to be submitted at the end of
the 3 year period, or at any other time at the request of the local planning authority. Noise
impact assessment was conducted at eight locations against the World Health Organisation
guidelines of 65dB, where awakenings due to aircraft noises may occur. The figures from 2019
showed 89 recordings within a year, where the majority occurred during the summer period. The
complaints data suggested that 37 awakenings occurred during this time.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objector raised the following concerns:
 Ruskin Park House was high up on the hill and a volume of 90 decibels had been
recorded by residents.


Residents were woken up if the helicopter were to arrive at 3am and would stay awake
until it took off at 4am, and the first Heathrow flight would take off at 4:30am. This had
sometimes occurred twice a week at the beginning of the operation.



The quality of residents’ lives had materially changed and they would like to be consulted
further.



They proposed a further one-year extension to the night flights for further data to be
collected, as well as a McDonnell Douglas helicopter be used.

Page 2
The applicant and representative then provided the following information in support of the
application:
 In the first year of night landings an improved patient outcome was delivered as well as
the maintaining of the predicted number of flights.


They did not anticipate an increase in the number of landings in the next three years, but
a possible decrease due to other hospitals starting to provide night flying operations.



The relative infrequency of flights was reflected in the limited number of complaints
received but noted that the concerns of some occupiers of Ruskin Park House. Pilots
had been advised to adjust their flight path where weather permitted, to avoid this
particular approach. This had successfully reduced the number of complaints from
summer last year.



The night crew were the only enhanced care resource in the south east, and the reduced
journey had meant that there was an improved patient outcome for time critical incidents.



The 24-hour availability of the Kings helipad improved the health services to the 4.8
million people they served.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 Maudsley Hospital was consulted about the scheme. However, the top two levels of
Ruskin Wing were vacant and the two below were offices, and no complaints were
registered by patients or staff.


The noise levels from a helicopter were distinctive, but the overall sound energy would
be broadly similar to street noise and would capture a representative of the noise that
was perceived by the human ear.



Technological constraints were initially the reason why noise receptors were not installed
in Ruskin Park House. The locations assessed were located on the predominant flight
path. The worst-case scenarios were assessed, where there was no shielding from other
buildings, to capture the data and make the most effective decisions.



A three-year period was chosen to allow more data to be collected and ensure the
number of flights were within the agreed amount.



A noise reading was taken with no helicopters to measure the existing road noise levels.
The readings with helicopter noises were pointed directly towards the helicopters as part
of the worst-case scenarios.



Due to the live planning application with the Council, it was not considered reasonable to
require the applicant to cease operating night flights during the Covid-19 pandemic.



The annual cap on flights was a measure to ensure increased security from the previous
application. It was not predicted to have an increase in flights from 2019 figures.

Whilst questions from Members were beginning, Councillor Simpson advised the meeting that
her internet connection had been lost briefly. The Chair and the Planning Officer reprised the
relevant replies for Councillor Simpson and she was satisfied that she was able to continue to
participate in the item.
The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 Members thanked officers for the thought put into the application and the associated
conditions. They were encouraged by the estimated flight numbers having been broadly
accurate.

Page 3


Members acknowledged that there would be an impact on neighbours but on balance
considered that the public benefit generated by the continued availability of 24 hour
flights in medical emergencies had to outweigh the impact on neighbouring amenity.



Members were content with the three-year period proposed in the application, which
struck an acceptable balance between a one year period and a five year period.



Members expressed their disappointment that the complaints website was not ready
when needed. The hope was expressed that the applicant would continue to engage
with affected residents.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to finalise
the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or PAC minutes.

3.

LAND ADJACENT TO 1 CHAUCER ROAD (HERNE HILL) 20/00480/FUL

Case No. 20/00480/FUL (agenda item three, page 55 of the agenda pack, page three of the
addendum and page six of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 22 May 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included the demolition of the single storey garage building and the erection of a new two storey
2-bedroom dwelling house with associated amenity space, cycle parking and refuse storage.
The location was within the Poet’s Corner Conservation Area, which had few opportunities for
development. Properties within the conservation area had a variety of different frontages, and
the proposed scheme was considered appropriate in the urban environment context. Detailed
BRE tests on sunlight and daylight showed that the scheme complied with these standards. A
financial contribution of £19,149 towards the provision of off-site affordable housing would be
secured through the S106 Agreement. The scheme would be car free, with an obligation to
provide a three-year subscription to a local car club membership.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objectors raised the following concerns:
 The Poet’s Corner Conservation Area Designation Report stated that that all new
development was required to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the
conservation area. The scheme did not improve or enhance the area and was not a
congruous or subordinate addition to the area.


The building would dominate and obscure the street view as it was positioned sideways
directly on the pavement.



It would degrade the Conservation Area by blocking a historic view of Chaucer Road from
Dulwich Road.



Objectors raised concerns that the raised front elevation from 2.4m to 6m, would
dominate the streetscape and significantly impact the availability of natural light into
neighbours’ main living spaces.



The two windows within the proposed design directly overlooked 1 Chaucer Road’s
master bedroom and sitting room, which would impact on residents’ privacy.



The demarcation between 1 Chaucer Road and the proposed scheme should be

Page 4
improved, as it partially used the driveway and the proposed fence did not follow the
whole length of the boundary.
The applicant and architect then provided the following information in support of the application:
 The proposed scheme would occupy a smaller footprint to that of the current structure on
the site.


The sunlight studies demonstrated how the layout ensured that no unacceptable harm
was caused to the amenity of surrounding land or residential buildings, in relation to
privacy and overshadowing.



It would incorporate the highest quality materials.



The proposal made a positive contribution to the character of the conservation area by
providing a scheme which would allow for open space, used high quality materials and a
well-articulated street frontage.



The high-quality design had been recognised by the Herne Hill Neighbourhood Area
Planning Group, who described the proposal as ‘both inventive and respectful of its
context.



A Section 106 Agreement would ensure that new residents would not be able to obtain a
parking permit and would provide three years of car club membership. There was a
Zipcar space on Spenser Road, which was less than a minute’s walk away.

Councillor Jim Dickson then spoke as Ward Councillor for Herne Hill, stating the following:
 The proposed building passed none of the tests that would commonly apply to judge
whether it was compatible with a conservation area.


The structure was pulled forward from the building line, obscuring the view along
Chaucer Road.



He hoped that the committee would refuse the application and request that the architects
would come back with a more acceptable design.



The zinc cladding materials were vastly out of keeping with those used across the rest of
conservation area.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 The proposed scheme’s footprint was informed by the size of the site, and unable to be
recessed as in the Angell Town development, as it would diminish the upper floor
accommodation. Officers believed that the change in materials between the ground and
top floor would successfully break up the mass of the building.


The properties in the area predated the conservation area designation. The property
opposite the proposed scheme was the only one approved since the creation of the
conservation area. As this scheme had received a number of complaints, officers
discouraged a two-storey ‘brick box’.



The building line was difficult in front facing buildings as the gardens were generally
narrow.



The proposed scheme was not as set back as the property opposite (2A Chaucer Road),
and therefore did not quite match the building line.



Officers suggested a lightened green cladding as it would blend better with the trees.
When colour and tone were visualised on a computer screen, it would depend on the
resolution and quality of the screen. If the proposal was to be approved, the officers

Page 5
would check on site and expect a contemporary brick with sharp edges and ensure that
the depth and tone was harmonious with the site. However a condition could be attached
relating to officer approval of materials.


Regard needed to be had to what was already existing in the conservation area.
Although the height of the boundary with 7 Dulwich Road of 2.2m was higher that the
Local Plan Q15 policy, it was deemed acceptable.



The windows of the proposed scheme were angled to not look directly over 11 Dulwich
Road, as well as to protect the privacy of the future occupants of the development. The
large window to the front elevation would provide extra light.



The boundary treatment adjoining 1 Chaucer Road could continue to the pavement,
which could be achieved through a further amendment to condition 14. However, the
neighbour concerned could also erect a boundary treatment themselves.



Officers had proposed the addition of condition 19, as they wanted to protect the future
occupier’s privacy and living space.



The proposed scheme would receive generous sunlight and daylight levels as it would be
south facing and would have large windows in the kitchen/dining area, angled windows in
both bedrooms and a roof light.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 The scheme would be replacing a garage building, which had received complaints from
residents in the conservation area designation report. Therefore, the scheme would be a
neutral.


Members agreed that the proposal preserved the character and appearance of the
conservation area and the design had a lot of merit.



Condition 19 on window glazing should be removed to allow future residents to choose
for themselves.



It was positive that Herne Hill Planning Group welcomed the proposal.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing
the planning obligations listed in the report, and subject to the following:
i.

ii.
iii.

An additional condition to require the submission of details of materials,
fenestration and cladding for approval by officers and an informative relating
to the discharge of that condition to advise that the proposed materials should
be harmonious and relate to the conservation area.
An amendment to condition 14 to provide details of the boundary treatment
adjacent to No 1 Chaucer Road showing it carried to the front of pavement.
To remove condition 19.

2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes; and

Page 6
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or the
PAC minutes.

4.

20-22 UNION COURT (LARKHALL) 19/02328/FUL
Case No. 19/02328/FUL (agenda item four, page 99 of the agenda pack, page four of the
addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 22 May 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration and noted
that the scheme proposed to demolish Units 7 and 20 and replace them with one building
ranging from one to five storeys in height (plus basement and mezzanine level) located in the
Clapham North Key Industrial Business Area (KIBA). The scheme proposed Business B1 floor
space, affordable workspace, 80 cycle parking spaces, eight blue badge spaces and a reduction
of car parking spaces from 64 to 58. The closest residential buildings were Singer Mews and 18
and 19 Fergusson Mews. Fergusson Mews would receive reductions of sunlight/daylight, which
was considered acceptable with the urban context. Singer Mews had south facing windows and
would not be impacted by the scheme.
The applicant and representative then provided the following information in support of the
application:


The proposal was an exciting opportunity to strengthen and diversify employment floor
space within one of the borough’s limited number of Key Industrial and Business Areas.



This scheme formed part of a wider initiative to create environments which would foster
and encourage the economic growth of small and medium enterprises. The scheme was
more important now, given the challenges faced as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.



The scheme provided an increase in employment floorspace, a high quality, sustainable
and green development and the creation of over 400 new jobs.

At 22:00 the Committee elected to proceed with the meeting for a maximum of a further 45
minutes in order to conclude the remaining matters of business.
Councillor Andy Wilson then spoke as Ward Councillor for Larkhall, stating the following:
 He was supporting the application as it would provide significant investment in one of the
Council’s KIBAs.


He was grateful that the applicant gave a tour, explained their plans and addressed
concerns from residents in Singer Mews regarding their potential loss of amenity.



The area needed more commercial space that would provide local residents with
employment opportunities close to their homes.



The scheme would support up to 455 jobs, over 330 more than the number that were
previously supported in Union Court.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:

Page 7


The proposed uplift of B1 light industrial space was considered acceptable, as it was
broadly in line with emerging policies, and would be secured in condition 3.



Unit 1 was unoccupied, and no company would need to move out.



Conditions 10 and 11 would ensure trees were planted within the landscaping of the
scheme.



The proposal would create new cycle spaces, of which 60 would be provided at
basement level and 20 would be short term parking spaces on the ground floor. Officers
could encourage the applicant to provide more spaces but could not require this based
on potential uplift in cycle usage arising as a result of the current Covid-19 pandemic.



19 Fergusson Mews was currently facing a blank wall and had limited sunlight and
daylight, as well as the limitations caused by overhanging balconies. The relative
reduction in sunlight and daylight as a result of the proposed building would be
considered acceptable.



The Union Court site was enclosed and is only accessible via the gated entrance at
Union Road. The rooftops neighbouring 18 and 19 Fergusson Mews would only be
accessed for maintenance and their access would be via the proposed building.



A secured by design condition had been added under which secure by design
certification would be reviewed by external advisors from the Metropolitan Police.



The rooftops closest to 18/19 Fergusson Mews would be green roofs with no access to
individuals. The walls shared with Fergusson Mews would only be accessible from rear
gardens of that building, and there would be limited potential for graffiti as a result.



Condition 28 (construction management plan) did not identify the neighbouring
properties, but an informative could be added advising that details of which neighbours
were to be notified should be supplied when the condition is discharged.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 Members requested that a condition be added to restrict the use of the roof terrace until
9pm and to remove permitted development rights for change of use for B1 class to
residential accommodation.
It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) containing the
planning obligations listed in the report and the following:
i.
ii.
iii.

An additional condition to restrict roof terrace hours after 9pm on all days to mitigate
impact on resident amenities.
An additional condition to remove permitted development rights for change of use
from B1 use class to residential accommodation.
An additional informative to be added in relation to the discharge of condition 28 to
advise provision of the full list of neighbours to be notified.

2. To delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and Development to:
a) Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or PAC
minutes; and

Page 8
b) Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of committee,
delegated authority is given to the Assistant Director of Planning, Transport and
Development to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106 agreement
for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

5.

313 TO 315 RAILTON ROAD (HERNE HILL) 19/03371/FUL
The Chair proposed that due to lack of time, the item be deferred.
It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
To DEFER consideration of the application.

6.

APPEAL AND ENFORCEMENT DECISIONS NOVEMBER 2019
Members thanked officers for their work in upholding Council policies.

7.

APPEAL AND ENFORCEMENT DECISIONS DECEMBER 2019
Members thanked officers for their work in upholding Council policies.

CLOSE OF MEETING
The meeting ended at 22:36
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 23 June 2020
Date of Despatch: Friday 12 June 2020
Contact for Enquiries: Lara Edwards
Tel: 020 7926 6816
E-mail: ledwards@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 9

PAC
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 23 June 2020 at 7.00 pm
MINUTES
PRESENT:

APOLOGIES:
ALSO PRESENT:

1.

Councillor Scott Ainslie, Councillor Scarlett O'Hara, Councillor Ben Kind,
Councillor Jessica Leigh, Councillor Mohammed Seedat, Councillor Joanne
Simpson (Vice-Chair) and Councillor Clair Wilcox (Chair)
Councillor Becca Thackray
Councillor Stephen Donnelly and Councillor Paul Gadsby

DECLARATION OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS
There were none.

2.

LAND AT 200-262 HYDETHORPE ROAD & BOUND BY THORNTON ROAD (THORNTON)
20/01264/RG3
Case No. 20/01264/RG3 (agenda item two, page one of the agenda pack, page one of the
addendum and page one of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 19 June 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included land use, design and conservation, amenity, transport and environment and green
infrastructure. The proposal was for 14 residential units of which six were affordable along with
the provision of 26 long-stay cycle storage spaces, four short-stay cycle storage spaces and
improved landscaping and associated works. The scheme was not located in a conservation
area and would not cause any heritage harm to the Hyde Farm Conservation Area situated
south west of the site or nearby listed buildings. The proposed development was on housing
estate amenity land, that included an inaccessible ball court. In compliance with Policy EN1(a)
of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) significant regeneration and community benefits would be
achieved and appropriate compensatory provision for the loss of open space would be made.
There would be enhanced planting opportunities, with flexible play equipment, outdoor gym
equipment and horticultural beds. A financial contribution would be secured towards the planting
of six trees within the adjoining highway land. The proposed building would have sufficient
separation distance with surrounding neighbours, in line with the minimum distances set out in
the Mayor of London’s Housing SPG (March 2016). The Council’s Daylight and Sunlight
consultant presented in relation to Daylight/Sunlight/Overshadowing, which included a
commentary on the impacts in relation to adjoining properties at Nos. 200-262 Hydethorpe Road
to the north-west of the site. The scheme would be car free with occupants of the proposed
residential units not eligible for a parking permit, which would be secured through a planning
obligation. A financial contribution towards one disabled parking space would be secured by
planning obligation. The proposal would result in a carbon reduction of 71.9%.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objectors raised the following concerns:
 The transferring of Council land to square off residents’ gardens and the promised site
visit for residents concerned about privacy never occurred.


Comments left through the Homes for Lambeth website were never registered and not

Page 10
updated in the Community Engagement document.


The sunlight and daylight report did not acknowledge that No.198 Hydethorpe Road had
east facing windows, which would result in a loss of 2 hours a day of direct sunlight into
their main living space.



Objectors’ recommendations around privacy and frosted glass had not been taken into
consideration.



Trees were incorrectly placed in maps of the site on residents’ side of the boundary.



The proposed five storey building was almost as high as the current adjoining seven
storey block of flats, would be twice the height of surrounding buildings, and would be an
invasion on residents’ privacy.



The proposal represented an overdevelopment of the site, excessively high, would
unacceptably impact on residential amenity and quality of the Hyde Farm Conservation
Area, did not meet affordable housing policy objectives and would be a loss of sports
provision.



Objectors requested that the proposal should be amended to relocate the bin storage
away from the shared boundary with No. 22 Thornton Road, relocate the main entrance
to the front of the building, remove the entrance to the cycle store and retain the mature
trees on the southern boundary of the site.



Residents of No. 22 Thornton Road raised concerns about the cumulative impact on their
amenity that would arise due to another pending application at No. 22A Thornton Road.



The daylight assessment showed that up to four of the existing households would have
their annual probable sunlight hours reduced by up to 70%.



A representation had been received from a law firm instructed by neighbouring residents
who deemed that if the application was approved, there would be an opportunity for
judicial review on the basis of inconsistent application of planning policy.

The applicant, agent and architect then provided the following information in support of the
application:
 Homes for Lambeth’s mission was to support the Council’s Borough Plan, Growth
Strategy and Carbon Reduction Plan by maximising the number of council level rented
homes. They had committed to the small sites programme and Hydethorpe Road would
be the first small site to be delivered.


The proposal would redevelop the underutilised site to deliver 14 homes, of which six
would be affordable homes. This would result in a significant improvement to the open
space for both existing and future residents and would upgrade the wider estate.



The Covid-19 pandemic had reminded why it was so important that everyone had a
decent home. Homes for Lambeth were determined to be at the forefront of the
economic recovery.



The site currently comprised of an overgrown housing estate amenity space including an
inaccessible former ball court. The proposal would provide a communal garden and play
space within the wider estate.



Objections raised were noted and care had been taken to ensure that the design of the
proposed building would not result in any unacceptable impact on neighbouring
residential amenity.



The scheme would be car free and cycle parking for existing and future residents would

Page 11
be provided.


There would be no loss to protected or category A trees.



The proposed building would be situated a minimum of 18 metres from the existing block
to the north in accordance with the Mayor's Housing SPG guidance.



The balconies proposed were recessed into the building form and orientated to be facing
over the communal garden to the rear.

Councillor Stephen Donnelly then spoke as Ward Councillor for Thornton, stating the following:
 Ward Councillors had met with residents to understand the views of those living in the
local area, and later with the applicant to set out the residents’ concerns.


He requested that Members gave their full consideration for the potential loss of privacy,
a possible reduction of sunlight and daylight (particularly affecting residents in Nos. 200262 Hydethorpe Road) and a reduction of soft landscaping and green space which was
rightly valued by residents.



Family-sized council homes were needed, but he urged Members to give earnest
consideration to the points raised by the objectors.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 Urban greening factor was a tool that evaluated the amount and quality of urban
greening, and the emerging London Plan set it at a minimum of 0.4% for residential
development.


The ecological impact report indicated no badger setts or bat roosts were present on the
site. It was reviewed by the Council’s biodiversity officer who raised no objection on
ecological/biodiversity grounds.



The carbon reduction of 71.9% was reviewed by the Council’s sustainability consultant
and agreed.



The ball court had been inaccessible by residents for over 10 years and was overgrown.
The inaccessible amenity area would be improved and would include a horticultural
garden which would cultivate an area of wellbeing. A further 22 trees would be planted
on site and a financial contribution would be secured towards the planting of a further six
trees on Thornton Road. Seating areas would be provided within the landscaping areas.



The Council’s Arboricultural Officer advised that the normal maintenance period for
replanted trees was three years due to it being a vulnerable stage in the trees’ life cycle.
The scheme had suggested five years to ensure durability.



The final scheme of hard/soft landscaping would be submitted at a later stage, if
approved, which would then finalise the location of play space areas and open spaces.



The management and use of the horticultural beds by existing and future occupiers had
not been decided but could be set out in a condition by amending the hard and soft
landscaping condition or as part of the landscape management and maintenance plan
that would be secured by S106.



The Equality Impact Assessment was conducted on the overall portfolio of Homes for
Lambeth delivery of affordable housing (appendix four) and was approved by the Leader
of the Council in March 2020. It was not needed for the current scheme, as it was
included in the overall portfolio assessment.



The applicant optimised the site to the appropriate level of development without causing
unacceptable harm to neighbouring amenity, in accordance with adopted and emerging

Page 12
development plan policies.


The previously refused application for No.22-22A Thornton Road had French windows
which faced the properties, which would not be the case with the current application.



No site notices were erected on site for consultation due to the Covid-19 pandemic. In
line with the Council Statement of Community Involvement, letters were sent out which
included contact details.



The Landscape Management Plan would normally be submitted as a condition post
approval, but a draft was requested alongside the application so that officers could
review. A final plan would be secured by planning obligation.



Details regarding delivery and servicing had been indicated within the Design and
Access Statement. Further details were requested as part of the application. A Delivery
and Servicing Management Plan would normally be submitted post approval through a
condition.



The affordable levels were in accordance with the London Plan. The social rented unit
would be at the social target levels in line with the Council’s Tenancy Strategy. The £90k
would be a cap in relationship to the share ownership products, which was given from
the supplementary guidance from the Mayor of London.



The statutory consultation had been conducted in line with the Development
Management Procedure Order.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 A Member expressed concern about the loss of green space in an overdeveloped area,
whether the issues raised by objectors had been satisfactorily dealt with and whether the
consultation of the local residents was carried out correctly.


Although not a material planning concern, some Members were saddened that the ball
court was inaccessible for 10 years.



The application was a welcomed well-designed development in a tight space, and struck
a good balance between providing additional homes and protecting amenities of
residents.



The impact of neighbouring amenity was not significant enough to warrant refusal of the
scheme.



Initial concerns about the impact on biodiversity had been reassured, and Members were
content that there would be a biodiversity net gain. An informative should be added to
condition 7 regarding boundary treatment to include holes for small mammals and
hedgehogs to pass through.



It was positive that council family sized homes would be made available, as it would
make an immense difference to those families’ lives.



It would be preferable for Equality Impact Assessments to be done on individual sites
rather than an overall portfolio.



Members requested that great care be taken with the discharging conditions of materials
and appearance so that the end result would sit harmoniously within the existing context.



Community consultation should be carried out to inform the final landscaping proposals.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Simpson, and

Page 13
RESOLVED, by six votes for to one against
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission and subject to the following:
i.

An informative to accompany condition 7 (Boundary treatments) to advise that
the final scheme for the siting and design of boundary treatments should include
holes for small mammals and hedgehogs to pass through.

ii.

An informative to accompany condition 22 (Scheme of soft and hard landscaping)
to advise that the final landscaping scheme should be developed in consultation
with the community.

2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes

3.

RAILWAY BRIDGE (BISHOPS) 19/00071/FUL
Case No. 19/00071/FUL (agenda item three, page 109 of the agenda pack, page 25 of the
addendum and page three of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 19 June 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included the change of use of the 9 arches to create Class B1 office floor space, cycle parking
spaces, disabled parking spaces which included electric vehicle parking spaces and bin storage.
Should the preferred occupant not take up the B1 space, a planning obligation would be entered
into to secure the affordable workspace in line with the emerging Local Plan Policy ED2. No
harm was foreseen to the South Bank Conservation Area, the Lower Marsh Conservation Area
and the Albert Embankment Conservation Area, located near the scheme. A Grampian
condition was proposed that would prevent the development from being occupied until a
satisfactory planning obligation was entered into to secure the opening up of the service road
adjacent the arches to allow for pedestrian access along the ‘low line’ and limit vehicular access
subject to triggers tied to the Royal Street Development (Strategic Site 1). An Estate
Coordination Management Plan was also to be secured which would set out the agreed
principles of the service road including its future use.
The applicant then provided the following information in support of the application:
 Urbanest had a long-term interest and investment in the application site and believed
that the proposed arches development would be a positive addition to the Urbanest
Westminster Bridge Estate, would enhance an under-utilised space and increase
employment.


The proposed design would offer flexible workspace which would help meet the
emerging affordable workspace policy and deliver significant regeneration benefits by
facilitating the creation of new jobs in the borough.



The applicant would be committed to working with the neighbouring landowners and
freeholders to link the development to future development on the adjoining Royal Street
site.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 The Council’s strategic aims were for more office spaces in the Central Activities Zone
and Waterloo Opportunity Area. The London Plan also supported new office
development in the area.

Page 14


The application had been reviewed by the Metropolitan Police who had not highlighted
any security risks. Further details of Secured by Design measures would be submitted at
a future date as part of conditions 30 and 31.

The Committee considered points raised by the speaker and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 Members commended officers on a comprehensive report.


Permitted development rights for the change of use from B1 to any other should be
removed through a planning condition, in order to retain the competitive rates.



The development was welcome as it would provide more affordable workspaces.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Ainslie, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT planning permission subject to the conditions as set out in the report and
subject to the completion of an agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 to secure the planning obligations listed in the report and published
addenda and also subject to the following:
i.

To remove permitted development rights for change of use of the permitted Class
B1a office floorspace.

2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:

3.

a.

Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report; and

b.

Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act.

In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or the
PAC minutes.

At 22:00 the Committee elected to proceed with the meeting for a maximum of a further 45
minutes in order to conclude the remaining matters of business.

4.

LAND FORMERLY PATMOS LODGE 53 ELLIOTT ROAD (VASSALL) 20/01265/RG3
Case No. 20/01265/RG3 (agenda item four, page 189 of the agenda pack and page 31 of the
addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addendum that had been published on Friday 19 June 2020. Members were
advised of the key material planning issues for consideration and noted that the scheme would
provide 31 residential units. It bordered the Vassall Road Conservation Area and a Grade I
listed church was situated approximately 110 metres from the application site. It would meet

Page 15
communal amenity space standards and would provide a total of 58 long stay cycle storage
spaces and four short stay cycle storage spaces, which would exceed the minimum draft
London Plan standards. Members were shown images of the site, its context, proposed
materials and design, and existing and proposed views.
The applicant, agent and architect then provided the following information in support of the
application:
 Homes for Lambeth’s mission was to support the Council’s Borough Plan, Growth
Strategy and Carbon Reduction Plan by maximising the number of council level rented
homes. They had committed to the small sites programme and the site would be the
second small site to be delivered.


The Covid-19 pandemic had reminded why it was so important that everyone had a
decent home. Homes for Lambeth was determined to be at the forefront of the economic
recovery.



The scheme would provide economic recovery benefits as it would provide new jobs and
the ability for training and apprenticeship schemes to Lambeth residents.



The scheme would deliver 31 new homes, of which 26 were high quality residential
apartments and five were houses. 13 affordable homes would be provided which
equated to 50% affordable provision by habitable rooms.



The scheme would be a redevelopment of the vacant former Patmos Lodge.



There had been no objections from any statutory consultees and a limited number of
objections from local residents.



The scheme would be car free and a provision of cycle parking for existing and future
residents.



The scheme would not be easily visible from Vassall Road and would deliver a
significant area of communal amenity space and houses with a garden space in excess
of 30sqm.



The proposed homes achieved 94% internal daylight compliance with a limited number
of failings due to recessed balconies.



The scheme would deliver a 78% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions.

Councillor Paul Gadsby then spoke as Ward Councillor for Vassall, stating the following:
 He supported the development.


Vassall Ward suffered from an acute shortage of genuinely affordable homes, particularly
at council rent levels. He was extremely pleased to see the high proportion of the type of
housing within the proposed scheme, which was currently a derelict site.



He was content that it was a car free development with parking permit exclusions for new
occupants. Homes for Lambeth should communicate clearly to those moving in that the
property was exempt of a parking permit.



It was positive that there would be provision for more trees to be planted.



He requested that local residents’ comments on bin storage be considered.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 In accordance with the Mayor of London’s fast track route, the tenure split would be 71%
affordable rent and 29% shared ownership. The route did not require a viability test and

Page 16
therefore not a matter for consideration.


Conditions 20 and 21 required further details of bin storage arrangements to be
submitted for approval. An amendment or informative could be added requiring bins to
be returned to their locations.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 It was positive that there were limited objections received for the scheme.


The scheme would deliver much needed affordable housing within the borough.



Members requested that the bins were returned to their locations.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Simpson, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1.

To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the following:
i.

2.

Amendment to condition 21 for bins to be returned to their store on collection
day.

To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes.

CLOSE OF MEETING
The meeting ended at 10.38 pm
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 25 August 2020
Date of Despatch: Tuesday 21 July 2020
Contact for Enquiries: Lara Edwards
Tel: 020 7926 6816
E-mail: ledwards@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 17

PAC
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 14 July 2020 at 7.00 pm
MINUTES
PRESENT:

APOLOGIES:
ALSO PRESENT:

1.

Councillor Scarlett O'Hara, Councillor Ben Kind, Councillor Jessica Leigh,
Councillor Mohammed Seedat, Councillor Becca Thackray and Councillor Clair
Wilcox (Chair)
Councillor Joanne Simpson
Councillor Jon Davies

DECLARATION OF PECUNIARY INTERESTS
There were none.

2.

VANBRUGH COURT (PRINCES) 18/03105/FUL
Case No. 18/03105/FUL (agenda item 2, page one of the agenda pack, page one of the
addendum and page one of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 10 July 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included the erection of a roof extension to the existing four storey building to provide 16
additional residential units, five lifts, wheelchair access ramps and two blue badge car parking
spaces with cycle storage at basement level. Occupants of the new residential units would be
entitled to a car club membership for three years through the S106 agreement as it was a car
free development. 25% of the residential units would be affordable housing, which was the
maximum level that the scheme could viably deliver. The site was close to Walcot
Conservation Area to the west of the site and Archbishop Sumner CoE Primary School to the
south of the site. Members were shown images of the site, its context, proposed materials and
design, and existing and proposed views. The proposed extension would be accessed through
Wincott Street via the existing entrances. The submitted daylight and sunlight report had been
independently reviewed and officers were in agreement with its findings. A condition would be
used to restrict the hours of use of the rooftop communal garden. Condition 4 (Method of
Construction Statement) was imposed to require a final version of the document be submitted
for approval to ensure officers had details of the vehicles that would access the site during the
construction period. The sustainability energy statement outlined that the development met the
policy requirement of a 35% reduction in CO2 emissions. The remaining regulated CO2
emissions would be off set with a financial contribution.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objectors raised the following concerns:
 Vanbrugh Court Residents Association was united in opposing the unreasonable and
speculative application which breached planning rules and legal rights of residents to
peaceful enjoyment of their homes.


Resident engineers stated that it was not possible for a steel frame base to be used
across the building and stay within the stipulated 3.1m extra height. The applicant’s
agent had previously concluded the same, but now was proposing the removal of the

Page 18
roof and decanting all top-floor residents.


Residents were concerned that no structural survey had been undertaken.



The Covid-19 pandemic had shown the importance of external space for health and
wellbeing, which had been neglected in the scheme.



That officers had only quoted part of the NPPF test in paragraph 118e which concluded
by saying that developments must ‘maintain safe access and egress for occupiers.’



The retrofitted lift shafts would restrict entry and exit for almost half of the 104 flats and
a communal exit affecting a further 11 flats because the double doors were replaced
with single doors opening inwards rather than outwards. The development required
operations to break through the roofs of the top floor staircases, which were the only
fire escapes.



There was undisturbed asbestos throughout the building, which would require special
clearance measures and possible evacuation.



The proposed ramps on the north west side of the building would extend across the
pavement and into the road to meet policy requirements. They would be located within
1.5m of bedroom windows, raising issues of safety as well as privacy.



The discharge of key conditions should have to return to Committee should permission
be granted.

The agent then provided the following information in support of the application:
 The proposed scheme followed a positive pre-application consultation and was the
result of more than two years of detailed work in conjunction with relevant Council
representatives.
 Comments received from the design and planning officers and other Council
consultants had been incorporated into the proposal before Committee and it was fully
in compliance with Lambeth’s guidelines and objectives for the area. It also complied
with the Housing Design Standards in the London Plan.
 The application aimed to improve the living standards of all residents by refurbishing
the communal areas, providing lifts, incorporating secure bicycle storage, providing
larger refuse bin storage areas, and creating two disabled-compliant parking spaces.
 In addition to other contributions, the applicant had further agreed to a payment of
£738,789 towards the delivery of off-site affordable housing, payable in the event of the
applicant being unable to identify a registered provider to manage on-site provision of
affordable housing units.
Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 An independent advisor showed that the scheme was capable of providing three to four
affordable units. If the applicant was not able to secure a registered provider, then a
financial contribution would be made.


The applicant provided a draft structural survey statement to display the location of lifts,
which was not customary at this stage. The creation of the ramps would narrow the
existing footway, but the layout and design was still acceptable.



If the proposal could not achieve compliance with Building Regulations, the applicant
would likely need to seek amendment to the planning consent if permission were
granted. A revised application would be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for its
consideration.



When the previous scheme was approved, the regulations did not mandate for lifts to
be provided to all floors. These had changed and a new lift would be added to the
scheme.

Page 19


An asbestos survey would need to be carried out. This would be secured by condition
and submitted to the Council for consideration.



The Method of Construction Statement would ensure that any deliveries would be
managed so as to avoid school drop off and pick up times.



Members could request that the applicant sign up to the Considerate Constructors
Scheme to encourage best construction practice. This was a code of considerate
practice with a rating/scoring system from one to nine (where a score of five would
achieve compliance). It could be requested for the applicant to provide evidence to
demonstrate their attempt to reach the highest rating possible. This could be secured
through a s106 obligation.



Nine existing flats and four of the proposed flats would have access to the roof top
amenity space. A condition had been added to limit access to the rooftop to certain
times. Residents from the remainder of the building would not have access to the
rooftop.



The applicant would need to submit an updated viability appraisal for the Local
Planning Authority’s consideration if they had not commenced construction within two
years.



Officers advised that there were legislative provisions outside planning to control
construction hours i.e. Control of Pollution Act 1974. National planning guidance
advised that the planning system should avoid duplicating other legislative regimes.
Members could limit the hours of construction through a condition but would need a
clear justification for this. Limiting construction hours would prolong the period of
construction, which could impact on build costs and viability.

Councillor Kind had momentarily experienced technical difficulties but had re-joined the
meeting.
The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 Members understood that the structural impacts were outside planning consideration
and they struggled with the scale of the project, as it would have a significant impact to
residents’ amenity.


A Member was cautious of construction works above existing buildings but understood
the extent that Building Regulations covered the construction of the extension and
alteration of the building and was satisfied that the scheme must comply with these
regulations.



One Member expressed concern about the affordable housing levels.



Members requested that the timings of condition 24 (Restricted use of rooftop
communal area) be amended to allow a longer period of use in line with hours
approved for other recent schemes in the area.



Members expressed concern that there had not been a full structural survey, the time it
would take to resolve and how the asbestos removal would affect the timeline.



The active construction site and its proximity to three conservation areas was
concerning, although Historic England had not objected to the scheme. One Member
stated that there were too many unknowns that affected the confidence in the project.



Members expressed concerns on whether the restrictions on working times would be
adhered to and enforceable.

Page 20


Construction should be restricted to weekdays, with no work to occur during weekends
and public holidays.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
containing the planning obligations listed in the report and also subject to the following:
a. An amendment to Condition 4 to restrict the construction activity from being
carried out on Saturdays, Sundays and bank/public holidays. The approval of
details application to be reported back to Planning Applications Committee for
determination.
b. An additional planning obligation to require the contractor(s) to register with the
Considerate Constructors Scheme. Contractor(s) will be required to provide
evidence that they have sought to attain the Considerate Constructors Scheme
‘Exceptional’ score and to provide written justification if not achieved.
c. Amend Condition 24 to prevent the rooftop communal area from operating after
20:00 hours on Monday to Sunday including bank holidays and public holidays.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or
the PAC minutes.

3.

30 – 34 OLD PARADISE STREET (PRINCES) 19/04592/FUL
Due to technical difficulties Councillor Leigh was not able to re-join the meeting after the vote
for item two and did not vote on this item.
Case No. 19/04592/FUL (agenda item three, page 73 of the agenda pack, page 13 of the
addendum and page three of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 10 July 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included that the scheme was located in a Key Industrial and Business Area (KIBA) and that
there were numerous relevant designations, including the Grade II listed wall. The scheme
would provide both B1c light industrial floorspace and B1a/b/c flexible floorspace, affordable
workspace and reinstate the Grade II listed wall. Members were shown images of the site, its
context, proposed materials and design, and existing and proposed views. The proposed
materials would break up the elevations and reflect the history of the area. The scheme was
consistent with the scale of developments in the area. 700 new jobs were projected to be
created as a result of the scheme, where 25% would be provided to local residents and a
contribution of £144,000 to support skills training to local residents. There would be a reduction

Page 21
in onsite parking and the scheme would be permit free. The proposal would have an impact on
sunlight and daylight to 15 windows of the adjoining Gabriel and Pillford House, whilst Whitgift
House would be fully compliant with BRE requirements. Five offsite trees would be impacted,
where three would be pruned and two would be removed.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objectors raised the following concerns:
 The proposed scheme was too tall, too big and too close to Gabriel House, with no
stepping back as the proposed development would be built on top of the boundary wall.


The most severe impacts would be the loss of sunlight/daylight, with residents closest
to the development and nearest to the ground floor the most affected. The loss of
daylight would become worse in the winter, cutting almost 50% of daylight/sunlight
received.



Residents would no longer have sunny mornings in their gardens, and would be left
with a darker, colder and more expensive home to heat.



The proposition to rebuild the listed wall would not benefit the adjoining park. It would
be beneficial to mend the existing wall and create a connection through to the
development with public access.



There was no need for the scheme in the area, as there were already large numbers of
vacant offices (Salamanca Place) and would be more so after the impact of the Covid19 pandemic.



The development offered no benefit to the community but would cut down healthy trees
and cast the children’s playground into dark shadow for a large part of the year.



If the site was to be developed, it should be done with greater consideration of its
impact on its neighbours.



Residents at Pillford House were concerned that the development was too close to the
pavement and were concerned of its impacts. The lockdown had taught us the
importance of maintaining open spaces.



If approved, the tranquil residential road would turn into a busy and noisy business
district with heavy footfall onto narrow pavements.



The scheme would remove privacy from residential homes.

The agent then provided the following information in support of the application:
 The proposal would transform the disused Costa Coffee roastery into London’s
healthiest workplace.


The applicant had been able to incorporate an exposed Cross Laminated Timber frame
into their scheme. This would make the building carbon neutral for 60 years and set a
new benchmark for sustainable commercial development in London.



The application would like to be part of the economic recovery, by providing new jobs
and opportunities in a greener, cleaner and healthier workplace.



The design was heavily influenced by nature and local history and intended to support
physical and mental wellbeing.



The scheme could potentially accommodate 700 new jobs, which would be outside the
City and West End, closer to people’s homes and reducing reliance on public transport.



The applicant had proposed that 13% of the total floor area should be non-office, light
industrial and maker space, made available first to local businesses.

Page 22
Councillor Davies then spoke as Ward Councillor for Princes, stating the following:
 Although the prospect of employment for 700 people was welcomed he had
reservations.


The loss of daylight to homes in Gabriel House (up to 48% loss) was significant.



The dark nature of the exterior should be brightened to mitigate the effect of the scale
of the building.



He expressed confusion as to why the developer’s offer to open up onto the park and
offering a café facility and toilets was turned down in favour of re-instating an old wall
that was included in the Grade II listing. The reinstatement would form part of the S106
agreement funding that could have been used better.



He requested that the Committee be firm in its insistence that the employment benefits
(in particular the affordable workspace) were made strict conditions of approval.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 The BRE requirements for overshadowing state that amenity areas should receive at
least two hours of sunlight on the ground for at least 50 per cent of their area on the 21
March. This test was met for the park and playground.


KIBA policy requirements were strict on not supporting non B class uses within the
KIBA area, and a café use was not possible.



The immediate impact of Covid-19 pandemic would take time to reach planning
regulations. Currently there was still a target within the development plan for the next
20 years to provide more office space.



The location of the replanted trees had not been confirmed but would need to be within
the vicinity of the scheme. Lambeth’s Arboricultural officer would participate in the
decision and could ensure it was within the park.



The removal of the trees was due to the work on the building (specifically its demolition)
and not the wall.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 Members shared Councillor Davies’ view that there could have been a better use of
connecting Paradise Gardens but understood that this was not a material planning
consideration.


Members noted the impacts of daylight/sunlight on Gabriel House and loss of trees but
the overall benefits of the employment space, the design and sustainability of the
building and contribution to the park setting would be a benefit to the area.



An informative should be added requesting that the replanting of the mature trees be
similar to those removed.



It was positive that the scheme would replace a vacant unused building.



A Member was disappointed that the design of the carbon neutral had not allowed for
the mature trees to be preserved.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously

Page 23
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
containing the planning obligations listed in the report and any direction as may be
received following further referral to the Mayor of London and also subject to the
following:
a. An informative relating to the replacement tree planting. The replacement trees
should be planted in Old Paradise Gardens, be mature or semi-mature and of a
similar species to those to be removed.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a Section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or
the PAC minutes.
At 22:00 the Committee elected to proceed with the meeting for a maximum of a further 45
minutes in order to conclude the remaining matters of business.

4.

60 COURLAND GROVE (LARKHALL) 19/04535/FUL
Councillor Leigh did not participate or vote on this item due to technical issues.
Case No. 19/04535/FUL (agenda item four, page 147 of the agenda pack, page 23 of the
addendum and page seven of the second addendum).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report and
subsequent addenda that had been published on Friday 10 July 2020 and the day of the
meeting. Members were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which
included the redevelopment of an existing car park and the erection of a four storey building to
provide 10 residential units, provision of refuse and cycle store and landscaping. It was not
within a conservation area but had three Grade II listed buildings nearby (Christ Church, the
Vicarage and Courland Grove Baptist Church). Members were shown images of the site, its
context, proposed materials and design, and existing and proposed views. A dual pitched
sloped roof was proposed together with photovoltaic panels. The scheme would achieve
compliance with BRE requirements, and would be a car free development. The proposal would
deliver 35% affordable housing when measured by habitable rooms.
The architect then provided the following information in support of the application:
 The proposal would deliver 10 new homes on an underutilised car park.


The applicant had made changes to the northern elevation to provide mitigation and
assurance to the objections raised by Homes for Lambeth in regards to the adjoining
council-owned site.



The applicant had considered the complex planning history on both sides, and had
pulled the building back from the boundary to align with the council site, designed the
internal layout to direct residents’ outlook towards the east or west and set secondary
glazed windows on the northern elevation to limit overlooking between the two sites.

Page 24


The applicant was committed to paying £1.3m towards offsite affordable housing
provision, which would equate to a policy compliant level of 35%.



The applicant would market the site for a fixed period to registered providers.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 The proposal achieved compliance with the Mayor of London’s Affordable Housing
Policy threshold of 35% as detailed within the Intend to Publish version of the London
Plan.


Due to the proposal being small and not having a separate core for the affordable
housing units, it was unlikely that a registered provider could be identified to take on
the management of these units. The payment in lieu of £1.3m by the applicant was
calculated using the expected sales values within the local area. Officers were satisfied
within the figures presented.



The variance of three to four units was to build flexibility in respect of dwelling mix for
the affordable units.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 A Member would have preferred the scheme to deliver 40% affordable housing in line
with the adopted Lambeth Local Plan and would have liked to see a higher carbon
reduction in the energy statement.


Members were content to see that the application had regard to the neighbouring
heritage assets.



Although one Member would have liked the 40% affordable housing to have been met,
it was understandable due to the current climate.



It was a good project overall and would enhance the area and provide much needed
housing.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Seedat, and
RESOLVED, four votes for to one vote against
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an agreement
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
containing the planning obligations listed in the report.
2. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in the report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within six months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in the report, addendums and/or
the PAC minutes.

Page 25
5.

53 HOPTON ROAD (STREATHAM WELLS) 20/01453/FUL
Councillor Leigh did not participate or vote on this item due to technical issues.
Case No. 20/01453/FUL (agenda item five, page 221 of the agenda pack).
The Planning Officer gave a presentation which included a summary of the report. Members
were advised of the key material planning issues for consideration which included the erection
of a side infill with internal alterations and the installation of a side window. Members were
shown images of the site, its context, and existing and proposed views. The extension would
extend 2.5m from the existing outrigger and the rear would project 3.35m from the end.
Aluminium frame sliding doors and aluminium framed windows would be installed to the rear of
the extension, with the colour matching the rear end of property. There would be no
unacceptable loss in daylight/sunlight or outlook to neighbouring properties.
Following the officer’s presentation, the objector raised the following concerns:
 In the past 18 months the neighbour’s husband had been diagnosed with severe heart
failure, and his condition prevented him from going out very often. The use of their
garden and conservatory was paramount for his mental health and well-being.


As the rear of the house faced north, it was dark much of the day, and therefore she
was concerned of any further light being taken away.



The application would result in the over development of an already substantial house,
the noise from use of the rear extension, the 45-degree measurement taken from her
kitchen door and that it would set a precedent for Hopton Road.

Officers then provided the following information in response to questions from Members:
 The conservatory was built up close to the boundary, with a fence/wall in between
property 53 and 55 Hopton Road. The extension was set back from the boundary line.


Windows within the ground floor would not lead to increased overlooking of the
property.

The Committee considered points raised by speakers and information provided by officers in
conjunction with the report before making the following observations:
 A Member stated that in similar situations in the erection of an adjoining extension, a
hedge or other mitigation to the loss of privacy of a neighbour, had been erected.


Some Members did not identify an unacceptable loss of privacy that needed to be
mitigated. The extension was set back from the boundary line, would meet the
requirements of the Building Alterations and Extensions SPD and would be subordinate
to the host building.

It was MOVED by Councillor Wilcox, SECONDED by Councillor Kind, and
RESOLVED, unanimously
1. To GRANT conditional planning permission.
2. Agreed to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability
to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in the report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes.

Page 26
CLOSE OF MEETING
The meeting ended at 10.43 pm
CHAIR
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE
Tuesday 25 August 2020
Date of Despatch: Friday 7 August 2020
Contact for Enquiries: Lara Edwards
Tel: 020 7926 6816
E-mail: ledwards@lambeth.gov.uk
Web: www.lambeth.gov.uk

Page 27

Agenda Item 3

Page 28
ADDRESS:

20-24 Popes Road, London, SW9

Application Number: 20/01347/FUL

Case Officer: Michael Cassidy

Ward: Coldharbour

Date Received: 16/04/2020

Proposal: Demolition of existing building and erection of part 4, part 9 and part 20-storey building
with flexible A1 (shops)/ A3 (restaurants and cafes) / B1 (business) / D1 (non-residential
institutions) / D2 (assembly and leisure) uses at basement, ground floor and first floor levels, with
restaurant (Class A3) use at eighth floor level and business accommodation (Class B1) at second
to nineteenth floor levels, with plant enclosures at roof level and associated cycle parking, servicing
and enabling works.
This application is a DEPARTURE APPLICATION: The proposed development is a departure from
Policy Q26, part (ii) and site allocation ''Site 16 - Brixton Central (between the viaducts) SW9'' of
the Lambeth Local Plan (2015).
Applicant: AG Hondo Pope’s Road BV

Agent: DP9

Drawing Numbers: Refer to draft decision notice attached in Appendix 1
Supporting Documents: Refer to draft decision notice attached in Appendix 1

RECOMMENDATION:
1. Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended) containing the planning obligations listed in this report and any direction
as may be received following further referral to the Mayor of London.
2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability
to:
a. Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes; and
b. Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
3. In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning,
Transport and Sustainability, having regard to the heads of terms set out in this
report, addendums and/or PAC minutes, to negotiate and complete a document
containing obligations pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended) in order to meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.
4. In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the mitigating contributions identified in this report, addendums
and/or the PAC minutes.

Page 29
SITE DESIGNATIONS
Designation:
Policy

Description:
Site Allocation 16 - Brixton Central (between the viaducts) SW9
Brixton Major Centre
Primary Shopping Area
Strategic Area for Regeneration
No
No (sits on the boundary of the Brixton and Loughborough Park
Conservation Areas to the east, south and west)
No
Yes – London View 19 - Brockwell Park to the city (Brixton
panoramic)
No
Yes
Yes

Listed Building
Conservation Area (CA)
Protected views/vistas
Local Views
Archaeological Priority Area
Creative Enterprise Zone
Air Quality Management Area
LAND USE DETAILS
Site area (ha):

0.25 Hectares

NON-RESIDENTIAL DETAILS
Use Class

Use Description

Existing

A1

Retail

Proposed

A1/A3
D1/D2

Retail/Restaurant
Non-residential
institutions/Assembly &
Leisure
Office/Workspace

B1a

Floorspace (m2)
(Gross Internal Area)
2,136sqm
3,212sqm
221sqm

25,435sqm

PARKING DETAILS
Car Parking Spaces
(General)

Existing
Proposed

Resi
0
0

Commercial
0
0

Car Parking Spaces
(Disabled)

Visitor
0
0

Resi
0
0

Commercial
0
0

Visitor
0
0

% of
EVCP

Bike
Spaces

Motorcycle
Spaces

0
100%

0
352

0
0

LEGAL SERVICES CLEARANCE
AUDIT TRAIL
Consultation
Name/Position
Rachel Lee
Senior Associate,
Sharpe Pritchard

Lambeth
department
Legal Services

Date Sent
7/8/20

Date
Received
07/08/2020

Report
Cleared
12/08/2020

Comments in
para:
Various

Page 30
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The proposed development will bring forward the regeneration of the site and is aligned with the desire for
growth within Brixton Town centre. Comprising a mix of retail, restaurant, community and office floorspace,
the proposal is considered appropriate in principle and would assist in facilitating the aims of the site
allocation.
The proposal would also provide a substantial uplift in jobs (approximately 1,600 in total) with a wide-range
of flexible employment spaces creating diverse employment opportunities for established business, small to
medium sized enterprises and start-ups and a policy compliant affordable workspace provision (10%
affordable workspace amounting to 2,544sqm of B1a floorspace is proposed).
It further delivers a new public square, including facilitating the future creation of new pedestrian routes to
improve connectivity within the immediate area; provides dedicated community floorspace within the
development, including the provision of new and expanded public toilets; and provides investment in local
public transport infrastructure, including contributions towards improving Brixton Rail Station, providing
additional bus services in the area, improving cycle parking in the town centre; and improvements to
signage and walking/cycling routes along Atlantic Road & Brixton Station Road.
The application has been advertised as a departure from policy on the basis that it is not in accordance with
the Policy Q26, part (ii) ‘there is no adverse impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage
assets including their settings’; and site allocation ''Site 16 - Brixton Central (between the viaducts) SW9'' Design principles and key development consideration (x) ‘proposes low buildings to protect the amenity of
new residential development on Coldharbour Lane adjoining the site’ of the Lambeth Local Plan.
The height and massing of the development has been assessed in relation to its impact from a wide range of
viewpoints and has been found to be satisfactory. An assessment of the current application’s impact on
nearby heritage assets surrounding the site has identified less than substantial harm would result. This view
is supported by both the GLA and Historic England who have also come to the same conclusion.
Notwithstanding that the proposal represents a departure from Policy Q26 and Site Allocation 16 of the
Local Plan, the application scheme is considered not to conflict with policy in all other regards and as such,
as a policy compliant scheme it would deliver social, economic, environmental and sustainable benefits to
the community.
However, as the proposal represents a departure from adopted local plan policy and has been identified as
causing ‘less than substantial’ harm it is important to identify the public benefits that would outweigh these
in line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF. These benefits are considered to be:









New and Diverse Employment Opportunities – the creation of a new office floorspace ecosystem
providing flexible office and workspace accommodation, including medium, small and micro
workspaces well suited to small creative and cultural businesses and start-ups;
Jobs – the creation of approximately 1,600 on-site jobs across a range of sectors and additional jobs
during construction and from associated resident and occupier expenditures; local employment and
training initiatives; and the provision of 10% affordable workspace (2,544sqm) within the development;
Community – the provision of dedicated community floorspace within the development and the use of
the publicly accessible central space within the market by the community to host events.
Transport – investment in local public transport infrastructure, including contributions towards improving
Brixton Rail Station; providing additional bus services in the area; improving cycle parking in the town
centre; improvements to signage and walking/cycling routes along Atlantic Road & Brixton Station
Road; and a commitment to 50% freight consolidation to reduce servicing trips to and from the site;
Public Realm – the delivery of a new public square on Pope’s Road to support a range of uses and to
create a multi-functional, inclusive, useable public space; and

Page 31


Public facilities – the provision of new and expanded public toilets within the development to replace
the existing dated block in Popes Road.

The identified social, economic, environmental and sustainability value that the scheme would bring, with
the addition of the benefits identified above, it is considered that the public benefits of the application
scheme outweigh the departure from policy and ‘less than substantial’ harm identified.
The height of the development in this highly publically accessible transport location is considered to be
acceptable. The proposed building on the site has been sensitively designed, taking its cue from the
surrounding buildings, streets and spaces which provide the historic context of the site. The scheme would
respect the character, context and the form and scale of neighbouring buildings and would sit comfortably
within the streetscene and surrounding area. The appearance and detailed façade treatment of the
development is considered to be high quality, displaying an appropriate response to the surrounding
character and the proposal would result in ‘less than substantial harm’ to the setting of nearby listed
buildings, conservation areas and protected views.
Given the distance and orientation to the nearest residential properties, and the inclusion of appropriate
mitigation measures, the proposal would not result in any significant material impact in terms of overlooking.
The proposed scheme does result in some adverse and noticeable reductions in daylight and sunlight as
identified. However, consideration should be given to the particular characteristics of the properties reviewed
and to the fairly minimal existing massing on the application site which is unusual in an urban context. It is
also reasonable to consider the identified effects alongside the planning merits of the scheme overall. In
conclusion officers consider that the overall impact of the scheme in terms of daylight, sunlight and
overshadowing along with the many planning benefits that the scheme would deliver, weighs strongly in
favour of the proposal.
The development would have a sustainable construction, meeting all of the relevant sustainability standards.
The proposed development will secure the regeneration and revitalisation of an important site as identified
within the Lambeth Local Plan. It will support the local area as a destination as a place to work and shopping
and for community and leisure.
As such, the proposal has been assessed in accordance with Sections 16, 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the NPPF and the development plan.
Officers consider that the scheme is acceptable and that the many planning benefits the development would
deliver over and above those required by policy are sufficient to outweigh the identified impacts on heritage
and residential amenity. In this instance, taking account of all the relevant material considerations, and
notwithstanding the departure from the design principles and key development consideration (x) in the
allocation of Site 16 and Policy Q26 of the Local Plan, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in all
other respects, including the land uses proposed, transport impacts, sustainability, landscaping and urban
greening. As such, the weight of the material considerations considered are sufficient to justify a departure
from the development plan in this instance such that the Council is able to support the proposed
development.

Page 32
OFFICER REPORT
Reason for referral to PAC: The application is reported to the Planning Applications Committee in
accordance with (1A), (a), (ii) and (c) of the Committee’s terms of reference as it relates to a major
application for the provision of a building of more than 3,500 square metres and a proposal which is
a departure from the policies of the Council’s Development Plan.

1

THE APPLICATION SITE AND SURROUNDING AREA

1.1

The application site (0.25 hectares), as shown in Figures 1 and 2 below, is a funnel shaped parcel of
land located between two large Victorian railway viaducts that adjoin to the north and south. To the
east, the site is bound by an area which is currently used as a servicing yard by the existing occupiers
of the site, and Valentia Place beyond. To the west, is Popes Road, which separates the site from
Brixton railway station approximately 60 metres to the east.

Figure 1 – Location Plan

Figure 2 – Aerial view of site

Page 33
1.2

The site comprises a large single storey building, currently in use as two retail stores as shown in
Figure 3 below, which was originally built as a supermarket in the 1960s. Above is a disused rooftop car park accessed by a ramp from the rear service yard off Valentia Place.

Figure 3 – Site as viewed from Popes Road
1.3

To the north of the site, north of Brixton Station Road, is the Grade II listed Brixton Recreation
Centre, International House, the Pop-Brixton temporary use and the Canterbury Gardens Estate
beyond.

1.4

The section of Popes Road fronted by the site is contained to the north and south by railway viaduct
bridges and the associated railway viaducts and contains a single storey block of public
conveniences with a three storey 1950s office block behind, which is attached to Brixton Railway
Station beyond. The distance between the façade of this office building (directly opposite the site)
and the façade of the site is narrowest at the north and widest at the south with an average distance
of approximately 20 metres between both building facades.

1.5

Currently the north and south viaduct arches are not accessible from Popes Road. The viaduct
arches to the immediate north are single storey and front Brixton Station Road. There is some
service access from the rear and these arches housing a variety of uses. The railway arches to the
south are two storey and do not have a street frontage. They are accessed solely from the Valentia
Place service yard. To their immediate south is the service yard of the Grade II listed Brixton Village
covered market.

1.6

In the wider context, the site is located within the Brixton Town Centre boundary, which is identified
as a major town centre in the adopted and emerging London Plan. The site is not within a
conservation area but sits on the boundary of the Brixton Conservation Area to the west and south
and Loughborough Park Conservation Area to the east. The site is also a Strategic Area for
Regeneration and has been identified as a Creative Enterprise Zone in the draft Lambeth Local Plan
(2020).

1.7

The local area is predominantly retail in use with the existing Brixton markets located in the
surrounding area, alongside an eclectic mix of other commercial uses including numerous
restaurants as well as residential properties especially to the east and south-east. The prevailing
height of the surrounding buildings is two to five storeys to the north, west and south, rising to eight
storeys to the east. The site forms a part of Site Allocation 16 within the Local Plan.

Page 34
1.8

The site allocation sets out a number of preferred uses and design principles for the whole of the site
allocation including improvements to Brixton Station to include a new station entrance and
pedestrian links; mixed-use development including retail, new workspace, food and drink,
community, educational, leisure and recreation uses; possible market extension and associated uses

1.9

The site is well served by public transport and benefits from a PTAL rating of 6b ‘excellent’. There
are numerous bus services available in the vicinity, as well as Brixton Rail Station, Brixton
Underground Station and Loughborough Junction Rail Station all within close walking distance.

1.10 The area is also well served by a high number of 24-hour bus routes that run in multiple directions,
stopping directly outside the tube station, mainline station as well as Atlantic Road and Electric
Avenue. A cycle path runs directly through Brixton Road with the closest bike storage areas located
from at St John’s Crescent, to Ferndale Road and Saltoun Road.
2

PROPOSAL

2.1

The existing building on the site is single storey with a forecourt measuring 3.2m deep at its southern
end and 2.3m deep at its northern end (an average of 2.75m). The building canopy projects out
about 2m from the shopfront building line and roughly aligns with the back edge of the pavement.
There is currently a separation distance of 10.5m from its existing facade and that of the public
convenience building opposite and 18m façade to façade to the three storey office block located
behind.

2.2

The application proposes the redevelopment of the site to provide a part 4, part 9 and part 20-storey
building that would provide 28,868sqm of internal floorspace (GIA) of which 3,212sqm is currently
proposed as flexible retail (Class A1) / restaurants and cafes (Class A3) / business (Class B1) / nonresidential institutions (Class D1) / assembly and leisure (Class D2) uses at basement, ground floor
and first floor levels, with restaurant (Class A3) use at eighth floor level, with the remaining
25,435sqm of floorspace providing business accommodation (Class B1) at second to nineteenth
floor levels.

2.3

The proposed building would be in two distinct parts. The western part would comprise a 20 storey
(95.6m AOD) tall building (Western Block) aligned west to east and the eastern part (Eastern Block)
would be 9 storeys tall (48.5m AOD) as shown in Figure 3 below.

2.4

The breakdown of floorspace given is as follows:
Uses
Retail /Restaurant (Class A1 /A3)
Community Use (Class D1 / D2)
Office (Class B1a)
Total

Proposed Floorspace
(sqm) GIA
3,212*
221
25,435
28,868

*This includes the 8th floor restaurant which has a proposed floorspace of 534sqm (GIA)

Page 35

Figure 3 – Proposed Building scale and massing
2.5

According to the Planning Statement submitted, the uses at ground floor level will be mostly retail and
restaurant (Class A1 and A3) uses, described as a covered market , with entrance lobbies for the
offices. A flexible central space in the middle of the market will be used for commercial, creative and
community and /or communal events use as shown in Figure 4 below.

Figure 4 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan
2.6

At first floor level, there are smaller units located around the main staircase and two larger spaces to
the east and west. There would be a combination of retail, restaurant, office and community (Class
A1/A3//B1 and D2) uses at this level as shown in Figure 5 below. Above this, the remaining storeys
would accommodate office floorspace (including affordable workspace of 2,546sqm) and a

Page 36
restaurant as shown in Figure 6 and Figure 7 below. The restaurant would be accessed by the
public via a lift from ground floor level.

Figure 5 – Proposed First Floor Plan

Figure 6 – Proposed Fifth to Seventh Floor Plans

Figure 7 – Proposed Eighth Floor Plans

Page 37
2.7

The proposal would include two floors of basement with the lower floor (Basement 2) containing
plant, electrical and mechanical equipment serving both blocks. The upper basement level
(Basement Mezzanine), as shown in Figure 8 below, would contain a number of facilities for both
office and market users.

Figure 8 – Proposed Upper Basement Plan
2.8

Public toilets would be located in the western part of the upper basement floor and would be
accessible directly from the ground floor via a lift. Bike storage would be available for office users
and would be directly accessible from ground floor level via a dedicated lift. The storage would be
subdivided into two parts to accommodate all the cycle parking spaces, and would be connected to a
corridor that would leads to lockers and showers. These would be located in the eastern part of the
floor and would be directly connected to the office lifts to facilitate the circulation of users within the
building.

2.9

An overview of the uses within the proposed building and the main elevations of the proposed
building are shown in Figures 9 to 13 below.

Figure 9 – Proposed Building Uses Overview

Page 38

Figure 10 – Proposed Western Elevation facing Pope’s Road

Figure 11 – Proposed Northern Elevation facing Railway line with Brixton Station Road beyond

Page 39

Figure 12 – Proposed Southern Elevation facing railway and Brixton Village & Carney Place beyond

Figure 13 – Proposed Eastern Elevation facing Valentia Place

Page 40
3

AMENDMENTS

3.1

During the course of the application, the following main amendments, as shown in Figure 14 below,
were made:





Set back of the front (western) elevation facing Pope’s Road by 2.5m to improve relationship
with and quality of proposed public realm;
Connection of the eastern and western blocks on the fourth floor;
Adjustments to the design of the central block in-between the Western and Eastern blocks; and
The inclusion of dedicated community space at first floor level.

Figure 14 – Amendments made to original scheme
3.2

Public re-consultation on the above changes and additional/amended information received has been
undertaken with further advice also sought from the Council’s Sunlight and Daylight consultants.

4

PLANNING PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT

4.1

The applications are subject to a Planning Performance Agreement agreed on the 24 January 2020
and remaining in force until the determination of the planning application.

4.2

The proposal was considered at the pre-application stage by the Council’s independent Design
Review Panel (DRP) on 18 February 2020 where an initial steer was given. The current application is
to be presented to a Technical Briefing on 17 August 2020 in order to provide more detailed
information about the scheme in advance of PAC.

5

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

The relevant planning history for the site includes the following applications:
 88/02091/PLANAP - Change of use from retail to use as a retail shop, commercial art gallery,
with arts and crafts stalls, shop and ancillary facilities, and a jazz centre with recording studios,

Page 41
restaurant and ancillary facilities, together with elevational alterations – Approved 28/06/1989 (not
implemented).
 16/05825/FUL - Temporary change of use of the upper and lower roofs for a temporary period of
up to three years. The upper roof will be used as a roof top food market involving the erection of
timber framed food huts, provision of a bar, toilets and associated structures. The lower roof to be
used for an office, staff cycle storage, waste/recycling and other storage facilities with associated
fencing – Approved 20/03/17 (not implemented).
 17/02892/VOC – Variation of Condition 3 (operating hours) of planning permission 16/05825/FUL
(Temporary change of use of the upper and lower roofs for a temporary period of up to three
years. The upper roof will be used as a roof top food market involving the erection of timber
framed food huts, provision of a bar, toilets and associated structures. The lower roof to be used
for an office, staff cycle storage, waste/recycling and other storage facilities with associated
fencing – Approved 20/03/17 (not implemented).
 19/04396/EIASCR - Request for a screening opinion in respect of an Environmental Impact
Assessment with respect to the demolition of the existing structures on-Site and proposed
construction of a development providing retail, office and hotel uses - Not EIA development
confirmed 27/01/20 (this screening opinion relates to the current application proposal).
6

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

A list of all those consulted is provided in Appendix 2. The following responses have been
received as summarised below:

6.2

Statutory and External Consultees
The Greater London Authority (GLA

6.2.1

The GLA have made the following comments on the original scheme:


Principle of development: In land use terms the proposed office-led redevelopment of the
site, providing significant new employment floorspace, affordable workspace and flexible
commercial uses within a town centre and strategic area for regeneration is strongly supported.
However, on the basis that the Local Plan does not identify this as a suitable location for a tall
building, the acceptability of the proposed scale must be justified by public benefits and other
relevant material considerations. In this context further discussion is required with respect to
the provision of publicly accessible spaces within the building, and the proposed affordable
workspace must be appropriately secured.



Urban design and Heritage: Further amendments are required to improve the public realm.
The configuration of the ground floor should be better rationalised to provide more active
frontage and/or larger entrances to the building. GLA officers consider that the proposal would
result in less than substantial harm to heritage assets. At this stage further work and
discussions is required before the public benefits of the scheme are crystallised and the
balance of these may be applied to the harm.



Energy strategy: Further information on renewable technologies, the proposed heat pump
system, and carbon offset contributions should be provided.



Transport: The applicant is required to address issues in respect of; trip generation
calculations, impact on public transport, active travel (walking and cycling), delivery and

Page 42
servicing and disabled persons parking provision. The development will impact on public
transport provision as such a contribution is sought to fund additional bus services. Financial
contributions are also required towards cycle hire docking stations and Legible London
signage. A delivery and servicing plan and a construction logistics plan should be secured by
condition.
6.2.2

Officer comment: The amended scheme submitted provides an improved public realm, a revised
Energy strategy and a comprehensive package of public benefits to outweigh the ‘less than
substantial harm’ to heritage assets that has been identified. Appropriately worded conditions along
with s106 Heads of Terms (HoTs) are recommended to address the issues raised. The
amendments made will be considered by the GLA in their Stage II response.
Historic England

6.2.3

Objection to the proposal on the basis of the harm they would cause to the significance of the
Brixton Conservation Area through development within its setting, which in their view is without
clear and convincing justification, contrary to the requirements of the NPPF. The proposal also
conflict with numerous related Development Plan policies (adopted and emerging). The works at
the site itself appear to have no physical impact on any heritage assets. However, as a result of the
height and massing of the scheme a visual impact will be appreciable from a wide range of vantage
points, particularly from within the Brixton Conservation Area.

6.2.4

The principal impact of the development would therefore be on the setting of the Conservation
Area, and to a lesser extent nearby listed buildings including the Grade II* listed Church of St
Matthew. It is considered that several of the verified views provided demonstrate that there would
be a significant harmful visual impact on the Conservation Area. Secondary to this, there would
also be harm to the setting of the Church of St Matthew. Though dramatically breaking the scale of
the established townscape, the harm to the setting of the Conservation Area is considered to be at
a moderate-high level. Under the terms of the NPPF, this harm is ‘less than substantial’, and
represents an unacceptable impact.

6.2.5

The site is not identified as suitable for a tall building, yet the proposal far exceed the height
parameters for the adjacent, less sensitive site, on Brixton Station Road by 30metres –
approximately a third. It is difficult to see that the design quality could represent mitigation for this
significant adverse impact, particularly given that it is the scale and massing which are its inherent
flaws. The proposal would act as a landmark, but this in itself does not convey either a positive or
negative impact in place-making. The development would markedly detract from the strong sense
of place that Brixton already has. The appearance of the development behind St Matthew’s
Church, is considered to diminish its presence as an important civic building, and distracts from its
roofline. The proposed development would interrupt this, acting as a distracting feature which
diminishes one’s ability to appreciate the architectural qualities of the church from the south.
However, since better views of the church would remain uninterrupted, this harm is considered to
be low-moderate.

6.2.6

Historic England do not consider that the harm arising from the proposal has clear and convincing
justification as required and the proposal would not deliver any heritage benefits that would help to
offset the harm.

6.2.7

Officer comment: The resulting harm has been identified as ‘less than substantial’ by officers of the
Council, the GLA and Historic England. In line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF, officers consider
that the harm identified would be outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal as set out in
‘Assessment of harm versus benefits’ section – paras 8.2.133 to 8.2.135 of this report.

Page 43
Historic England (Archaeology)
6.2.8

No objection to the proposal on the basis that there is no discernible on-going archaeological
interest with the site. Having considered the proposal with reference to information held in the
Greater London Historic Environment Record and/or made available in connection with this
application, it is concluded that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on heritage
assets of archaeological interest. No further assessment or conditions are therefore necessary.
Thames Water

6.2.9

No objection to the proposal subject to suggested conditions relating to drainage and infrastructure
and informatives relating to underground water assets and foul water discharge being attached to
any permissions granted.

6.2.10 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions and informatives are recommended if the
council is minded to approve the application.
London Underground
6.2.11 No comment to make on the application.
Transport for London
6.2.12 No objection subject to the proposal subject to contributions being secured toward bus and cycle hire
facilities, totalling £450,000 and £220k respectively. This is to mitigate against negative impacts of
the development in the area. Legible London signage should be integrated into the site, with a
contribution of £15k and conditions should be attached to any permission granted requiring the
approval of a Delivery and Servicing Plan and a Construction Logistics Plan.
6.2.13 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions and s106 Heads of Term are recommended as
set out in the ‘Planning Obligations and CIL’ section to provide the contributions sought, with the
exception of the ‘Additional bus services in the area’ contribution which the applicant has asked TfL
to justify and required further consideration. The final contribution figure will be report in the
addendum prior to committee.
Network Rail
6.2.14 The proposal will place an increase in demand on Brixton mainline Station. As such, a financial
contribution of £300,000 should be sought towards making improvement towards the Station to
help mitigate against the expected additional use of the station as a result of the development. This
would include the supply and fitting of 2 lifts, one for each platform, at a cost of £150,000 for each
lift.
6.2.15 Officer comment: Appropriately worded s106 Heads of Term is recommended as set out in the
‘Planning Obligations and CIL’ section to provide a Brixton Station Improvements Contribution.
6.3

Internal Consultees

6.3.1

Bioregional

6.3.2

No objection to the proposal subject to conditions and s106 Heads of Terms relating to future
district heating system connection, compliance with BREEAM, approval of a final Energy
Statement, details of green roofs, landscaping and net biodiversity gain proposal and photovoltaic
panels being secured in any permission granted.

Page 44
6.3.3

Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions and s106 Heads of Terms recommended if the
committee is minded to approve the application.
LBL Building Control

6.3.4

No objection to the proposal subject to a clear width of 3.7m being provided for emergency vehicle
access on Pope’s Road; and a clear path between Pope’s Road and the entrance to the proposed
building. The road/ pedestrian path arrangement shown in the Building Line Studies appears to
show a satisfactory means of fire access to the proposed building. A Fire statement should be
secured by condition to demonstrate that access routes to all parts of the site are provided.

6.3.5

Officer comment: An appropriately worded condition is recommended if the committee is minded to
approve the application.
LBL Conservation & Urban Design

6.3.6

No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to design and materials being attached
to any permission granted.

6.3.7

Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions are recommended if the committee is minded to
approve the application.
LBL Employment

6.3.8

No objection to the proposal subject to an Employment and Skills Plan; Workplace Strategy; 10%
affordable workspace; and an Employment and Training contribution, in line with the Council’s
Employment and Skills SPD and emerging draft Affordable Workspace SPD, being secured by
s106.

6.3.9

Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions and s106 Heads of Terms recommended if the
committee is minded to approve the applications.
LBL Environmental Health (Regulatory Support Services)

6.3.10 No objection to the proposal subject to conditions requiring the submission and approval of a
Construction Environmental Management Plan; Basement Construction Method Statement; land
contamination verification and remediation strategy; flues and extraction plant details; noise and
vibration attenuation of ventilation plant; maintenance details; noise control and management;
operating hours Customer Management Plan; Delivery and Servicing Management Plan;
pedestrian wind microclimate; and external lighting being attached to any permission granted.
6.3.11 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions are recommended if the council is minded to
approve the application.
LBL Highway Team
6.3.12 No objection to the proposal subject to any highway works being secured by s278/s106 legal
agreement.
6.3.13 Officer comment: Appropriately worded s106 Heads of Term recommended if the committee is
minded to approve the application.

Page 45
LBL Planning Policy
6.3.14 No objection to the proposal. The proposed uses of retail, community and leisure floorspace and
B1a office are considered appropriate to assist in facilitating the aims of the site allocation.
LBL Regeneration Team
6.3.15 No objection to the proposal. The principle of redeveloping a strategically important site within the
town centre with a range of workspace and retail space is supported. The provision of a significant
quantum of workspace has the potential to address an undersupply of workspace within the town
centre, which will attract footfall and spend and support both the day and night-time economies.
The provision of small retail units has the potential to integrate successfully with the adjacent
indoor market and create opportunities for investment in the surrounding railway arches.
Regeneration has played a significant role in negotiating the scope of an Employment and Skills
Strategy and Community and Commercial Use Strategy and is pleased to see them captured within
the recommended s106 Heads of Terms as a firm commitment towards ensuring the social and
economic benefits of the scheme are tailored towards improving the resilience of the town centre
and providing opportunities for local businesses and residents.
While a setback to the building line of the 20 storey tower will contribute to a widening of Pope’s
Road, careful consideration will be required through the detailed design process to ensure it can
function effectively as a street market; and a space that can accommodate much greater use and
footfall, especially if the ambition to create a new station entrance on Pope’s Road can be realised.
The applicant’s commitment to fund the design and delivery of these public realm improvements is
supported.
Officer comment: Appropriately worded s106 Heads of Terms are recommended if the committee
is minded to approve the application.
LBL Sustainability Team
6.3.16 No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to air quality and dust emissions; a final
Energy Strategy; and a Method of Demolition and Construction Statement being attached to any
permission granted.
6.3.17 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions are recommended if the committee is minded to
approve the application.
LBL Transport
6.3.18 No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to Delivery and Servicing Plan, Cycle
Parking, Travel Plan, Construction Environmental Management Plan being attached to any
permission granted and a commitment being provided to enter into a s106 and S278 agreement
(and s38 agreement where necessary) for off-site highways works and improvements along
Atlantic Road and Brixton Station Road and mitigation measures as set out in the ‘Transport
Section’ below.
6.3.19 Officer comment: Appropriately worded conditions and s106 Heads of Terms recommended if the
committee is minded to approve the application.
Veolia Waste Lambeth
6.3.20 No objection to the proposal. The proposed Waste Strategy is supported.

Page 46
6.3.21 Officer comment: Appropriately worded condition recommended if the committee is minded to
approve the application.
6.4

Other
Brixton Society

6.4.1

Objection to the proposal for the following reasons:


Height & Massing: The height of the taller block is excessive in the context of Brixton Town
Centre, where tall buildings have for many years been of 10 or 11 storeys. This part of the
Town Centre is classed as sensitive to tall buildings, but the proposal shows no such
sensitivity. The proposal is intrusive and would dominate the skyline and approach from Brixton
Road through Electric Avenue, undoing recent investment in enhancing the Avenue. The tower
would be over 30m higher than the planning guidance allows. This shows blatant disregard for
the planning context. The proposal fails to preserve or enhance the character of the two
Conservation Areas immediately adjacent, in addition to the more general requirement to
respect the historic and local character.



Materials & Finishes: The treatment of the upper floors with an exposed rectangular frame
around the top is deplored, because it exaggerates the visual impact of height and bulk. There
is no objection to the diagonal braces, which provide visual relief from the repetitive rectangular
window pattern, but repeating the green balcony motif over 6 floors is excessive. The façade
treatment is unacceptable because it emphasises the bulk of the two high-rise blocks, which at
this scale would be over-dominant even without the heavy detailing. Facing brickwork is
welcome for lower storeys, but its widespread use as a cladding material for high-rise blocks is
questioned, due to the high embodied energy in fired bricks. For upper floors in a lighter colour,
such as used for The Edge development (Coal Lane) on the opposite side of Valentia Place, is
preferred.



Microclimate effects: The excessively tall block proposed above the Pope’s Road frontage
would overshadow the space between the site and the railway station. It would also create
adverse wind effects, making the space unattractive to shoppers and visitors. A more
pronounced canopy or first floor podium would offer pedestrians better protection from adverse
downdraughts at the front of the site. Outside the site, the Microclimate Assessment appears to
be limited to ground floor locations, but should also have included elevated locations such as
the railway platforms, the entrance to the Brixton Recreation Centre, and balconies/ terraces at
the rear of Walton Lodge, Carney Square and The Viaduct. These are all more vulnerable to
adverse wind effects. Even at ground level, there is a potential wind funnel below the Popes
Road/ Station Road Railway Bridge, and increased wind speeds in front of the proposed tower,
and along the rear approach from Valentia Place.



Impact on Daylight for Nearby Flats: there will be significant adverse effects on daylight to a
number of neighbouring residential properties.



Privacy and Outlook: the proposed office blocks will be unduly close to the rear windows of The
Viaduct and Carney Place, creating mutual privacy issues and undue enclosure.



Weaknesses in Retail Layout: The proposed ground floor layout is not permeable enough to
encourage worthwhile footfall – the rear half of the ground floor will not attract customers
unless there is a pedestrian route from the Second Avenue of the Brixton Village Arcade, and
ideally also an attractive and defined route from Valentia Place. While the concept of ground
floor retail use, with a central performance space, is supported it is unlikely that first floor retail

Page 47
or café uses would attract enough footfall unless escalators are also included. Part of the
demand from potential tenants will be for café/ restaurant uses, so provision for extract
ventilation needs to be designed-in from the outset.

6.4.2



Amount of Office Floorspace: in principle, the upper floors being used for commercial office
space is sympathetic as much local business space has been lost to residential development in
recent decades. However, it is hard to believe that the massive amount of floor area proposed
would find enough takers. Historically, market interest in Central Brixton office space has been
limited, sustained only by the Council’s own needs, lately much reduced. The impact of the
current Coronavirus epidemic calls into question the future operation and likely demand for
conventional office floorspace, particularly outside the established London office locations.
Even if fully occupied as designed, there are severe limitations on public transport capacity
serving the Town Centre, and no clear proposal to improve this. PTAL scores are irrelevant if
trains and buses are already at full capacity. There are specific needs, for small and start-up
enterprises, and for the messier processes which do not work well directly below residential
flats, but these needs do not appear to be addressed in this application.



Lack of Planning Benefits: For a development of this scale, more planning benefits are
expected to be offered to support wider improvements to the Town Centre, or at least to
mitigate the impact. In particular, the Council should be seeking a contribution to the
reinstatement of East Brixton Station, to provide local access to the London Overground rail
service. In itself, this would make the site more attractive to future office occupiers.



Noise Impact on nearby dwellings: the proposed top-floor restaurant above the eastern block
will be too close to residential flats immediately to the south of the high-level railway viaduct,
and to the north. It will be too easy for noise to carry across to these flats if the Council fails to
prevent A4 (bar) or late-night use of the restaurant suite. The Council’s past failure to control
over-night activities has resulted in a very difficult living environment for residents elsewhere in
the Town Centre, due to noise, litter and anti-social behaviour, including use of the highway as
a public toilet. Therefore no use of the property after 11 pm can be tolerated. The design of
extract ventilation is also a critical factor in how acceptable an A3 or A5 use will be in proximity
to residential accommodation. Extract outlets or flues must include odour filters and soundproofing.

Officer comment: Officers’ views do not concur with those of the Brixton Society on the merits of
the scheme as set out in the ‘Assessment’ section of this report. The ground floor layout of the
proposal is considered to be acceptable and is sufficiently permeable providing the opportunity for
a possible north-south link to neighbouring sites in the future. Lift access, rather than escalators, to
the first floor retail / café uses would ensure sufficient footfall. An appropriately worded condition is
recommended to limit noise and disturbance from any plant associated with the restaurant
including the terrace area if the committee is minded to approve the application.
Carney Place and Milles Square Residents Association

6.4.3

Objection to the proposal for the for the following reasons:
Daylight/Sunlight - the applicant has provided daylight and sunlight studies showing a significant
reduction in natural light falling over the development. Given the height of the proposal, specifically
that of the 20 storey building, light falling into the courtyard of Carney Place & Milles Square will be
compromised. The majority of living rooms across the development face into this courtyard and the
concern is that this will create a dark and unpleasant aspect in the late afternoon and evening
hours - at a time when residents are returning from work and looking forward to enjoying their
amenity.

Page 48
Overlooking and privacy - all the north facing windows in Carney Place and Milles square will be
affected by the proposal with regards overlooking and privacy - the eastern (9 storey) office
building directly overlooks Carney Place. The 9-storey block also sits a good 14 metres above the
tallest residential units adjacent. The height of both the 20 storey tower and the eastern, 9 storey
office block will mean that there are overlooking issues into the courtyard of Carney Place and
Milles Square
Corridor effect - wind, noise and vibration - From building edge-to-edge the proposal sit some 16m
apart, with the viaduct running between them. The amount of wind created by the proposed
development is a serious concern. Having consulted the Wind Assessment it is noted not a single
one of the wind study points were taken from the balconies/terraces of the Carney Place
development; and were not considered within the report. Viewing the proposal there would
undeniably be some form of wind-tunnel effect.
Reviewing the Noise and Vibration report this is found to be lacking in scope. Vibration testing was
done in the afternoon of one day - not taking into account the early morning trains, which come
through the area at a faster speed, nor taking into account the longer, heavier good trains which
come through at 4am. It is not clear from the report when the noise assessment times were taken but it is noted that mention is made that they were taken at a time when some train services were
out-of-service. The noise and vibrations coming from the railway (especially from the early morning
trains) would be exacerbated by the proposal - with the noise levels already nearly 100db (as
shown in the noise report) and this would be reflected and mirrored off the proposed buildings.
A purely ‘pedestrian level’ report does not capture the full impact of the trains which form a major
boundary of the proposal in will impact those apartments in Carney Place & Milles Square facing
the viaduct.
Height, scale and massing - the sheer bulk of the southern facade is considered relentless and
inelegant by our residents. The break between the buildings does very little to alleviate the
concerns, especially sited, as it is, alongside the blank facing wall of the Walton Laundry
development (and therefore completely useless). The break between buildings will not allow any
light or views, considering the massing of the façades of those sides which face that break.
Townscape and Visual Amenity - reviewing the Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment, it is
noted that views from the south-east of the site have been largely discounted (with the exception of
one view along Atlantic road, and a long-shot from Brockwell Park). Again there are concerns
relating to the bulk and massing of the proposal on visual amenity - and a strong objection is raised
on the grounds that the taller tower would ‘loom’ over the courtyard.
Lambeth Local Plan 2015 - It is noted that there is a site allocation in the 2015 Local Plan which
lists the Pope’s road application site as “Site 16 - Central Brixton”. The current proposal sit outside
of the aspirations of this site allocation and the council is encouraged not to support the
development of this site as it would create a canyon on the sides of both the railway viaducts; and
the buildings are too tall and do not protect the amenity of the new residential developments on
Coldharbour Lane adjoining the site contrary to the site allocation policy. It is also noted that only
one arch seems to be proposed to be opened up with no new links provided further along/down the
site to open up the area; notwithstanding the links provided by and in the Walton Lodge application
(which are not addressed). While there is not an issue with the amount of indoor/outdoor public
space and the additional market spaces and public amenity proposed is welcome, the massing of
the building (both in height, length and width) could and should be reduced above ground. It is also
not clear whether there is a wider integration with Site 15.

Page 49
Emerging (Draft) Design Code SPD – the proposal fail to comply with the emerging Design Code
SPD impacting on residential amenity; appearing overbearing; resulting in a clustering of tall
buildings; and not mitigating against potential adverse impact.
River Effra – the river Effra runs either beneath or adjacent to the site and it is unclear how the
application intends to deal with this, especially considering the presence of a double basement and
proximity to the railway.
Office floorspace - there is no real need for such a massive amount of office floorspace and there
is concern that the densification of Brixton in this manner runs contradictory to its inherent
character.
Heritage – the impact on Brixton’s architectural and cultural heritage is concerning. There has been
no consideration for the adjacent conservation area in this application.
6.4.4

Officer comment: Officers’ views do not concur with those of the Carney Place and Milles Square
Residents Association on the merits of the scheme as set out in the ‘Assessment’ section of this
report. The proposal is not impacted by the River Effra, which does not run underneath or adjacent
to the site. The revised Noise Assessment submitted considers the noise impact of early morning
trains, however, an appropriately worded condition is recommended limiting noise, vibrations and
disturbance from the development if the committee is minded to approve the application.
Councillor Nye - Ward Councillor

6.4.5

Objection to the proposal. The situation of the site on Pope's Road means it is close to Electric
Avenue, which was the first market street in the country to be lit by electric lights. Brixton has a
proud history of being forward-thinking and creative. But there are real concerns about this
development. While investment into Brixton is welcomed, any new build should add to, not detract
from, the existing character of the area. Brixton's architecture is largely low-rise Victorian, and this
development would be out of place in this context.
The proposed 20 storey development is too high. It would dwarf the nearest tall building,
International House, which is 13 storeys high. Furthermore, it will dominate and overshadow the
nearby conservation area. Brixton's SPD of 2013 acknowledges that any development more than
15 storeys is likely to have an adverse impact on Brixton's heritage assets, and that anything
between 10 and 15 storeys will be visible from within the conservation area.
Concerned residents have contacted ward councillors who are worried about the impact this
development will have on their daylight and sunlight and the Planning Committee is urged to
consider their points. The impact on daylight and sunlight would also affect the nearby low-rise
businesses and users of the market. The committee is also asked to consider the London skyline
view from Brockwell Park when making their decision on this application. Should the committee be
minded to allow the application, conditions on the height of the development would be welcomed,
ideally bringing it in line with International House as a maximum height.

6.4.6

Officer comment: the height, massing and design of the development and its impact upon heritage
assets, neighbouring conservation areas, views and the residential amenity and the merits of the
scheme have been fully considered as set out in the ‘Assessment’ section of this report. Whilst the
Brixton SPD of 2013 mentioned is still a live planning document (it has not formally been
withdrawn) its content has somewhat been superseded by the site allocation policy introduced by
the current Local Plan (2015) and it will be replaced by the emerging Local Plan and forthcoming
Brixton Central SPD which are currently being progressed by the Council.

Page 50
Helen Hayes MP
6.4.7

Objection to the proposal for the following reasons:


Height and design quality - this planning application, at 21 storeys would be by far the tallest
building in east Brixton. It would dominate the skyline, and would be seen prominently from
Railton Road/Atlantic Road, Brixton Road, Brixton Station Road and a variety of other
viewpoints around the town centre. Such a tall building will cast long shadows, and there are
concerns about the impact it will have on access to light for surrounding residents and
businesses. The design of the building is not distinctive, it is indistinguishable from many other
tall buildings across London. As such, it does not add to or enhance the character of the
historic environment in central Brixton, or provide any expression of the uniqueness and
diversity of the local community. If approved it will erode the distinctiveness of an area of
London which is currently characterised by a unique mix of Victorian and Edwardian
architecture, occupied by a diverse range of predominantly BAME-owned independent
businesses. Any new building of such size and scale, in this extremely sensitive location,
should be the subject of both the extensive, early engagement of the local community to inform
the design process, and a full design review to ensure that it will enhance the special character
of central Brixton.



Risk in relation to Permitted Development Rights - a building as tall as this proposal is
extremely expensive to construct, requiring deep piles and heavy engineering, and containing
large areas of unlettable space accommodating services and circulation space. As a
consequence, tall buildings typically require high levels of rent in order to meet the costs of
construction and maintenance. Office space in Brixton town centre is characterised by
buildings which have been re-used, and which are attractive to a range of creative businesses
which typically cannot afford high levels of rent. It is not clear that there is any established
market in Brixton for the kind of corporate commercial tenants which can afford to pay the
rental levels required to meet the costs of such an expensive new tall building. In addition, the
coronavirus pandemic has had a profound impact both on the economy, provoking a severe
recession, and on work patterns, with many more people working flexibly from home and a
step-change in the use of technology to substitute virtual meetings and working practices for
many activities which had usually taken place in a physical workspace.
There is no evidence to suggest that there will be demand for 21 storeys of workspace in
central Brixton, at the level of rent required to support a new tall building, in the foreseeable
future. These issues would be solely a matter of risk for the applicant, were it not for the current
government's policy relating to the expansion of permitted development rights. I raise this
issue, as I worked extensively on it during the last Parliament as a member of the Housing,
Communities and Local Government Select Committee. Under current planning policy, a
building owner can convert an office or industrial building into a residential building without the
need for a planning application. Such buildings are exempt from requirements for affordable
housing or section 106 contributions to community infrastructure such as school places, parks
and green spaces or medical facilities.
Given the level of homelessness and housing need in Lambeth - an issue I see the impact of
every single week in my surgeries and my inbox - it would be unconscionable for this building
to become a luxury residential tower block by a back-door permitted development rights route.
The cost of flats in such a building, without any requirement to provide affordable housing
would be completely beyond the reach of local residents and would make no contribution to
meeting local housing need in my constituency and across the borough. I urge the Council to
refuse this application, unless it can guarantee that permitted development rights will not be
used to convert it to residential use in the future, for example, through the use of an Article 4
direction, section 106 agreement or covenant to protect the site for employment use and

Page 51
ensure that if there were plans to develop housing on the site in the future the Council would
be able to ensure that this contributed to meeting the urgent need for genuinely affordable
homes and community infrastructure through the planning process.
6.4.8

Officer comment: the demand for office accommodation within Brixton and the height and design
quality of the development has been fully considered as set out in the ‘Assessment’ section of this
report. An appropriate condition is suggested that will restrict the office accommodation from
switching to residential use under permitted development. The concerns raised in relation to the
impact on BAME-owned independent businesses is addressed in the ‘Equality Duty and Human
Rights’ section below.
Brixton Market Traders Federation

6.4.9

There is concern over the siting of the development right on the Pope’s Road pavement line. At
present the area from the Popes Road junction with Brixton Station Road through to the Popes
Road junction with Atlantic Road is dominated by big structures. One end has two railway bridges
the other end one railway bridge. The supporting walls are high and create a feeling of domination
and oppressive claustrophobia. The one saving grace is that the building to be demolished starts 2
metres back from the pavement line and is only ground floor so that there is light and it doesn't
dominate the street. If the proposed development is approved it will mean a higher building (be it
part 4 or any bigger size) and another dominating structure so creating an even more oppressive
feeling in the street. One simple solution would be to move the new building some 6 metres from
the pavement line and not allow any part of the building to cross over that line even if it is simply an
overhang. That way, the street will get more natural light, people using the street will not feel they
are in a narrow high sided canyon and the building will have less of a negative, interfering impact
on the street.

6.4.10 Officer comment: the proposal have been amended setting back the western elevation by 2.5m
from Pope’s Road to improve the quality of the proposed new civic square. The proposal’s principal
building line now roughly aligns with that of the existing shopfront but is pulled in a little more on
the south side which was previously further forward. The merits of the development have been fully
considered as set out in the ‘Assessment’ section of this report.
6.5

Adjoining owners/occupiers

6.5.1

Site notices were displayed from 24 April to 15 May 2020 (Original Application Submission) and
following amendments to the scheme from 17 July to 7 August 2020 (Amended Application
Submission) on Popes Road, Brixton Station Road, Atlantic Road and Electric Avenue. The
application was also advertised in the local paper on 22 April 2020 (Original Application
Submission) and following amendments to the scheme on 15 July 2020 (Amended Application
Submission). The formal consultation period ended on 7 August 2020.

6.5.2

The Council has followed the procedural requirements relating to applications which are departures
(i.e. do not comply with the development plan policies) and the application has been advertised as
a departure on the basis that it is not in accordance with Policy Q26, part (ii) ‘there is no adverse
impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage assets including their settings’; and
site allocation ''Site 16 - Brixton Central (between the viaducts) SW9'' - Design principles and key
development consideration (x) ‘proposes low buildings to protect the amenity of new residential
development on Coldharbour Lane adjoining the site’. The outcome of this consultation is set out
below.

6.5.3

In total, 999 local residents were consulted on the applications with 711 individual representations
having been received during the consultation period of which 4 were in support and 707 were in
objection.

Page 52
6.5.4

The 4 individual responses of support have made the following comments:


The use of derelict land for the betterment of an area is a positive step and should be
encouraged;
This is a fantastic and bold proposal for a development in central Brixton, on a site that currently
adds very little to the quality of the built environment in the town centre;
Brixton isn't exactly top of mind for companies seeking office space, yet this building puts Brixton
in contention. And with offices, including affordable workspace, comes employment opportunities
and income for local small businesses and Lambeth;
Brixton needs more office space and as long as this building is finished to a high spec then it will
be a good addition.
The flexible offices with affordable work space will provide vital space for new business,
particularly those run by BAME entrepreneurs, to develop and grow.
The proposed scheme is based on the cultural history of Brixton, in particular its tradition of
creative entrepreneurship. To this end, the development will provide increased space for
independent retailers, creatives and start-ups. Helping these businesses to thrive is key to the
continuing success of Brixton, particularly post-COVID19;
This is a hugely exciting and groundbreaking development, bringing office-space to Brixton
which will strengthen the local economy at a critical time of economic crisis, and in a building
which manages to be a landmark while remaining relatively unobtrusive;
While tall buildings are a shock to some, they are increasingly appearing outside central London,
and even in outer boroughs completed last year in London. Nine were over 150 metres tall. And
in London's pipeline there are 525 tall buildings planned, and outer London boroughs account for
35% of this pipeline;
Given the recent development of tall buildings in central Brixton, not least that which replaced
Hambrook House (as part of the "Your New Town Hall" programme), the scale of the proposed
development is not excessive, and is consistent with the development of Brixton as a business
centre;
The inclusion of a publicly-accessible open market space with the capacity to hold various
events driven by the community, enhances its character and establishes a key destination that
contributes to the diversity of local business and provides an enhanced and prosperous
environment for traders to continue to grow;
















6.5.5

A summary of the individual objections received are set out in Table 1 below:
Summary of objections
Land Use
 Loss of NOUR Cash and Carry unit within
the market;


There are already enough restaurants and
bars etc. and the current balance should
be retained;



There is no need for large amounts of
office space in central Brixton, still less so
after the impact the Covid-19 pandemic
has had on the viability of large office
space and the widespread transition to
remote working. In this context the current
proposal appear very short-sighted;

Response

The NOUR Cash and Carry unit is located
within the neighbouring market and is not
part of the application site.
The provision of food and drink uses would
be in accordance with the site allocation
policy. Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section, paras.
8.1.6 to 8.1.12 of the report.
A shortage of office space has been
identified in Brixton town centre and there is
no evidence to suggest that the Covid-19
pandemic has impacted on the viability of
office space in Brixton. Refer to ‘Land Uses’
section, paras. 8.1.16 to 8.1.17 of the
report.

Page 53


The facilities provided in the building are
not aligned with the expectations and
needs of the local community and will
undermine existing small businesses and
longstanding traders;



The proposal fails to outline how this
space would align with Brixton's Creative
Enterprise Zone or how it would serve
local business, start-ups and innovators;



Bringing more white-collar population
could have a negative impact on the local
residents by attracting less affordable
businesses;
The development will create further
competition for local independent
businesses and likely put many out of
operation. Increased rents attracted by the
development, and required to make it
financially viable, will likely push rents up
throughout the surrounding area and
beyond the means of many existing
independent business owners, who in any
case are struggling greatly to survive in the
current climate. This will have a
detrimental effect on the community and
character of the area and make an already
difficult situation worse. Local independent
business need more support than those
that will be served by this development;
The shopping units will detract from the
character of the town centre, which still
has its original feel based around the
indoor and outdoor markets, the Granville
arcade and the Brixton Road 'high street'.
There is no need for more high rent units
attracting corporate chains, we have those
in Brixton Road;
The proposal goes utterly against the local
community’s interests decimating what is
left of Brixton's unique and wonderful
culture;
The development offers very little in terms
of planning benefit to the community
considering the size and impact of the
scheme, such as social and affordable
housing, community space/initiatives or
facilities;









The proposal would be in line with the site
allocation policy in the local plan and would
provide flexible and affordable workspace
for small businesses and traders. Refer to
‘Land Uses’ section, paras. 8.1.20 to 8.1.26
of the report.
The proposal would align with Brixton’s
Creative Enterprise Zone and would
provide flexible and affordable workspace
local business, start-ups and innovators.
Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section, paras. 8.1.20
to 8.1.26 of the report.
The proposal would provide flexible and
affordable workspace for small businesses
and traders. Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section,
paras. 8.1.20 to 8.1.26 of the report.
There is no evidence to suggest that the
development will put many local
independent businesses out of business.
Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section, paras. 8.1.20
to 8.1.26 of the report.

The proposed shopping units are in line
with the site allocation policy Refer to ‘Land
Uses’ section, paras. 8.1.6 to 8.1.12 of the
report.

The proposal would be in line with the site
allocation policy. Refer to ‘Land Uses’
section, paras. 8.1.12, 8.1.19 and 8.1.25 to
8.1.26 of the report.
The proposal would be in line with the site
allocation policy and a package of planning
benefits for the local community are
proposed Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section,
paras. 8.1.6 to 8.1.12 and ‘Planning
Obligations’ section, para. 8.10.3 of the
report.

Page 54


There is a distinct lack of space for youth;



There are better ways to invest in Brixton
starting with education and infrastructure.
Cleaner streets better schools and safer
environment for all;

Design and Conservation
 Overdevelopment of the site;











The proposed development is overbearing,
out of scale and out of keeping with; It
would be out of keeping with the existing
architectural character of Brixton and
would negatively impact on the character
of the local area;
The proposed height of the building is
disproportionate in comparison to its
surroundings and would dominate the
skyline. There are no other buildings of this
height locally and the proposal would set a
harmful precedent for high rise buildings in
the longer term;
It would dwarf all other buildings in the
area and will be visually unappealing.
International House nearby is 12-storeys
high, this seems a much more reasonable
guide for what would be in keeping with
the local area.
The design is of low architectural quality
and the proposed materiality, façade
articulation and detailing seems poorly
considered and shows little consideration
to the surrounding historic context;
The architectural design of the proposed
building shows no joy, variety or
intelligence within the repetitive facades
both to the tower and the linear block,
unlike the repetition evidenced within
historic facades to Electric Avenue for
instance, and instead appears to reinforce

The proposal would secure training and
employment opportunities for young people
and community space as part of the
Employment and Skills Plan and
Commercial and Community Strategy and
Management Plan to be secured by s106.
Refer to ‘Land Uses’ section, paras. 8.1.6 to
8.1.12 and paras. 8.1.9 to 8.1.12 of the
report.
The proposal would be in line with the site
allocation policy and a package of planning
benefits for the local community are
proposed Refer to ‘Employment and
Training’ section, paras. 8.9.1 to 8.9.8 and
‘Planning Obligations’ section, para. 8.10.3
of the report.
The proposed development sits comfortably
on the site and is not considered to be an
overdevelopment. Refer to ‘Design and
Conservation’ section – paras. 8.2.28 to
8.2.32 and 8.2.114 to 8.2.135 of the report.
The proposed scale and architecture of the
building is considered to be acceptable.
Refer to ‘Design and Conservation’ section
– paras. 8.2.28 to 8.2.32 and 8.2.114 to
8.2.135 of the report.
The proposed height of the building is
considered to be justified. Refer to ‘Design
and Conservation’ section – paras. 8.2.28
to 8.2.32 and 8.2.114 to 8.2.135 of the
report.

The proposed relationship of the building
with its surrounds is considered to be
acceptable. Refer to ‘Design and
Conservation’ section – paras. 8.2.28 to
8.2.32 and 8.2.114 to 8.2.135 of the report.
The proposal is of high design quality and
responds to the historical context. Refer to
‘Design and Conservation’ section – paras.
8.2.28 to 8.2.32 and 8.2.114 to 8.2.135 of
the report.
The proposal is of high design quality and
its height and massing are considered to be
justified. Refer to ‘Design and Conservation’
section – paras. 8.2.28 to 8.2.32 and
8.2.114 to 8.2.135 of the report.

Page 55



the schemes overbearing massing;
The proposal would adversely impact on
the Brixton Conservation Area;
neighbouring conservation areas; heritage
assets and local views;



The new building should factor in the need
for larger lobby areas, wider corridors and
doorways, more staircases and a reduction
in maximum occupancy for lifts so as to
reduce overcrowding and to enable
physical distancing. These factors mean
high-rise buildings may make less or no
sense;
Amenity
 Overlooking and loss of privacy;



Loss of sunlight and daylight;



Visually overbearing leading to a loss of
outlook and impact on views;



Lack of landscaping and green space
provision within the development;



The proposal will deteriorate local air
quality and increase pollution and the
urban heat island effect. It will adversely
affect the health of the borough's most
vulnerable groups;
Increase in noise and disturbance;



The impact on heritage assets and the
conservation area is considered to be
outweighed by the public benefits
proposed. Refer to ‘Design and
Conservation’ section – paras. 8.2.38 to
8.2.135 of the report.
The building has been designed to ensure
adequate width of corridors, lobbies and
staircases in accordance with Building
Regulations. Refer to ‘Inclusive Design’
section – para. 8.3.1 of the report.

The impact on overlooking and privacy to
neighbouring residential occupiers is
considered to be acceptable. Refer to
‘Amenity for Neighbouring Occupiers’
section – para 8.7.44 to 8.7.48 of the report.
The impact on sunlight and daylight
received by neighbouring residential
occupiers is considered to be acceptable.
Refer to ‘Amenity for Neighbouring
Occupiers’ section – para 8.7.1 to 8.7.43 of
the report.
The proposal would not be overbearing or
result in any undue loss of outlook to
neighbouring residential properties. Refer to
‘Amenity for Neighbouring Occupiers’
section – para 8.7.44 to 8.7.48 of the report.
The proposed landscaping and green
space provision is considered to be
acceptable and would be secured by
condition. Refer to ‘Ecology, trees and
landscaping’ section – para 8.8.1 to 8.8.6 of
the report.
The impact on local air quality is acceptable
and would be controlled by condition. Refer
to ‘Air quality’ section – para 8.11.7 to
8.11.19 of the report.
The impact on noise and disturbance to
neighbouring residential properties is
considered to be acceptable and would be
controlled by condition. Refer to ‘Noise and
Vibration’ section – para 8.7.50 to 8.7.54 of
the report.

Page 56


The downdraughts caused by the size and
massing of the proposed tower will likely
cause significant issues of increased wind
at street level, leading to dangerous and
hostile conditions especially for the elderly
and those with mobility issues, as well as
market traders based on Pope's Road and
nearby, pedestrian and cyclists. This could
cause significant problems of accessibility
to elevated areas which surround the site,
e.g. the train platforms and Brixton
Recreation centre;
Transport
 Lack of car parking provision putting
further pressure on car parking in the
vicinity of the site;





The proposal will put further pressure on
transport and local infrastructure. This area
is already overcrowded; the pavements
are overcrowded; and the local
infrastructure is unable to sustain rapid
growth. The public transport links are
already under strain. Bringing more office
spaces will saturate the current public
transport links which are already at full
capacity;
The construction of the development will
cause pollution and disruption to local
residents;



The proposal should make improvements
to Brixton Station which is currently
neglected;



The proposal as it stands is unimaginative
as it misses a huge opportunity for Brixton
- the construction of the (much discussed)
station for the East London Line. And,
taking advantage of economies of scope,
the reopening of platforms and access to
the Catford Loop tracks as well. Radically
improving public transport access in this
manner would be a huge boon for the
people of Brixton, and would also benefit
the developers greatly, due to the greatly
increased footfall they would enjoy from all
the extra visitors.

A wind assessment has been submitted
with the application which concludes that
the wind impacts of the development are
acceptable. Refer to ‘Wind Microclimate’
section – para 8.11.44 to 8.11.19 of the
report.

The proposal is to be secured as ‘Car Free’
with the exception of 2 on-street disabled
parking spaces. Refer to ‘Transport’ section
– paras. 8.9.8 and 8.9.35 to 8.9.38 of the
report.
In order to mitigate against future pressure
on transport and local infrastructure, a
comprehensive package of public transport
benefits are proposed including
contributions towards improving Brixton
mainline Station, cycling and walking to and
from the site and additional bus services in
the local area. Refer to ‘Transport’ section –
para. 8.9.54 and ‘Planning Obligations’
section, para. 8.10.3 of the report.
Pollution and disruption to local residents
during the course of construction would be
controlled by condition. Refer to ‘Transport’
section – paras. 8.9.49 and 8.9.52 of the
report.
A contribution towards improvements to
Brixton Station would be secured by s106.
Refer to ‘Transport’ section – para. 8.9.54
and ‘Planning Obligations’ section, para.
8.10.3 of the report.
The proposal secures a package of public
transport infrastructure improvement by
s106. Refer to ‘Transport’ section – para.
8.9.54 and ‘Planning Obligations’ section,
para. 8.10.3 of the report.

Page 57
Sustainability
 The proposal is environmentally
unsustainable and does not adequately
cater for climate change;

Community Engagement
 Poorly designed engagement with the local
community. A broader and more proactive
engagement should be conducted.



The proposal shows an inability to
understand or respect Brixton's African
and Caribbean community and culture.
The people most affected are
disproportionately from minority groups. If
the current crisis has taught us anything,
it's that these groups are marginalised,
rarely equally benefit from public and
private investment, and find their needs
and voices overshadowed. This proposal
presents an opportunity to repair damaged
trust and a sense of loss and apathy within
the local community.
Table 1 – Summary of objections

The proposal would provide a sustainable
form of development that would adequately
cater for climate change. Refer to
‘Sustainability’ section – paras. 8.10.1 to
8.10.12 of the report.
Refer to ‘Consultations’ section – paras.
6.2.1 – 6.5.5 of the report. Further
engagement with the local community is to
be secured by way of a ‘Commercial and
Community Use Strategy and Management
Plan’ to be secured by s106 as set out in
‘Planning Obligations’ section, para. 8.10.3
of the report.
Refer to ‘Equality, Duty and Human rights’
section – paras 11.1 to 11.3 of the report.
In order to ensure that all parts of the local
community are provided for within the
development, further engagement with the
local community is to be secured by way of
a ‘Commercial and Community Use
Strategy and Management Plan’ to be
secured by s106 as set out in ‘Planning
Obligations’ section, para. 8.10.3 of the
report.

7

POLICIES

7.1

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the Committee to have regard
to the provisions of the development of the development plan so far as material to the application;
any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and any other material
considerations. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
planning decisions to be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan in Lambeth is the London Plan (2016,
consolidated with alterations since 2011), the Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015) and the South
Bank and Waterloo neighbourhood development plan (‘the SoWNDP’) (October 2019). This
application is also subject to the heritage statutory provisions as set out in the agenda pack and
heritage analysis of the report.

7.2

In December 2019 the London Plan (Intend to Publish version) was published by the GLA. This
followed the Examination in Public on the Draft London Plan (published in December 2017), which
was held between January and May 2019. On 21 October 2019 the Panel of Inspectors appointed
by the Secretary of State issued their report and recommendations. These recommendations
(although not all) have been incorporated into the Intend to Publish version. The draft London Plan
is given a significant amount of weight in planning decisions. It will not be given full weight until the
final version of the London Plan is published.

Page 58
7.3

On 13 March 2020 the Secretary of State formally directed the Mayor to make a number of detailed
modifications to the wording of various policies in the Intend to Publish version released in
December 2019. Under the Greater London Authority Act 1999, whilst such a direction remains in
force, the Mayor must not proceed to publish the London Plan (in its final form) without modifying
the Intend to Publish version so as to comply with the direction. From the Mayor’s reply to the
Secretary of State on 24 April 2020 as published on the GLA website, it appears that there may be
further dialogue between the Mayor and the Secretary of State about the modifications. However,
the outcome of this process is not known at present. This report has taken into account the effect of
the Secretary of State’s direction on emerging London Plan policies.

7.4

The Lambeth Local Plan is currently under partial review to ensure it complies with amendments to
changes in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and London Plan. The Draft Revised
Lambeth Local Plan underwent public consultation from October to December 2018 under
Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Plans) (England) Regulations 2012. Presubmission publication (Regulation 19) of the Draft Revised Lambeth Local Plan Submission
Version occurred between 31 January and 13 March 2020 and was submitted for examination on
22 May 2020. Accordingly, officers will attach some weight to the relevant policies as the draft local
plan review progresses towards its adoption.

7.5

The latest NPPF was published in 2018 and updated in 2019. This document sets out the
Government’s planning policies for England including the presumption in favour of sustainable
development and is a material consideration in the determination of all applications.

7.6

The current planning application has been considered against all relevant national, regional and
local planning policies as well as any relevant guidance. A full list of relevant policies and guidance
has been set out in Appendix 3 to this report.

8

ASSESSMENT

8.1

Land Uses

8.1.1

The site lies within the Brixton Major Centre and partly within the Primary Shopping Area. Within
the Draft Revised Local Plan Submission Version, it is proposed to remove this site from the
primary shopping area. Within the Submission Version, the site would also be within the new
proposed Brixton Creative Enterprise Zone. The site is also within an area of open space
deficiency for regional parks and access to SINCs.

8.1.2

The site forms part of designated Site 16 – Brixton Central (Between the Viaducts) SW9 in the
Lambeth Local Plan and the designation is proposed to remain in the Draft Revised Local Plan
Submission Version. Site 16, as shown in Figure 15 below is bounded by the two railway viaducts
and comprises Brixton mainline station, railway track and arches (in use as retail, office and
storage), retail use, part of Brixton Market and a disused car park.

Page 59

Figure 15 – Site 16: Brixton Central (between the viaducts, SW9
8.1.3

As defined by the allocation, the ‘preferred use’ for the site is the following:
‘Improvements to Brixton Station to include a new station entrance and pedestrian links. Mixed-use
development including retail, new workspace, food and drink, community, educational, leisure and
recreation uses, possible market extension and associated uses. Development to include
revitalised railway arches with options to provide links through to improve north-south routes’.

8.1.4

The allocation identifies the following design principles and key development considerations:
‘Large site bounded by railway viaducts with considerable development potential subject to
improving access and permeability through the site.
The council will support development on the site that:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
(x)

provides opportunities to improve the station entrance and station facilities generally, including
lift access and cycle parking;
provides public realm improvements to Brixton Station Road to include links to both the
mainline and underground stations, the opening up of arches to provide links to north-south
routes east of Popes Road and potential links to Brixton Village;
enhances the arches to provide active uses and routes through;
opens up Popes Road to provide a wider public space with the potential to provide improved
and/or additional market spaces;
includes market facilities;
includes environmental improvements to the viaduct arches serving the Orpington Line;
integrates and complements development on the Popes Road site (Site 15);
includes the reprovision of the redundant 1950s building;
avoids creating a canyon on either side of the railway viaducts;
proposes low buildings to protect the amenity of new residential development on Coldharbour
Lane adjoining the site’.

Page 60
8.1.5

The proposal seeks permission for the demolition of the existing building on the site and redevelopment to create an office-led mixed-use scheme. The ground floor of the proposed
development aims to be an extension of the Brixton Village market, both in visual and scale terms
with retail units distributed along the main circulation paths. The uses at ground floor level will be
mostly Class A1 and A3 uses with entrance lobbies for the offices and a flexible central space in
the middle of the market for community or event use. At first floor level, there are smaller units
located around the main staircase and two larger spaces to the east and west. There will be a
combination of retail/restaurant/business and community (A1/A3//B1, D1 and D2) uses at this level.
Above this, the remaining storeys (to 19 floor level) will accommodate office floorspace (including
affordable workspace) and a restaurant.

8.1.6

The Council has followed the procedural requirements relating to applications which are departures
(i.e. do not comply with the development plan policies) and the application has been advertised as
a departure on the basis that it is not in accordance with Policy Q26, part (ii) of the adopted Local
Plan ‘there is no adverse impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage assets
including their settings’; and site allocation ''Site 16 - Brixton Central (between the viaducts) SW9'' Design principles and key development consideration (x) ‘proposes low buildings to protect the
amenity of new residential development on Coldharbour Lane adjoining the site’. The principle of
the proposed uses and the appropriateness of tall buildings on the site and their impact on heritage
sensitivity is discussed in full below.
Flexible Retail, Food and Drink and Community uses (Classes A1/A3/D1/D2)

8.1.7

In accordance with the ‘preferred use’ set out in the Local Plan Site allocation, the proposed
building includes a policy compliant commercially-led mixed use development of town centre uses
including retail, new workspace, food and drink and community uses. At ground floor level, the
retail element comprises a series of small retail units organised along the main circulation routes
creating a market layout and typology similar to that of Brixton Village and Market Row, which will
support these existing active markets, in the centre of Brixton. Retail frontages are located along
the main entrance towards Pope’s Road providing an active frontage. Larger flexible units are
located at first floor level which would provide retail, community and workspace uses.

8.1.8

London Plan policies 4.7 and 4.8 and Intend to publish London Plan policies SD6 & SD7 promote
the growth of a successful and diverse retail sector within highly sustainable town centre locations.
Policy E9 of the London Plan (Intend to Publish version) states that “a successful, competitive and
diverse retail sector, which promotes sustainable access to goods and services for all Londoners,
should be supported in line with the wider objectives of this Plan, particularly for town centres” and
that Boroughs should “secure an appropriate mix of shops and other commercial units of different
sizes, informed by local evidence and town centre strategies.”

8.1.9

London Plan Policy 4.8 supports a successful, competitive and diverse retail sector which
promotes sustainable access to the goods and services that Londoners need. It notes that
Boroughs should take a proactive approach to planning for retail, including the need to bring
forward capacity to secure a sustainable pattern of provision.

8.1.10 Local Plan policy ED6 of the Local Plan states that the Council will support the vitality and viability
of Lambeth’s centres and CAZ frontages by supporting retail, service, leisure and recreation and
other appropriate uses.
8.1.11 Local Plan policy ED13 states that “Proposals for new off-street permanent, indoor or street
markets, car boot sales and temporary markets will be supported provided that:
(i) the scale, nature and location would not harm existing shopping facilities or markets located
within town centres;

Page 61

(ii) there would not be an unacceptable impact on local amenity or the general environment;
(iii) adequate provision is made for customers’ and traders’ parking, deliveries and servicing,
set-up and storage of stalls, power supply and storage and disposal of refuse; and
(iv) there would not be an unacceptable impact on traffic flow or increase in traffic congestion
in the area.”
8.1.12 Policy PN3 of the Local Plan states that within the indoor markets, no less than 50% of the ground
floor units should be in retail (A1) use and no more than 50 per cent should be in restaurant (A3)
use within each indoor market. Emerging Local Plan policy PN3 states requires that in the indoor
markets that no less than 50 per cent of floorspace should be in A1 use and no more than 50 per
cent floorspace should be in A3 use within each indoor market. The applicant has confirmed that
no more than 50% of the units and floorspace on ground and first floors would be used for
restaurant use and no less is to be used for retail use. The final mix of uses and confirmation of the
split between retail and restaurant uses would be secured by condition.
8.1.13 Local Plan policy S2 supports the provision of new premises for community uses on appropriate
sites such as this that are accessible to the local community with buildings and facilities being
designed to be “flexible, adaptable and sited to maximise shared community use of premises,
where practical”.
8.1.14 The applicant has given a number of Community and Commercial Use Commitments to be
provided as part of the development including the provision of dedicated community floorspace at
first floor level, the use of the central space within the proposed retail market for community event
space and the provision of a new civic square on Popes Road to be used by the community. A
Community and Commercial Use Strategy and Management Plan demonstrating how the applicant
will build on the established Community and Commercial Use Commitments provided including
how the community floorspace (the dedicated D class use) within the proposal will be dedicated,
managed and curated and how the local community will use the facilities throughout the
development, including the dedicated D class use is to be secured by s106 legal agreement in any
permission granted.
8.1.15 Site Allocation 16 in the Local Plan identifies retail, leisure and possible market extension and
associated uses as ‘preferred uses’ within the Brixton Central Allocation. The provision of retail and
community floorspace within the proposed development would contribute towards the overall
character and activity within the development, adding to the mix of uses found locally. The
provision of retail, restaurant and community (Classes A1/A3/D1/D2) floorspace is therefore in
accordance with London Plan Policy 4.8, Policy E9 of the London Plan (Intend to Publish version)
and Local Plan Policies S2, ED6, ED13, PN3 and Site allocation 16 which support the principle of
these uses in the Town Centre and sustainable access to goods and services and encourages
activation of the ground floor. The proposal would also be in accordance with Polices ED6, ED13,
PN3 and Site allocation 16 of the Submission Version of the Local Plan, which remains largely
unchanged.
Office
8.1.16 NPPF (2019) at Chapter 6 seeks to encourage developments that contribute towards building a
strong, competitive economy. Paragraph 80 states that planning policies and decisions should help
create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. It is stated that significant
weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into
account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.

Page 62
8.1.17 London Plan Policy 4.2 ‘Offices’, and Policies SD6 and E1 of the Intend to publish London Plan
support increases in the stock of offices of different sizes where there is evidence of demand,
particularly within town centres where the provision of office floorspace is an important contributor
to the local and London-wide economy. Policy E2 of the Intend to publish London Plan provides
that larger office proposals should consider the scope for provision of some flexible workspace
suitable for micro, small and medium sized enterprises. The proposal seeks to introduce
approximately 13,000sq.m of new office floorspace which is significant in the context of Brixton,
which is not an existing office destination and where there is a distinct undersupply of office
floorspace, given it is a highly accessible major town centre, as identified in the Council’s Brixton
Economic Action Plan, published in 2017. This is reflected in the Intend to publish London Plan
Town Centre Network office guidelines. GLA officers recognise the potential for growth of office
provision within Brixton town centre and the potential for the site to enhance the environment and
the offer of the centre as a commercial location, supporting the delivery of significant economic
benefits to the local economy and wider regeneration objectives. Accordingly, the principle of an
office-led redevelopment of the site is supported.
8.1.18 Policy HC5 of the Intend to publish London Plan supports the continued growth of London’s diverse
and cultural facilities and creative industries. Brixton is identified as a Creative Enterprise Zone
(CEZ) which seeks to develop and deliver new spaces to serve the emerging digital and creative
cluster located in the area. The development would provide flexible workspace suitable for
occupation by a range of business sizes, which is welcomed. As advised in pre-application
discussions, further consideration should also be given to the capacity for the development to
provide a broader scope of compatible workspaces typologies, beyond office, such as studios or
maker spaces, having regard for the site’s location within a strategic area for regeneration and a
CEZ, to ensure that the development responds to the local economy context.
8.1.19 Policy ED2 of the Local Plan states that in order to maintain a stock of sites and premises in
business use, development for business (B1) uses will be supported on all Sites. Local Plan policy
ED3, part (a) supports office development in the site location. It states that proposals for offices
greater than 1,000m2 will be supported in Brixton town centre.
8.1.20 The Council’s submission version of the draft Lambeth Local Plan Policy ED2 requires that in the
Brixton CEZ (within the town centre boundary), developments proposing greater than 10,000sqm
B1 office floorspace should provide 10 per cent of that floorspace as affordable workspace at 50%
of market rents for a period of 25 years.
8.1.21 Current office supply in Brixton stands at just 7% of built stock with a vacancy rate of just 2%. The
largest office buildings include Squire and Partners’ headquarters at Ferndale Road, which they
developed for their own occupation, the Lambeth Civic Centre, Blue Star House and International
House, the co-working space run by 3space at International House. The net effect is that the
significant majority of office occupiers in Brixton are small businesses seeking expansion.
8.1.22 In the Brixton area in particular, a low availability of commercial office space is recognised as an
increasing concern that needs addressing, with additional office space explicitly mentioned as an
‘area for action’ moving forward in the Brixton Economic Action Plan. Brixton is a central hub of
activity, but office space was extremely low in 2015 at less than 100sqm. More recent research
carried out by Impact Brixton as referenced in the application submission finds that available office
space in Brixton is six times lower than the London average.
8.1.23 Further information on the need for office space is located within Volterra’s Economic Impact
Assessment which supports the application. The Assessment identifies that from 2009 to 2018,
employment in the borough has been increasing at a slower rate (22%) than employment in
London (24%) and Inner London (30%) as a whole. Over the same period, total office employment
in the borough has increased by just 20%, significantly below the Inner London average of 37%.

Page 63
The undersupply of office space has manifested in low vacancy rates and high rental prices. This
combination has been identified as having the potential to price businesses out of the area and
deter new ones – in particular small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) – from moving in. This
mismatch between supply and demand has had the knock-on impact of increasing rental values,
meaning that businesses are forced to locate elsewhere in London. This situation is a concern for
the Council as the borough risks losing its competitiveness as an employment location, which will
ultimately restrict future economic growth.
8.1.24 The proposed development prioritises the delivery of high-quality office floorspace which, given the
identified need within Brixton and due the site’s highly accessible location within a town centre, is
considered to make the best use of this highly accessible site. It would contribute to securing
greater provision of flexible office space suitable for SMEs, aid in meeting the city’s requirement for
affordable workspace, and attract visitors to the local area – all of which would stimulate the local
economy.
8.1.25 The proposal would also provide job opportunities for local residents, with many of these jobs
opportunities provided in line with those that unemployed borough residents are currently seeking.
The arrival of the proposed development into the local area would make the area more attractive,
offering future investors into the area encouragement that they would generate a positive return,
and acting as a potential catalyst for future investment.
8.1.26 Based on Census commuting patterns, it is estimated that circa 290 jobs at the proposed
development would go to local residents once operational. The benefits of the investment made
are not limited to the proposed development itself but have the potential to reach beyond its
boundary and into the surrounding local area.
8.1.27 The proposed development is located within an area of relatively high deprivation, with the
surrounding lower super output areas (LSOAs) falling within the 20% most deprived nationally. The
ward containing the proposed development (Coldharbour) was amongst the most deprived wards
in terms of income deprivation, employment deprivation and barriers to housing and services.
Given the deprivation present, regenerative impacts from the proposed development would be
particularly significant in enhancing the local environment. The anticipated 1,600 FTEs created at
the site of the proposed development once operational would be based in an area of relative
economic deprivation, addressing the target of increasing labour market participation with the direct
creation of employment. The proposal and its associated economic benefits should help contribute
to lowering deprivation in the income, employment, and living environment sub-domains, in which
the local area ranks poorly.
8.1.28 In addition to the workspace specifically targeting local businesses in the creative industry, the
workspace would be designed as business ‘incubator’ operations, which would be flexible and
hence able to accommodate small businesses of different sizes, allowing local businesses to
develop and flourish within the borough. The aspiration for the building, which is reflected within the
design, is to create an eco-system for all office businesses, who can scale up and grow within the
building, taking advantage of the opportunities resulting from clustering with other businesses of
different sizes.
8.1.29 A Workspace Strategy that identifies how the workspace would be designed to accommodate
different scales of businesses with particular reference to the types of spaces required to support
Brixton’s local economy including start-up, incubator and grow-on space for creative and digital
industries as well as an initial model ‘scale up’ strategy that shows how local businesses would be
able to develop and flourish within the development would be secured by way of a s106 legal
agreement.

Page 64
8.1.30 Overall, the provision of office (B1a) uses within the proposed development is considered to be
appropriate given the existing uses on the site and its location within Brixton and accords with
planning policies in both the London Plan (Policies 4.1 & 4.2), Intend to publish London Plan
(Policies E1 and E2) and the Local Plan (Policies ED2, ED3 & PN3).
Affordable Workspace
8.1.31 Policy E2 of the Intend to Publish version of the London Plan states that where more than
2,544sqm of Class B1 floorspace is proposed, the development should include flexible workspace
or smaller units suitable to micro-businesses and SMEs. Policy ED2 of the Draft Revised Local
Plan Submission Version also states that proposals for business uses should incorporate a range
of unit sizes and types that are well designed and flexible. The policy encourages applicants to
explore opportunities for the long term management of the units by a company specialising in
managing space for small businesses.
8.1.32 In the Brixton Creative Enterprise Zone (CEZ) where the site will sit states that developments
proposing at least 1000sqm (GIA) gross B1a office floorspace should provide 10 per cent of that
floorspace as affordable workspace for a period of 25 years with 50% of market rents.
8.1.33 The Brixton Economic Action Plan identifies affordable workspace as an area for action going
forward, citing that there is evidence of strong demand for flexible and affordable space that is
suitable for small businesses. The provision of this workspace also fulfils objectives set out in the
Draft Revised Local Plan Submission Version, to ‘support small businesses and entrepreneurs in
the early stages of development’, enhancing entrepreneurialism and economic activity in the local
area. The use of the workspace benefits Lambeth’s key target groups and creates an ecosystem for
local residents and businesses to progress through.
8.1.34 The proposal is offering 25,445sqm of B1a floorspace, and therefore affordable workspace should
be provided at 50 per cent of market rents. The applicant is proposing 10% of the B1 floorspace to
be provided as affordable workspace. This equates to a provision of circa 2,544sqm GIA of
affordable workspace for a period of 25 years with 50% of market rents.
8.1.35 It is the preference of the applicant to manage the affordable workspace. Their aspiration is to
manage the affordable workspace in partnership with Impact Brixton, who it is proposed would
operate the affordable workspace within the proposed development. Impact Brixton is a place to
call home for a diverse community of entrepreneurs, freelancers, dreamers, creators and social
change makers in South London. Launched in 2014 as a community workspace for mission-led
organisations, it has since become a home for community-led change, with projects such as the
People’s Fridge and Open Project Night bringing together people and organisations of all
backgrounds.
8.1.36 The proposal would provide flexible workspace suitable for micro, small and medium-sized
enterprises, in accordance with London Plan policy E2, and would provide a policy complaint
affordable workspace provision. The proposed uses of retail, community and office are considered
appropriate to assist in facilitating the aims of the site allocation (Site 16).
8.1.37 Overall the principle of the uses in this location is considered acceptable under Site Allocation 16
and policies PN3, part (b), ED3, part (a) (ED1 of the draft Local Plan) and ED6 of both the Local
Plan and the draft Local Plan and Policies E1, E2 and E3 of the Intend to Publish version of the
London Plan.

Page 65
8.2

Design and Conservation

8.2.1

Good design is central to all objectives of the London Plan and Lambeth Local Plan planning
policies. Policy 7.1 of the London Plan sets out a series of overarching design principles for
development in London. Policies 7.2, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 require that all new development be of high
quality that responds to the surrounding context and enhances the character, legibility, permeability
and accessibility of the surrounding neighbourhood. Policy 7.7 relates to the specific design issues
associated with tall and large-scale buildings. The Mayor's London View Management Framework
SPG (2012) identifies 27 strategic views in London for protection and management.

8.2.2

Policies Q5 and Q7 of the Local Plan seek to create high quality urban environments and state that
proposals will be supported where the design of development is a response to positive aspects of
the local context and historic character.

8.2.3

This section of the report considers design and conservation (heritage) matters arising from the
proposed development. It is set out under the following sub-headings:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

8.2.4

Demolition
Scale, massing, layout and appearance
Strategic and Local Views
Impact on heritage assets
Tall Building (design and townscape impacts)
Assessment of harm versus benefits

The Council’s Design and Conservation Team’s comments and those of the GLA and Historic
England have been incorporated into this section of the report.
Demolition

8.2.5

The site contains a large single storey building which was built as a supermarket in the 1960s.The
building is of limited architectural merit and no objection is raised to its removal.
Scale, massing, layout and appearance

8.2.6

The ground floor and first floors would be occupied by a covered market comprising a mix of retail,
commercial, creative and communal uses with the units organised along the façade facing the
market streets and accessed directly from them. The upper floors would be in office use with
affordable office space being provided at first and second floor levels. The ground and first floors
would be common to both with market space and retail units whilst the second and third floors are
linked by a 4 storey part that would connect the 2 blocks. A restaurant would be located on the top
floor of the East Block and would be accessed via a lift directly from the ground floor.

8.2.7

At basement level there would be two floors. The upper basement floor would contain a number of
facilities for both office and market users. Public toilets would be located in the western part of this
floor and would be accessible directly from the ground floor via a lift. Cycle storage is proposed for
office users and would be directly accessible from the ground floor via a dedicated lift. The storage
areas would be subdivided into two parts to accommodate all the parking spaces, and would be
connected to a corridor that leads to lockers and showers. These would be located on the eastern
part of the floor and directly connected to the office lifts to facilitate the circulation of users within
the building. The lower basement floor would contain plant equipment that serves both blocks. On
both roofs plant equipment is also proposed and this would be entirely concealed behind metal
screens specifically designed. A condition requiring full details of how this will be screened is
considered to be appropriate.

Page 66
8.2.8

Users would enter the building through common access points at ground floor level. Small and
informal lobbies for office workers are integrated within the market circulation. Both buildings would
be light-coloured brick, articulated with light grey concrete. At the upper levels of the tall building,
recessed terraces would be located at the east and west ends of the building, softening the profile
of the building on the skyline and adding interest through the robust expression of the building
structure and the soft and green character of the planting within. The building would have a clear
and distinctive top on the local skyline.
Building Alignment

8.2.9

Following amendments to the proposal, the front (western) elevation onto Popes Road would now
be set back by a further 2.5 metres from that originally proposed with a separation distance of 14m
now proposed from the facade of the building and that of the public convenience building opposite
and a distance of 21m (27m at the southern end) façade to façade between it and the three storey
office block located behind as shown in Figure 16 below. The proposed building would also be set
back from the viaducts to north and south to allow access for viaduct maintenance. It is envisaged
that the future uses in these arches (that are not within the application site) would front onto the
application site and would activate these linear viaduct spaces.

Figure 16 – Proposed Building Frontage Alignment
8.2.10 Pope’s Road is currently a constrained and intimate space even with the existing single storey
building. The proposed bulk and massing of the 20 storeys would radically change the character of
the space and as a result the setting of the space’s contribution to the significance of the BCA
would be harmed. The removal of the existing public conveniences building from Pope’s Road and
the re-provision of the conveniences within the basement of the development would help to
maximise the space provided at street level to lessen its overbearing impact and to create a new
much improved public realm that would support a range of uses and create a multi-functional,
inclusive useable public space. The removal and re-provision of the public toilets within the

Page 67
proposed development would be secured by s106.
8.2.11 The proposed building would have a double height undercroft facing Pope’s Road with diagonal
braces facing the new civic square. The applicant suggests that the undercroft area should be
counted as additional public realm. Whilst it certainly offers practical benefit to the proposed
building in terms of coming and going, it would be located beneath the building and would not be a
fully integrated part of the Popes Road because of the physical presence of the structural columns
and the building overhang and it could not be soft landscaped or planted with the main space
either. It is therefore considered secondary and, as a result, its wider public benefit beyond those
entering and exiting the proposed building is considered to be low. In order to address potential
concerns that the diagonal braces could be a hazard to pedestrians, especially the visually
impaired, a condition requiring the applicant to submit a permanent design solution for the
mitigation of any risk to pedestrians is considered to be appropriate.
Pedestrian routes and permeability
8.2.12 Site allocation 16, part (ii) within the Local Plan encourages new connections through the viaducts
and requires that the development “provides public realm improvements to Brixton Station Road to
include links to both the mainline and underground stations, the opening up of arches to provide
links to north-south routes east off Popes Road and potential links to Brixton Village”.
8.2.13 The applicant owns Brixton Market to the south of the site and one of the wider aspirations of this
proposal is to connect the new building to the listed market with a pedestrian link. This aspiration is
supported. However, (i) delivering this is not in the applicant’s gift as the railway arch between the
two is not held by them, (ii) the arch required is not within the red line boundary of the site, and (iii)
no listed building consent application accompanies this proposal. Given the above, only limited
weight is given to this as a public benefit because the new connection south is prepared for but not
actually delivered.
8.2.14 A northern connection halfway along the length of the site is also anticipated by the proposal. This
too is welcome. However, (i) delivering this is also not in the applicant’s gift as the railway arches
between the site and Brixton Station Road is not held by them and (ii) the arch required is not
within the red line boundary of the application site. Given the above, limited weight is also given to
this as a public benefit because the new connection north is prepared for but not actually delivered.
Notwithstanding this, the proposal does allow for possible connectivity to improve both the north
and south routes in the future and the applicant is actively exploring the possibility of purchasing
the required railway arches with Network Rail to facilitate these wider aspirations.
8.2.15 The existing covered markets provide an important contribution, both individually and collectively,
to pedestrian permeability with Reliance Arcade providing a link to Brixton Road and to Electric
Lane opposite the entrance to Market Row. Market Row then connects Electric Lane, Electric
Avenue, Coldharbour Lane and Atlantic Road opposite the entrance to Brixton Village, which links
Atlantic Road, Popes Road and Coldharbour Lane.
8.2.16 The proposed covered market anticipates future north to south connections but does not actually
deliver them. In the absence of such connections, the public realm benefits of the proposal are
limited as the wider public, such as those not wishing to shop or eat, are unlikely to enter the
development if there is no route through. As the internal routes would also not be as wide or as tall
as the streets within the historic markets nor would they be top lit along their full extent, its
attractiveness as a west to east thoroughfare would not replace the existing routes through the
listed markets.
8.2.17 Network Rail requires that new buildings are pulled back from railway viaducts to allow for
maintenance access. This requirement creates space for new pedestrian routes along both sides

Page 68
of the proposal although it should be noted that these routes are not included within the applicant’s
red line site. These routes are long and follow the curved alignment of the viaducts so visibility from
one end to the other is not possible. The proposed pedestrian routes along the viaduct (highlighted
in yellow) and the location of the proposed rear service yard (highlighted in red) are shown in
Figure 17 below.
8.2.18 The amended scheme now includes the ground floor shops having doors out onto these routes,
which is welcome. The revised elevations are, however, slightly ambiguous as the convention for
showing doors on elevations is to have dotted diagonal lines from the site they are hinged on. A
condition requiring full details of the section of the ground floor elevation facing the arches, to
include doors, is therefore considered to be appropriate and would allow for future access from the
shops directly onto these routes subject to the agreement of Network Rail.

Figure 17 – Anticipated pedestrian routes allow railway viaducts and service yard
8.2.19 The rows of railway arches to the north and south of the site are currently occupied by assorted
tenants and infilled with unattractive elevations. Given the occupancy and leases, it may be many
years before these railway arches come forward in an animated and attractive manner which would
make a safe pedestrian environment. This concern is shared by the Council’s independent DRP,
who commented as follows:
“The Panel is encouraged by the aspiration to open up the adjoining railway arches but notes that
this is beyond the scheme red line. The panel considers that a fall-back position needs to be
considered given it may be some time before active units and possible new links might come
forward”.
8.2.20 The GLA has raised similar concerns, commenting:
“The aspirations to improve permeability through the site, through connections to the existing
covered markets and enliven the east-west routes to the north and south of the development are
strongly supported. However, it is noted that these elements do not form part of the current
proposal and as such, there are concerns over the treatment of interface between the development
and the railway arches in the interim. The applicant is strongly encouraged to work closely with the
owners of the railway arches that bound the north and south of the site to ensure a comprehensive
and co-ordinated approach to development. This aspect is critical to the long-term success of the
scheme and the ability of the site to successfully stitch into the existing context and reach its full
potential”.
8.2.21 The applicant hopes to secure an additional arch to the north and one to the south to create
pedestrian access from Brixton Station Road through the site and south to connect into the Grade

Page 69
II listed Brixton Market and to Coldharbour Lane below. Notwithstanding this, the current ambiguity
around these routes – the separate ownership, the dead infill frontages within the viaduct arches,
the curved alignment (limited visibility) presents an issue in relation to Policy Q3, part a (i),
requiring proposals to “design out opportunistic crime, anti-social behaviour in a site-specific
manner, based on an understanding of the locality and likely crime and safety issues it presents”.
8.2.22 Similarly, Policy Q6, part (iii) is not met either, which requires “improved legibility, permeability and
convenient access via direct routes for all users (but avoiding alleyways and back lanes)”.
Furthermore, the presence of the service yard at the constrained eastern end of the site means
that public access through to Valentia Place would not be safe or desirable due to manoeuvring
service and delivery vehicles. This effectively means that the new viaduct routes will be dead ends
at their eastern end.
8.2.23 This concern was shared by the DRP, who commented as follows:
“The Panel were not convinced that the Valentia Place service area can accommodate through
pedestrian access in terms of a safe and attractive public realm. The panel consider that desire line
to Valentia Place is not a strong one and is unlikely to be safe without sufficient use anchors”.
8.2.24 Given the issues above, the new routes present potential risks to the public and their separate
ownership, it is considered that these routes should be gated and opened as part of a security and
Site Management Strategy until a safe, long term solution is secured and delivered. Such details
would be secured by condition.
Internal Space
8.2.25 The ground floor of the proposed building aims to be an extension of the Brixton Village market, both
in visual and scale terms with retail units distributed along the main circulation paths. The uses at
ground floor level would be mostly retail and restaurant (Class A1 and A3) uses with entrance
lobbies for the offices (Class B1a).
8.2.26 At first floor level, smaller units are proposed located around the main staircase and two larger
spaces to the east and west. These are intended to be a combination of retail, restaurant, office
(Classes A1/A3/B1) uses with dedicated community (Class D2) floorspace now incorporated.
Above this, the remaining storeys would accommodate office floorspace and a restaurant at eighth
floor level. The restaurant would include a terrace area and would be accessed via a lift from
ground floor level.
8.2.27 The central space within the proposed retail market also offers the potential as a community event
space. The central space would be double height space, top-lit with a central staircase and an
open area. The space sits within the main market circulation space, which also leads to the offices,
in a location where it is hoped to make the north and south connections through the railway
viaducts. Even without the north and south connections, the proposal would provide improved
permeability with pedestrians flowing west and east through the site and if the envisioned north and
south routes are delivered it will be a cross-road route.
Scale and Massing
8.2.28 Policy Q26 of the Local Plan provides local level guidance on the location of tall buildings and their
design, requiring them to: achieve design excellence; make a positive contribution to the
townscape and skyline; be of the highest standard of architecture and design; and have no adverse
impacts on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage assets including their settings.
8.2.29 The proposal meets policy Q26, part (a), (i) of the Local Plan because the application site is not in

Page 70
a location identified as ‘inappropriate’ for tall building development’. Annex 11 of the Local Plan
identifies this location as ‘sensitive to’ tall building development. This was due largely to its
constrained location between the viaducts, the close proximity to the boundary of the Brixton
Conservation Area and its visibility in views north along Electric Avenue.
8.2.30 In preparation for the draft revised Local Plan, the GLA advised that the use of the term ‘sensitive
to’ should not be continued. Going forward therefore only locations appropriate for tall buildings
were identified. The application site was not identified as appropriate for tall building development,
again due to its constrained location between the viaducts, the siting beside the boundary of the
Brixton Conservation Area and its visibility in views north along the locally listed Electric Avenue
within the Conservation Area.
8.2.31 Modelling undertaken by the Council’s Conservation and Design team has concluded that the
maximum height this site could reasonably accommodate without causing townscape and heritage
harm was 14 storeys (57m AOD). The original pre-application submission was for 21 storeys. The
applicant has reduced this to 20 storeys with changes to ceiling heights being made, which now
stands at 95.6m AOD. This is still some 38m taller than what the Council would consider to be a
‘no harm’ height in terms of heritage and townscape. It is a broad building too and the appearance
is slab-like when viewed from the North and South. This concern is shared by Historic England
which states ‘it is the scale and massing which are its inherent flaws.’
8.2.32 The GLA have given conditional support to the principle of a tall building on the site, commenting in
paragraph 27 of their Stage 1 response “Having regard to the town centre context and public
transport accessibility, the principle of the height and massing of the development is acceptable in
strategic planning terms subject to excellent architectural quality; a robust townscape, heritage and
urban design analysis (including daylight/sunlight testing and micro-climatic studies); and, high
quality public realm. The proposed building on the site has been sensitively designed, taking its
cue from the surrounding buildings, streets and spaces which provide the historic context of the
site. The scheme would respect the character, context and the form and scale of neighbouring
buildings and would sit comfortably within the streetscene and surrounding area. The appearance
and detailed façade treatment of the development is considered to be high quality, displaying an
appropriate response to the surrounding character.
Strategic and Local Views
8.2.33 Policy Q26, part (a), (ii) of the Local Plan states that tall building development will be supported
where ‘there is no adverse impact on the significance of strategic or local views or heritage assets
including their setting’.
8.2.34 The proposal would have no adverse impact on strategic views. Only one local view would be
affected by the proposal. That is panorama view (i) views N and NNE to the city from Brockwell
Park, which is a registered landscape, a public park and a conservation area. The views across the
borough’s roofscape terminate in distant city landmarks – St Paul’s Cathedral, London Eye etc. and
the tall buildings of Vauxhall and the City of London. The foreground point blocks (Herne Hill House
and Park View House) and slab block (Meath House) are considered to have a harmful impact on
the view due to their proximity, visual dominance and because they effectively block the view
northward. The viewpoint is the main elevated footpath which runs parallel to Dulwich Road.
8.2.35 Brixton is located close to Brockwell Park and the existing tall buildings (generally 10- 14 storeys)
are noticeable on the western side of the foreground / near middle ground of the view. The
proposed tower at 20 storeys will be much more prominent. It presents its broad southern elevation
to the view – thus its greatest bulk. Its proximity and bulk makes for a much more dominant
contribution to the view than anything in Brixton makes at present.

Page 71
8.2.36 The view is a kinetic one – the length of the path comprising the viewing location. This means that
the experience of any scheme will change when viewed from different locations on the path. As a
result foreground and middle ground proposals may obscure distant landmarks in some views from
the path.
8.2.37 The view management objective is harmony – where no one element should dominate the view or
block an appreciation of / compete with the landmarks. The proposal would cause harm because of
the dominant scale and proximity to the viewer. It introduces unwelcome visual competition with the
distant landmarks thus disrupting the view composition contrary to the objectives of Policy Q25,
part (a) “The Council will maintain a list of views of local interest and seek to protect their
composition and character from harm”. Given that harm to the significance of the view is identified,
the proposal does not meet the views test of Policy Q26, part (a), (ii).
Impact on heritage assets
8.2.38 The beginning of the Agenda Pack contains a summary of the legislative and national policy
context for the assessment of the impact of a development proposal on the historic environment
and its heritage assets. This is in addition to Lambeth Local Plan and London Plan policies.
8.2.39 Turning to consider the application of the legislative and policy requirements referred to above, the
first step is for the decision-maker to consider each of the designated heritage assets (referred to
hereafter simply as “heritage assets”) which would be affected by the proposed development (the
applicant should describe the significance of the heritage assets affected) in turn and assess
whether the proposed development would result in any harm to the heritage asset.
8.2.40 The decision of the Court of Appeal in Barnwell Manor confirms that the assessment of the degree
of harm to the heritage asset is a matter for the planning judgement of the decision-maker.
8.2.41 However, where the decision-maker concludes that there would be some harm to the heritage
asset, in deciding whether that harm would be outweighed by the advantages of the proposed
development (in the course of undertaking the analysis required by s.70 (2) of the TCPA 1990 and
s.38 (6) of the PCPA 2004, the decision-maker is not free to give the harm such weight as the
decision-maker thinks appropriate. Rather, Barnwell Manor establishes that a finding of harm to a
heritage asset is a consideration to which the decision-maker must give considerable importance
and weight in carrying out the balancing exercise.
8.2.42 There is therefore a “strong presumption” against granting planning permission for development
which would harm a heritage asset. In the Forge Field case the High Court explained that the
presumption is a statutory one. It is not irrefutable. It can be outweighed by material considerations
powerful enough to do so. But a local planning authority can only properly strike the balance
between harm to a heritage asset on the one hand and planning benefits on the other if it is
conscious of the statutory presumption in favour of preservation and if it demonstrably applies that
presumption to the proposal it is considering.
8.2.43 The case-law also establishes that even where the harm identified is less than substantial (i.e. falls
within paragraph 196 of the NPPF), that harm must still be given considerable importance and
weight.
8.2.44 Where more than one heritage asset would be harmed by the proposed development, the decisionmaker also needs to ensure that when the balancing exercise in undertaken, the cumulative effect
of those several harms to individual assets is properly considered. Considerable importance and
weight must be attached to each of the harms identified and to their cumulative effect.
8.2.45 What follows is an officer assessment of the extent of harm which would result from the proposed

Page 72
development. This includes Conservation Areas and neighbouring Listed Buildings. Both an
individual assessment against each heritage asset as well a cumulative assessment is provided.
This is then followed by an assessment of the heritage benefits of the proposal.
8.2.46 Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 impose a
statutory duty on planning authorities to safeguard the special interest of listed buildings and their
settings. Section 72 of the Act imposes a statutory duty on planning authorities to preserve or
enhance the character and appearance of conservation areas.
8.2.47 Where harm is caused to a heritage asset, the NPPF requires decision makers to determine
whether the harm is substantial, or less than substantial. If the harm is deemed to be less than
substantial, paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires the harm to be weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal, including securing the optimum viable use of the heritage asset.
8.2.48 If the harm is substantial, or results in a total loss of significance, paragraph 195 states that local
authorities should refuse consent unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm or loss, or all four of the
following criteria apply: the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site;
and no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through appropriate
marketing that will enable its conservation; and conservation by grant-funding or some form of not
for profit charitable or public ownership is demonstrably not possible; and the harm or loss is
outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.
8.2.49 Policy 7.8 of the London Plan and Policies Q20 and Q22 of the Local Plan explain that
development should identify, value, conserve, restore, reuse and incorporate heritage assets,
where appropriate. Policy Q20 requires developments affecting a listed building to not diminish the
buildings “ability to remain viable in use in the long term” and not harm the significance/setting
(including views to and from) listed buildings.
8.2.50 Policy Q26, part (a), (ii) seeks to protect the significance and settings of heritage assets from tall
building development in a similar way that policies Q19 (world heritage sites), Q20 (statutory listed
buildings (Q21) registered landscapes, Q22 (conservation areas) and Q23 (Local heritage Lists)
do.
8.2.51 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF advises that “when considering the impact of a proposed development
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than
substantial harm to its significance”. Paragraph 194 further advises that “any harm to, or loss of,
the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification”.
8.2.52 A detailed Heritage Impact Analysis has been submitted with the application which provides a total
of 26 views that have been assessed. The majority of these have some heritage content or context.
The impact on Heritage Assets, including listed buildings in proximity of the site, conservation
areas and locally listed buildings/structures is considered in detail below making reference to the
views provided.
Setting of Designated Heritage Assets
St Matthew’s Church, Brixton Hill (Grade II*)
8.2.53 St Matthew’s is one of four ‘Waterloo churches’ built in Lambeth in the 1820s. It has architectural,
historical and communal value (as a place of worship) and as a Grade II * listed building it is in the

Page 73
top 8% of all listed buildings nationally. It was listed in 1951.
8.2.54 St Matthew’s occupies a prominent churchyard at a junction in a key location in the civic heart of
Brixton and its tower is a striking local landmark. In the view from Brixton Hill at Sudborne Road
(View 10), the tower of Brixton’s landmark St Matthew’s Church (Grade II* listed) is visible through
the trees and the roof of the church marks a strong horizontal roofscape. The proposal rises behind
the roof of the Grade II* listed church and its introduction into this view challenges the primacy of
the church tower. If the viewer was on the east side of the street the proposal would appear closer
to the church and from within Rush Common the proposal might well over-lap with the church
tower. The result is a negative effect on the setting of the Grade II* listed church.
8.2.55 In the view from Brixton Hill at Brook House (View 11), the principal building in the view and one of
the key landmarks within the Brixton Conservation Area. The proposal appears beyond the
principal façade portico of the church. The proposal is as high as the ridge of the pediment and
viewed obliquely (seen at its broadest). The proposal is large and dominant in this view and
competes with the church principal façade. If the viewer was slightly further south the two would
overlap. The visual competition of a modern landmark results in a negative effect on setting of the
grade II* listed building. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
8.2.56 In the view from Brixton Hill at the Civic Centre (View 12), the church is visible on the right side of
the view. The proposal appears beyond the principal façade portico of the church. The proposal is
as high as the ridge of the pediment and viewed obliquely (seen at its broadest). The proposal
(shown only in wireline) is a significant, dominant presence through the trees and in terms of bulk,
scale and mass it is at odds with the low-rise historic townscape. The proposal would have a
negative effect on the setting of St Matthew’s Church in this view. This is considered to be less
than substantial harm.
8.2.57 Overall, the negative effects to the setting of the Grade II* listed church as identified above are
considered to be contrary to the policy aspirations of policy Q26 (a) (ii) and policy Q20 (ii) (setting
of statutory listed buildings). This view is shared by Historic England who have also reached a
similar conclusion stating that the effect on the setting is ‘low-moderate’ harm. The Council
consider this to be less than substantial harm.
Lambeth Town Hall (Grade II)
8.2.58 The Town Hall has architectural, historical and communal value (as the seat of local government)
and its prominent tower makes it an important landmark in central Brixton. In the view from Acre
Lane at Porden Road (View 14), the more impressive tower of Lambeth Town Hall (LTH) which can
be glimpsed to the right. Currently the low buildings on the north side of Acre Lane (generally three
storeys in height) create a strong sense of perspective towards the town centre. This is heightened
slightly by the ground sloping away too. It is fairly undistinguished townscape – no one building
stands out until the distant junction with Brixton Road / Brixton Hill which is announced by the
green dome of Nos. 518 to 522 Brixton Road (Locally Listed) and, should the viewer move slightly,
the Town Hall Tower.
8.2.59 The proposal adds a significant and prominent bulk to the skyline. It is large scale and dominant. If
the view moves northward the Town Hall tower becomes a prominent terminating feature. In that
view, the proposal will be visible with the LTH. The proposal would be of a competitive form in
relation to the LTH tower. Together they frame the view down Acre Lane. However, as a landmark
listed building and as a marker for the principal civic function of the Borough the primacy of the
Town Hall tower is diminished – a negative effect on the setting results. This is considered to be
less than substantial harm.

Page 74
Tate Library, Brixton Oval (Grade II)
8.2.60 The library is a late 19th Century library building fronting a key spacious public square in central
Brixton. It has architectural, historical and communal value. In the view from Brixton Hill at the
Lambeth Civic Centre (View 12), the library can be glimpsed through the trees in a homogenous
low-rise townscape setting. The proposal (shown only in wireline) is a significant, dominant
presence through the trees and in terms of bulk, scale and mass it is at odds with the low-rise
historic townscape. Whilst the trees screen in this particular viewpoint, should the viewer move
across the road eastward into St Matthew’s churchyard the Town Hall tower would be highly visible
and equally so from where Windrush Square meets Saltoun Road. Here it will rise dominantly to
the right of the Tate Library. Furthermore, back on Brixton Hill, should viewer move further along
the road the proposal will reveal itself behind the trees. As a striking vertical element in an
otherwise low-rise context it will be excessively dominant. The effect on the setting of the library will
be negative. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.

Figure 18 – Proposed View from Brixton Hill at Lambeth Town Hall
8.2.61 In the view from Brixton Hill at Lambeth Town Hall (View 13 as shown in Figure 18 above), low rise
buildings enclose a spacious road junction. Just behind the tree sits the Tate Library (Grade II)
which would be much more visible when the tree is not in leaf. The Library and the other buildings
(including Lambeth Town Hall behind the viewer) frame and define the junction and share common
characteristic of low form – 2 – 3 storeys and traditional architecture. There is a broad, clear sky
above. The proposal introduces a boxy, skyline form in the centre right of the view. It visually
competes with and draws the eye from the low rise buildings including Tate Library. The effect
distracts the eye from the listed building. The effect on the setting is negative. This is considered to
be less than substantial harm.
The Ritzy Cinema (Grade II)
8.2.62 The building is a purpose-built Edwardian cinema located prominently on a spacious square in
Central Brixton. It has architectural, historical and communal interest. In the view from Brixton Hill
at the Lambeth Civic Centre (View 12), the Ritzy is seen through the trees in a homogenous lowrise townscape setting. The proposal (shown only in wireline) is a significant, dominant presence
through the trees and in terms of bulk, scale and mass it is at odds with the low-rise historic
townscape. Whilst the trees screen in this particular viewpoint, should the viewer move across the
road eastward into the northern corner of St Matthew’s Peace Garden (by the Budd Mausoleum)
the proposal will rise dominantly to the Behind the Ritzy much in the same way it does behind the
Tate Library in Images 19 and 20. The effect on the setting of the Ritzy Cinema will be negative.
This is considered to be less than substantial harm.

Page 75

8.2.63 In the view from Brixton Hill at the Lambeth Town Hall (View 13), low rise buildings enclose a
spacious road junction. Just behind the tree The Ritzy is more visible when the tree is not in leaf.
The Ritzy Cinema and other buildings (including Lambeth Town Hall behind the viewer) frame and
define the junction and share common characteristic of low form – 2 – 3 storeys and traditional
architecture. There is a broad, clear sky above. The proposal introduces a boxy, skyline form in the
centre right of the view. It visually competes with and draws the eye from the low-rise buildings
including Ritzy. The effect distracts the eye from the listed building. The effect on the setting is
negative. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
The Budd Mausoleum (Grade II*)
8.2.64 The mausoleum is a striking funeral monument prominently located at a spacious junction in
central Brixton. It is a local landmark – appreciated ‘in the round’. It has architectural and historic
interest. As a Grade II* listed building it is in the top 8% of listed buildings nationally. In the view
from Brixton Hill at the Lambeth Civic Centre (View 12), the general character is of spaciousness
with relatively low-rise historic townscape punctuated by towers and domes. In this view, the Budd
Mausoleum nestles in the middle ground trees. The proposal (shown only in wireline) is a
significant, dominant presence through the trees and in terms of bulk, scale and mass it is at odds
with the low-rise historic townscape. Whilst the trees screen in this particular viewpoint, should the
viewer move across the road eastward into St Matthew’s churchyard the Town Hall tower would be
highly visible. Furthermore, back on Brixton Hill, should viewer move further along the road the
proposal will reveal itself behind the trees. As a striking vertical element in an otherwise low-rise
context it will be dominant. There will be clear visual competition – the eye drawing from the Ritzy
Cinema towards the dominant, high level proposal beyond. The effect on the setting is negative.
This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
8.2.65 In the view from Brixton Hill at the Lambeth Town Hall (View 13), low rise buildings enclose a
spacious road junction. Just behind the tree The Ritzy is more visible when the tree is not in leaf.
The Ritzy Cinema and other buildings (including Lambeth Town Hall behind the viewer) frame and
define the junction and share common characteristic of low form – 2 – 3 storeys and traditional
architecture. There is a broad, clear sky above. The proposal introduces a boxy, cube-like form in
the centre right of the view. It visually competes with and draws the eye from the low-rise buildings
including Ritzy. Should the viewer move to Windrush Square at Rushcroft Road or south up Effra
Road the proposal will be viewed in the immediate backdrop of the Budd Mausoleum. The effect
distracts the eye from the listed building. The effect on the setting is negative. This is considered to
be less than substantial harm.
Brockwell Park
8.2.66 The park is a significant Registered Landscape to the south of Brixton. It occupies a prominent
hillside location and contains a number of designated heritage assets including a Grade II* listed
mansion and Grade II listed lido. The landscape is extensive and generally low-rise development
around its perimeter has helped it retain much of its sylvan, semi-rural character. That said, the
elevated location means there are extensive views to the N and NNE across Lambeth to the wider
city. This positive aspect of its setting – the juxtaposition of sylvan landscape and distant city – is
popular with users and recognised as an important local view. The foreground point blocks (Herne
Hill House and Park View House) and slab block (Meath House) are considered to have a harmful
impact on the setting of the registered landscape due to their proximity, visual dominance and
because they effectively block the views northward.
8.2.67 The proposal will be dominant in the middle grounds and, as identified in the views section (see
paras 5.47 – 5.50) will have an adverse impact on the local view. This is an extensive landscape
and this view is only one aspect of the setting. However, this northern side is the busiest side of

Page 76
the landscape and part of the main route up and down to the Grade II* Mansion. Therefore, it is
reasonable to give a little more weight to this aspect of the landscape’s setting. The proposal,
because of its large, dominant form in the middle ground, would introduce a low degree of harm to
the setting of the registered landscape. The effect is very low negative. The result is a very low
level of less than substantial harm.
Ruskin Park
8.2.68 The park is a registered landscape to the east of Brixton. It is large and characterised by
landscaped areas, built features and areas of playing field. There are significant mature trees,
Grade II listed and locally listed structures. The northern side of the park is dominated by the untidy
built forms of the Kings College Hospital Complex which is considered to harm the setting.
Generally the western, eastern and southern settings are enclosed by suburban houses lining the
perimeter and fairly low rise development beyond. This adds to the spacious landscaped effect and
is a positive aspect of the setting.
8.2.69 The proposal will stand head and shoulders above the low-rise context in views across the
southern part of Ruskin Park. The result is a small degree of visual competition with the
introduction of a vertical form into an otherwise spacious, low-rise landscape context. However, the
proposal is distant and the effect is only really noticeable only when the trees are not in leaf. For
the most part, the scheme would rarely be visible from within the main, northern part of the
landscape which contains the historically designated elements and landscape features. The impact
on the setting of the registered landscape as a whole is considered to be neutral. No harm would
therefore result.
The Brixton Conservation Area
8.2.70 Brixton Conservation Area (BCA) is a sizeable town centre conservation area. The town centre
itself is focused around the intersection of main routes - Brixton Hill / Brixton Road (aligned north to
south) and Acre Lane / Coldharbour Lane (aligned west to east). The dense, urban commercial
part of the town centre and BCA is to the north of this junction and a spacious, leafy, civic character
area lies to the south of the junction. This civic character area has a high number of heritage
assets which are important positive contributions to the character of the area.
8.2.71 The principal approach into the conservation area form the south (down Brixton Hill) is captured in
a sequence of views provided with the application. In the view from Brixton Hill at Sudborne Road
(View 10) looking north, the location is at the northern end of the Brixton Hill and Rush Common
Conservation Area (BHRCCA) looking into the Brixton CA (BCA). This is the principal route within
the conservation area which is lined by mostly 19th Century buildings and protected common land.
Rush Common open space occupies the foreground. A winter view has been provided with the
application. The tower of Brixton’s landmark St Matthew’s Church (Grade II* listed) is visible
through the trees and the roof of the church marks a strong horizontal roofscape.
8.2.72 The proposal rises behind the roof of the grade II* listed church and its introduction into this view
challenges the primacy of the church tower as a key landmark making the entry into the BCA. If
the viewer was on the east side of the street the proposal would appear closer to the church and
from within Rush Common the proposal will over-lap with the church tower. When considered ‘in
the round’ from the vicinity of this view location we consider it to be a negative effect on the setting
of the BCA. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
8.2.73 In the view from Brixton Hill at Brook House (View 11), the location is on the southern edge of the
BCA. St Matthew’s Church (Grade II*) is the principal building in the view and one of the key
landmarks within the BCA. The proposal appears beyond the principal façade portico of the church.
The proposal is as high as the ridge of the pediment and viewed obliquely (seen at its broadest).

Page 77
8.2.74 The proposal is large and dominant in this view and competes with the church principal façade. If
the viewer was slightly further south the two would overlap. The church has been a principal
landmark in Brixton for nearly 200 years. The visual competition of a modern tower block results in
a negative impact on setting of the setting of the BCA. This is considered to be less than
substantial harm.
8.2.75 In the view from Brixton Hill at the Lambeth Civic Centre (View 12), the location is within the BCA.
This is very much the civic heart of the BCA and there is a high concentration of heritage assets.
The general character is of spaciousness with relatively low-rise historic townscape punctuated by
historic towers and domes. St Matthew’s Church (Grade II*) is visible on the right. The open space
beyond is its historic graveyard – Brixton Peace Gardens – the piers and railings of which are
Grade II listed. The brown façade in the middle distance is No.467-469 Brixton Road (Locally
Listed). Through the trees are the Budd Monument (Grade II), the Ritzy Cinema (Grade II) and
Tate Library (Grade II). To the left of the view the façade of Lambeth Town Hall (Grade II) can be
glimpsed and the green dome beyond is No. 518 to 522 Brixton Road (Locally Listed). The
proposal appears beyond the principal façade portico of the church. The proposal is as high as the
ridge of the pediment and viewed obliquely (seen at its broadest).
8.2.76 The proposal (shown only in wireline) is a significant, dominant presence through the trees and in
terms of bulk, scale and mass it is at odds with the low-rise historic townscape. The effect will be
similar from much of Windrush Square / Effra Road. As a striking vertical element in an otherwise
low-rise context it will be very dominant. It is considered a negative impact results to the setting of
the BCA and would result in less than substantial harm.
8.2.77 In the view from Brixton Hill at Lambeth Town Hall (View 13 and 13N), the location is in the heart of
the civic character area of the BCA looking across the spacious intersection where Coldharbour
Lane, Brixton Hill, Effra Road and Brixton Road meet. This is the most spacious road junction
within the BCA. The building on the left with the impressive dome is No 522 Brixton Road (locally
listed), the foreground building in dark brick with cream piers is No. 467 Brixton Road (locally
listed), the Ritzy Cinema (Grade II) is the grown and white façade and just behind the tree sits the
Tate Library (Grade II) which would be much more visible when the tree is not in leaf. These
buildings, along with Lambeth Town Hall (behind the viewer) frame and define the junction and
share common characteristic of low form – 2 – 3 storeys and traditional architecture. The basic
composition of the view is that of a central horizontal form of middle ground buildings flanked by
the dome to the left and the tree to the right. There is a broad, clear sky.
8.2.78 The proposal introduces a boxy, cube-like form in the centre right of the view. It visually competes
with the historic buildings enclosing this important space. The result is a negative effect to the
setting of the BCA. There is considered to less than substantial harm to the designated heritage
assets.
8.2.79 The assessment in para 5.108 – 5.116 explored the visual impacts on the setting of the CA when
viewed from the southern side of the conservation area. The conclusion is a negative effect on the
setting due to the very high visibility and dominant appearance of the proposal over the special
civic character area which is a key component of the conservation area.
8.2.80 In the view from Acre Lane at Porden Road (View 14), the location is looking north east towards
Brixton town centre. The view location is looking into the BCA (ahead). Currently the low buildings
on the north side of Acre Lane (generally three storeys in height and within the CA) create a strong
sense of perspective towards the town centre. This is heightened slightly by the ground sloping
away. It is fairly undistinguished townscape – no one building stands out until distant junction with
Brixton Road / Brixton Hill which is announced by the green dome of Nos. 518 to 522 Brixton Road
(Locally Listed) and by the more impressive tower of Lambeth Town Hall (LTH)(Grade II) which can
be glimpsed to the right.

Page 78
8.2.81 The proposal adds a significant and prominent bulk to the skyline. It is large scale and dominant.
Moderate adverse harm results to the BCA and the setting of No. 518 to 522 Brixton Road (Locally
Listed) which is overwhelmed by the immediately adjoining bulk of proposal. The result is a
negative effect on the setting of the BCA. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
8.2.82 The following views are within the part of the conservation area north of the junction with Brixton
Hill / Brixton Road and Acre Lane / Coldharbour Lane. The townscape here is generally more
intimate and enclosed. Again, the character is that of a low-rise historic urban environment with no
single building playing a dominant role in townscape terms. This is a key characteristic of the
conservation area. The viewer is moving closer to the application site and given the intimacy of the
townscape there will be location where the proposal is screened by foreground buildings.
However, given its scale, there will be other instances where it appears over the top of existing
buildings and in townscape gaps. Whether or not the effect is adverse comes down to the degree
of the effect.
8.2.83 In views from Brixton Station Road (Views 19 and 19A), these are within the BCA. The viewer is
looking east from Brixton Road (the main road) as shown in Figure 19 below. The view location,
foreground shops and railway viaduct are within the BCA. Brixton Recreation Centre (BRC) is in
the centre of the view (outside the BCA). At present, the relatively low viaduct and shops enclose
the street and channel the eye beyond the BRC to clear sky beyond. No one element is dominant
in the townscape.

Figure 19 – Proposed View from Brixton Station Road looking east
8.2.84 The proposal is viewed obliquely. Both tall the element and slab element are visible. The bold
articulation at the top of the building is eye catching. The proposal is very much the dominant form
in the view. In this view location the viaduct structure provides a degree of screening. However,
should the viewer move to the left (northward) the whole 20 storey tower will be revealed. A similar
visual impact is seen from where Dorrell Place meets Brixton Road a little to the South West. The
top storeys would be clearly visible rising over the rooftops of the properties enclosing the East
side of Brixton Road within the heart of the BCA. There would be a negative effect on the setting of
the BCA due the sheer dominance of form and appearance. This is considered to be less than
substantial harm.

Page 79
8.2.85 In the view from Brixton Road at Max Roach Park (View 20) this is looking south towards Brixton
Town Centre. The view location is within the Brixton Road and Angell Town Conservation Area
(DRATCA). However, the buildings viewed enclosing the south side of the Park are within the
Brixton Conservation Area. Chartham Court and International House are already visible rising
above the historic. The proposal appears as a significant mass behind the trees. In viewed from
within the park it will appear as distant element behind the CA housing on St John’s Crescent. This
is one of the places where the emerging Local Plan tall buildings locations for Brixton will be visible
– International House and Canterbury Arms / Pop Brixton- rising to 65m. If developed, these
schemes would appear in front of the 95m proposal and partially screen it from view. When the
view moves around Max Roach Park these buildings and the application site would appear as a
cluster. Given the above the effect on the setting of the Brixton Conservation Area from this locality
is neutral.

Figure 20 – Proposed View from Brixton Station Road looking west
8.2.86 In the view from Atlantic Road at Vining Street (View 23 and 23a as shown in Figure 21 below),
the view location is within the BCA. Very similar foreground buildings to left and right framing the
view are the principal feature in the view currently. The left building - No.54-56 Atlantic Road is
locally listed. Beyond, over the viaduct the Grade II listed BRC can be glimpsed so too can the
frontage of Brixton Village (Grade II) to the right. Neither statutory building plays an important
townscape role in this view.
8.2.87 The proposal’s breadth and height present as a dominant slab, the effect of which is heightened by
the repetitive fenestration grid and the symmetrical treatment. The absence of screening middle
ground buildings (the single storey listed market are screened by the viaduct) further emphasises
the dominance. The effect is oppressive and dominant on the setting of the BCA. The effect on
setting is negative. This is considered to result in less than substantial harm.
8.2.88 In the views from Electric Avenue (Views 24 and 25), the proposal is not visible at the western end
or central section of Electric Avenue. However, it is visible in View 26 (Electric Avenue) where
Electric Avenue bends northwards towards the site. The properties lining both sides are locally
listed. The Avenue was immortalised by Eddie Grant’s 1982 top 10 hit by the same name. In many

Page 80
ways it is the heart of Brixton.

Figure 21 – Proposed View from Atlantic Road at junction with Vining Street

Figure 22 – Proposed View from Electric Avenue
8.2.89 The Avenue’s curved alignment northwards at its east end pretty much aligns it with the southern
end of Popes Road. The street itself is pedestrian priority and provides the main body of Brixton’s
famous street market within the BCA. As one progresses from the West (off Brixton Road) the
architecture on the South side of the Avenue follows the cure with a gracious sweep northward.

Page 81
The result is great townscape with a strong sense of enclosure channelling the views forward.
8.2.90 In the view from the south side looking North East along Electric Avenue (View 26) towards the
site, there are currently the locally listed buildings (Nos. 31- 43 and 28 – 38) framing either side of
the Avenue that channel the eye to the railway bridges at the end of the street. The existing
buildings provide a balanced composition with the street market occupying the foregrounds.
8.2.91 The proposal has a dramatic effect when introduced at the end of the Avenue. It is presented
obliquely and provides a visual termination for the vista. There is a degree of drama in the
townscape contribution here as a result of the proposal’s orientation and height. The layering of the
foreground railway bridges reinforces this.
8.2.92 However, the combination of the height and the bold structural treatment of the upper floors of the
West elevation draws the eye upward. Rather than the foreground historic market and locally listed
buildings being the focal point of the view the viewer’s eyes are automatically drawn upwards to the
rooftop of the proposal. This architectural and townscape dominance is to the detriment of the built
character of Electric Avenue’s locally listed buildings and to the detriment of the bustling, historic
street market. The effect would actually worsen should the viewer move left – then the building will
fill the entire view. The effect on the setting of the BCA is negative. This is considered to be less
than substantial harm.
8.2.93 At the closest viewpoint within the BCA to the application proposal (View 26), the viewer will be
able to continue northward along Electric Avenue to the junction with Atlantic Road and onto Popes
Road – all within the BCA. The adverse dominant effect of the proposal would become greater as
the viewer nears the proposal. The oppressive bulk, scale and mass of the proposal would have a
negative effect the setting of the BCA at Popes Road. This is considered to be less than substantial
harm.
8.2.94 In summary, the proposal would be the predominant built form when viewed from much of the
Brixton Conservation Area (BCA). It would introduce an unwelcome visual competition to the
historic civic character area south of Acre Lane/ Coldharbour Lane and to the north it would be
oppressively dominant and distracting. The effects on setting are overwhelmingly negative.
Cumulatively this is considered to cause less than substantial harm to the setting.
Brixton Road and Angell Town Conservation Area
8.2.95 This conservation area is characterised by early 19th Century residential development lining the
arterial road into London (Brixton Road). It includes fragments of the Angell Town Estate which
followed later. The conservation area contains a high concentration of grade II listed Regency
houses lining Brixton Road. In townscape terms views up and down Brixton Road are important.
8.2.96 In the view from Brixton Road (View 1), the location is within the Brixton Road and Angell Town
Conservation Area (BRATCA) and the view is looking south towards central Brixton. The proposal
appears as a distant tall building terminating the vista down Brixton Road. There is no harm to the
setting of the BRATCA in this view.
8.2.97 In the view from Brixton Road at Max Roach Park (View 20), the location is looking south towards
Brixton Town Centre. The view location is within the BRATCA. However, the buildings viewed
enclosing the south side of the Park are within the Brixton Conservation Area. The tops of
Chartham Court and International House (tall buildings in Brixton town centre) can be glimpsed in
this vicinity but are not visible in this particular view. The proposal appears as a significant mass
behind the trees. The winter tree branches provide fairly good screening. In the summer the
proposal will be invisible. Given this is the very southern end of the BRATCA and given the tree
screening we consider no harm to the setting of the BRATCA in this view. In summary, the effect of
the proposal on the Brixton Road and Angell Town Conservation Area would be neutral.

Page 82
Brockwell Park Conservation Area
8.2.98 The Brockwell Park Conservation Area comprises the park itself and perimeter housing. The effect
on the significance of the conservation area to be similar to that of the effect on Brockwell Park as
a registered landscape. The proposal would have a negative impact and this is considered to be
low less than substantial harm.
Ferndale Road Conservation Area
8.2.99 In the view from Ferndale Road (View 18) the viewer is looking out of the Ferndale CA with the
main body of the CA behind them. The proposal is seen as a distant form nestling in with the
middle ground development and no harm would result to the setting of the conservation area.
Loughborough Park Conservation Area (LPCA)
8.2.100 The LPCA is a mid-19th Century suburb of smart middle-class housing. It is focused around a
triangle of roads – Coldharbour Lane, Loughborough Park and Moorland Road. In the view from
Coldharbour Lane (View 3) the location is within the LPCA. The proposal is not visible. Moving to
the junction of Moorland Road and Coldharbour lane the proposal would be visible. In this view, the
anticipated 65m tall buildings at International House and Pop Brixton are unlikely to be visible. The
proposal would have a solitary and dominant appearance in this view. The effect is negative on the
setting and would result in less than substantial harm.
Minet Conservation Area (MCA)
8.2.101 The MCA comprises of 19th Century housing – the majority of properties being late 19th Century in
date and focused around Myatts Fields Park which is a registered landscape containing listed and
locally listed buildings.
8.2.102 In the view from Knatchbull Road (View 2), the location is from within the MCA. The proposal
appears as a distant form above the low rooftop of the Minet Library. The view location is on the
east side of the street and as a result the foreground buildings partially obscure the proposal. On
the western side of the street, the brick palette would help blend the building into the backdrop to a
degree but it will not have a noticeable presence. The effect on the setting of the Minet
conservation Area is neutral and no harm would occur.
Rush Common and Brixton Hill CA (RCBHCA)
8.2.103 The RCBHCA is focused along the Brixton Hill arterial road and a broad area of 19 th Century
housing to its East. Rush Common is a protected open space which links largely within the
confines of the CA and continues to the Brixton Conservation Area.
8.2.104 In the view from Brixton Hill at Sudborne Road (View 10), the location is at the northern end of the
Brixton Hill and Rush Common CA (BHRCCA) looking into the Brixton CA (BCA). This is the
principal route within the conservation area which is lined by mostly 19th Century buildings and
protected common land.
8.2.105 Rush Common open space occupies the foreground. The applicant has provided a winter view.
The tower of Brixton’s landmark St Matthew’s Church (Grade II* listed) (designated heritage asset)
is visible through the trees and the roof of the church marks a strong horizontal roofscape.
8.2.106 The proposal rises behind the roof of the Grade II* listed church and its introduction into this view
challenges the primacy of the church tower as a landmark in the setting of the BHRCCA. If the
viewer was on the east side of the street the proposal would appear closer to the church and from

Page 83
within Rush Common the proposal might well over-lap with the church tower.
8.2.107 Whilst it is acknowledged that this conservation area is a large one and that the impact is only at
this one end, St Mathew’s Church is an important local landmark on the main arterial road within
the conservation area and the rush common open space is an attractive and popular one within the
conservation area too. The church makes an important contribution to the conservation area even
in this relatively small area. With this in mind, a very low degree of negative impact to the setting of
the BHRCCA would occur. This is considered to be less than substantial harm.
Trinity Gardens Conservation Area (TGCA)
8.2.108 The TGCA is largely of 19th century and early 20th century date. The mid-19th Century buildings
present include alms houses and substantial villas along Acre Lane with the principal focus being
Trinity Gardens itself with its attractive mid-19th Century terraces enclosing a protected garden
square. The low-rise setting of the conservation area generally allows the buildings within the
conservation area to be the primary focus of views within it.
8.2.109 The View 15 (Trinity Gardens South (View 15) the view location is within the TGCA) from edge of
Trinity Gardens open space which lends its name to the conservation area. The row of properties
in the view are Locally Listed Nos.60-64 (consecutive) Trinity Gardens.
8.2.110 The proposal is perceived as a distant form terminating the vista down Brighton Terrace.
Foreground trees would provide screening when in leaf. However, as this winter view shows the
proposal’s height and bold concrete framing catch the eye and introduce some visual competition
within the setting of the conn area. This is a very low negative effect on the setting of the TGCA
and is considered to be less than substantial harm.
8.2.111 In the view from Trinity Gardens South (View 16), the location is within the TGCA. The row of
properties to the left are locally Listed Nos. 49-53 (consecutive) Trinity Gardens. The row of
properties ahead in the view are Locally Listed Nos. 60-64 (consecutive) Trinity Gardens. The
proposal is just visible over the rooftops of nos. 60-64 (consecutive) Trinity Gardens – breaking
their uniform roofline. The impact is considered to be negative with less than substantial harm
identified.
Setting of Undesignated Heritage Assets
8.2.112 Locally listed buildings are selected for their A (architectural), B (historical), C (historic connectionpeople and events), D (townscape value) or E (rarity). The locally listed buildings affected by the
proposal are identified in Table 2 below:
Address
Nos. 54-56 Atlantic Rd
Nos.467-469 Brixton Rd
Nos. 518 to 522 Brixton Rd
Nos. 31- 43 Electric Ave
Nos. 28 – 38 Electric Ave
Nos. 60-64 Trinity Gardens

Heritage values
B,C,D
A, D
A,B,D
A, B,D
A, B,D
A, B, D

Views
23 and 23a
12 and 13
12 and 14
26
26
15 and 16

Table 2 – Locally listed building affected by the proposal
8.2.113 All of the affected undesignated heritage assets have been designated for their townscape value –
the positive role they play in the street scene. This generally makes them positive contributors to
the conservation areas in most instances too. In all the identified cases above, the effect of the
proposal comes from its physical dominance and the visual competition it introduces into the

Page 84
townscape – shifting the focus from the local heritage asset to the proposal. This results in harm to
the settings of these undesignated heritage assets.
Tall Buildings – Design Excellence and High Standards of architecture
8.2.114 Policy Q26 seeks to support schemes where: ‘(iii) Design excellence is achieved in terms of form,
silhouette, materials, detailing etc.)’…and…‘(v) they are of the highest standards of architecture
and materials’.
8.2.115 The design approach taken to the long elevations resonates well with the traditional townscape of
Brixton which is typified by brick buildings with punched openings and banded detailing. The
window widths have been varied between the lower and taller buildings to give a degree of
individuality too. This design approach is supported as an appropriate response to local
distinctiveness (Policy Q5 and local context (Policy Q7).
8.2.116 However, whilst it is often the case that considered detailing can lessen perceived bulk and play
down the appearance of mass, as stated above it is often the sheer scale of the proposal (its
oppressive bulk, scale and mass) that is problematic. For example, whilst the brick frame carrying
relatively square windows is an attractive concept which responds well to the local context, when it
is stretched over such large elevations it does not help to mitigate against the dominant mass of
the building. This comes across particularly in the view from Atlantic Road at the Vining Street
junction (View 23). It should be noted that Historic England also considers the façade to be too
industrial in character due to the ‘repetitious windows and squat proportions’.
8.2.117 The applicant has lightened the brick tone in response to concerns previously raised. It should also
be noted that the applicant has also refined the elevation treatment in light of the advice below from
the Lambeth DRP:
‘The panel recommended that the architectural treatment at the top of the building and the
treatment of the broad elevations should be amended to help lessen the visual dominance. The
Panel suggested architectural solutions such as setting back and or differentiating the upper floors
in the North and South Elevations might help to address the blocky form and perceived height and
mass which results from the current, repetitive treatment.
The Panel warmly supported the use of brick and concrete and welcome the references to local
character with the use of arched openings. The design detailing is handsome. However, with the
current scale of the building and the repetitive window treatment on the North and South Elevations
could be balanced with greater ‘macro’ articulation. It was noted also that the stepped sill detailing
won’t be appreciated when viewed from the street and suggested that the detailing be refined to
maximise its visual impact as appreciated from ground level’.
8.2.118 In response to the points raised above by the DRP, the applicant has evolved each elevation
individually to respond to its aspect. For example, greater shading has been introduced on the
south elevation. These changes are supported, however, they do little to mitigate the overall affect
stated above.
8.2.119 The applicant has also not responded to the following advice from the DRP:
‘Furthermore, the panel consider that the lower three floors warrant particular attention as these
are what the public appreciate when they engage with the building. Further development of the
architectural relationship with the railway viaducts (each with their different character) is strongly
encouraged’.
8.2.120 The general treatment of the lower three floors of elevation as they face the viaduct are considered

Page 85
to be sufficient.
8.2.121 The DRP also noted:
‘The panel was not convinced that exposed bold structural diagrid of concrete on the West and
East Elevations was successful against the more solid masonry facades, and some panel
members considered it added unwelcome visual dominance of the composition that jarred with the
arched windows’.
8.2.122 There is concern about the concrete diagrid treatment especially on the western elevation where it
is most visible from within the BCA and in the setting of key heritage assets. Its monumental scale
on the upper floors draws the eye and contributes further to the visual dominance of the building
mass. This is evident in the views from Brixton Station Road (View 19 and Electric Avenue (View
26). It should also be noted that Historic England has stated that the ‘double height floors of the
front elevation exacerbate the impact, giving emphasis to the tallest part of the building by making
it proportionally dominant.’
8.2.123 The DRP also raised concern about the risk to pedestrians caused by the diagonal braces at the
entrance commenting:
‘The panel had mixed views on the architectural merits of the siting, proportions and form of the
concrete supports at g/f and f/f but was in agreement that increasing setting back the building and
increasing the public realm would address some of the concerns. The Panel also thought that care
needs to be taken with the design to ensure pedestrians do not strike their heads on the diagonal
structure’
8.2.124 The diagonal braces are potentially problematic for pedestrians, particularly visually impaired. The
applicant has not changed the design nor have they put forward any suggestions for mitigation. In
order to mitigate against a potential conflict with Policy Q1 (inclusive environments) of the Local
Plan, a condition seeking a scheme of mitigation is considered to be appropriate.
8.2.125 In relation to Policy Q26, part (iii) the proposal does not achieve a design excellence in terms of its
form – it is too tall and dominant, silhouette – (it is blocky and dominant) or detailing – (the diagrid
at high level draws undue attention to the building).
Tall Buildings - Townscape Impacts
8.2.126 Policy Q 26, part (iv) seeks to ensure ‘the proposal makes a positive contribution to the townscape
and skyline either individually or as a contribution to a group’.
8.2.127 The assessment of heritage impacts has shown that where heritage assets (designated and
undesignated) have townscape value, the proposal generally has an adverse impact on their
significance because of its dominance and the visual competition it would introduce. These
heritage impacts cannot be unpicked from the general townscape effect of undue dominance.
8.2.128 As a significant bulk and mass with a striking treatment to the west and east ends the often solitary
and dominant townscape effect is generally not a positive one.
Adverse Heritage Impacts
8.2.129 The Council’s views and townscape analysis above contains the detailed narrative on heritage
impacts. The adverse impacts are summarised in Table 3 below:

Page 86
Designated Heritage Assets
Asset Name

Status

Impact
on
setting

Resulting harm

St Matthew’s Church,
Brixton Hill
Lambeth Town Hall,
Brixton Hill
Tate Library,
Brixton Oval
Ritzy Cinema,
Brixton Oval
Budd Monument,
Brixton Hill

Listed Grade II*

Negative

Listed Grade II

Negative

Listed Grade II

Negative

Listed Grade II

Negative

Listed Grade II

Negative

Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q20 (ii)
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q20 (ii)
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q20 (ii)
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q20 (ii)
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q20 (ii)

Brockwell Park

Registered
Landscape
Registered
Landscape

Negative

Brixton CA

Conservation Area

Negative

Brixton Road and
Angell Town CA
Brockwell Park CA

Conservation Area

Neutral

Conservation Area

Negative

Ferndale Road CA
Loughborough Park
CA
Minet CA
Trinity Gardens CA

Conservation Area
Conservation Area

Neutral
Neutral

Conservation Area
Conservation Area

Neutral
Negative

No harm.
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Q22 (a) (ii).

Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)
Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)
Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)
Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)
Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)
Harm to setting
Q23 (b) (iii)

Ruskin Park

Neutral

Less than substantial harm
contrary to Policy Q21 (iv)
No harm.

Less than substantial harm
contrary to Q22 (a) (ii).
No harm.
Less than substantial harm
contrary to Q22 (a) (ii).
No harm.
No harm.

Non-Designated Heritage Assets
Nos. 54-56 Atlantic Rd

Local heritage List

Negative

Nos.467-469 Brixton
Rd
Nos. 518 to 522
Brixton Rd
Nos. 31- 43 Electric
Ave
Nos. 28 – 38 Electric
Ave
Nos. 60-64 Trinity
Gardens

Local heritage List

Negative

Local heritage List

Negative

Local heritage List

Negative

Local heritage List

Negative

Local heritage List

Negative

Table 3 - Adverse Heritage Impacts identified

contrary to
contrary to
contrary to
contrary to
contrary to
contrary to

Page 87
8.2.130 With regard heritage impact the NPPF states:
‘192. In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable
communities including their economic vitality; and
c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.
193. When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important
the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
194. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or
destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification.
196. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.
197. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly
affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the
scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset’.
8.2.131 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF places great weight on the preservation of designated heritage assets
and their settings. This applies to the numerous statutory listed buildings and conservation areas in
this case. The starting point is ‘no harm’.
Assessment of harm versus benefits
8.2.132 Paragraph 196 of the NPPF notes that, where the overall net balance of heritage considerations is
that any harm is less-than-substantial, “this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of
the proposal, including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”
8.2.133 An assessment of the current application has identified less than substantial harm would be
caused by the proposed building which would be harmful to the setting of the Brixton Conservation
Area at Popes Road. It would also be harmful to the setting of neighbouring conservation areas
(Brockwell Park, Minet and Trinity Gardens Conservation Areas), statutorily listed buildings (St
Matthew’s Church; Lambeth Town Hall; Tate Library; Brixton Oval; Ritzy Cinema; Brixton Oval; and
Budd Monument), registered landscapes (Brockwell Park and Ruskin Park) and locally listed
buildings in Atlantic Road (Nos. 54-56); Brixton Road (Nos.467-469 and Nos. 518 to 522), Electric
Avenue (Nos. 31- 43 and Nos. 28 – 38) and Trinity Gardens (Nos. 60-64) as set out in Table 3
above.
8.2.134 Notwithstanding that the proposal represents a departure from Policy Q26 and Site Allocation 16 of
the Local Plan, the application scheme is considered not to conflict with policy in all other regards
and as such, as a policy compliant scheme it would deliver social, economic, environmental and
sustainable benefits to the community.

Page 88
8.2.135 However, as the proposal represents a departure from adopted local plan policy and has been
identified as causing ‘less than substantial’ harm it is important to identify the public benefits that
would outweigh these in line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF. These benefits are considered to be:










New and Diverse Employment Opportunities – the creation of a new office floorspace ecosystem
providing flexible office and workspace accommodation, including medium, small and micro
workspaces well suited to small creative and cultural businesses and start-ups;
Jobs – the creation of approximately 1,600 on-site jobs across a range of sectors and additional jobs
during construction and from associated resident and occupier expenditures; local employment and
training initiatives; and the provision of 10% affordable workspace (2,544sqm) within the development;
Community – the provision of dedicated community floorspace within the development and the use of
the publicly accessible central space within the market by the community to host events.
Transport – investment in local public transport infrastructure, including contributions towards improving
Brixton Rail Station; providing additional bus services in the area; improving cycle parking in the town
centre; improvements to signage and walking/cycling routes along Atlantic Road & Brixton Station
Road; and a commitment to 50% freight consolidation to reduce servicing trips to and from the site;
Public Realm – the delivery of a new public square on Pope’s Road to support a range of uses and to
create a multi-functional, inclusive, useable public space; and
Public facilities – the provision of new and expanded public toilets within the development to replace
the existing dated block in Popes Road.

8.2.136 The identified social, economic, environmental and sustainability value that the scheme would
bring, with the addition of the benefits identified above, it is considered that the public benefits of
the application scheme outweigh the departure from policy and ‘less than substantial’ harm
identified. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with Sections
16, 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the NPPF and
development plan policies.
8.3

Inclusive Design
Inclusive Access

8.3.1

London Plan Policy 7.2 and Policy D3 of the Intend to publish London Plan require that all new
development achieves the highest standards of accessibility and inclusive design. Level access
would be provided to all of the proposed office and retail floorspace with lift access provided to all
floors. Similarly, the public toilets provided within the basement would be fully accessible with lift
access being provided from ground floor level. The application complies with the adopted and
Intend to publish London Plans in respect of inclusive design.

8.3.2

Policy D3 (Inclusive design) of the Intend to publish version of the London Plan requires proposals
to set out how access and inclusion will be maintained and managed, including fire evacuation
procedures. Policy D12 (Fire safety) states that all development proposals must achieve the
highest standards of fire safety. Whilst fire safety is currently dealt with under Building Control
legislation, the Planning process acts as a ‘gateway’ to the consideration of the issue and seeks to
ensure that appropriate consideration has been given.

8.3.3

The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Building Control Team who have raised no
objection the building design which would in principle fulfil building regulation standards. The
Building Control Team also advised that development would be subject to a full and detailed review
when a building regulation application is submitted to the nominated Building Control Body. They
also recommended a fire statement is secured through a planning condition for a more detailed
response at a later stage.
Given the emerging weight in the planning process for fire safety, including Policy D12 (Fire safety)
of the Intend to publish version of the London Plan, a condition would be applied to any planning

8.3.4

Page 89
approval requiring a Fire Statement produced by an independent third party. It would be required to
detail the building’s construction, methods, products and materials used; the means of escape for
all building users including those who are disabled or require level access together with the
associated management plan; access for fire service personnel and equipment; ongoing
maintenance and monitoring and how provision would be made within the site to enable fire
appliances to gain access to the building. The submitted details would be assessed by the
Council’s Building Control department and the proposal would meet policy.
8.4

Amenity for Neighbouring Occupiers
Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing

8.4.1

One of the core planning principles (paragraph 17) in the NPPF is that decisions should “always
seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future
occupants of land and buildings”. London Plan Policy 7.1 states that in their neighbourhoods,
people should have a good quality environment.

8.4.2

In accordance with Lambeth Local Plan 2015 Policy Q2 (Amenity) the application is accompanied
by a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment prepared by Point2Surveyors. This provides an
assessment of the potential impact of the development on sunlight, daylight and overshadowing to
neighbouring residential properties and open spaces based on the approach set out in the Building
Research Establishment’s (BRE) ‘Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Good Practice
Guide’. This includes an assessment of impacts on the site’s residential neighbours.

8.4.3

The beginning of the Agenda Pack contains broad contextual overview of the assessment
framework within which BRE compliant sunlight and daylight studies are undertaken. This includes
an explanation of the key terms and targets contained within the BRE guidance. The following
assessment has been made in the context of this information.

8.4.4

The BRE guidelines are not mandatory; they do however act as a guide to help understand the
impact of a development upon properties and other spaces, while acknowledging that in some
circumstances, such as that of an urban environment or where the existing site is only previously
partially developed some impact may be unavoidable. It should be further noted that the BRE guide
considers level of daylight, sunlight and overshadowing tests based on an expectation of
reasonable levels of light within a suburban context and this should be kept in mind when
considering a central London context as is the case for the application site.

8.4.5

The Council has sought an independent review of the report findings in respect of possible impacts
of the new development on surrounding sites and within the development itself. This review was
undertaken by Schroeders Begg. Their assessment review considers a number of tests:






The 25 degree line: Properties will very likely retain good levels of daylight and sunlight if new
development does fall below a 25 degree line to the horizontal drawn from the centre of the
lowest window;
Vertical Sky Component (VSC): A measure of the amount of skylight available at the centre of
a habitable room window (ratio compared to horizontal plane) to serve a habitable room. The
BRE guide states that daylighting may be affected if the VSC calculation is less than 27% and
less than 0.8 times its former value;
Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH): Is a measure of the average number of hours per
year in which direct sunlight is received by a window. The BRE guide states that rooms may be
affected if they receive less than 25% APSH for the year and 5% APSH for the winter; and less
than 0.8 times former value;

Page 90





8.4.6

Daylight Distribution / No skyline test: A measure that calculates the amount of area (at the
working plane) of a habitable room which receives direct skylight and how much does not. The
BRE guide highlights if less than 0.8 times former value, reductions will be noticeable;
Shadowing: The BRE guide recommends that at least half the area of an amenity space should
receive at least 2hrs of sunlight on the equinox (21 March); and
Average Daylight Factor (ADF): Is a measure of the daylight received inside a habitable room.
The BRE guide recommends that the minimum ADF values should be achieved for bedrooms
(1%), living rooms (1.5%) and kitchens (2%).

The following surrounding properties contain residential accommodation and, due to their proximity
to the development site, applicable residential units within have been assessed in terms of the
effects of the proposed development upon their daylight and sunlight amenity:
North of the railway tracks / site:
 Canterbury Gardens Estate:
o 1-8 Wincheap Court
o 1-40 Westgate Court
o 1-59 Chartham Court
o 1-10 Chilham Court
o 1-36 Northgate Court
o 1-12 Blacktree Mews
 Canterbury Arms (consented)
South of the railway tracks / site:
 Atlantic Road: Nos 22-26, 28, 46 & 48
 Coldharbour Lane: Nos 378, Graville Court, Walton Lodge (374), Nos 368-372, Nos 360-366
 Valentia Place: Nos 2-7 & 1 Coal Lane
 Southwyck House, Somerleyton Estate

8.4.7

Whilst alternative target criteria (relating to the impact upon neighbouring properties) have been
discussed, the impact to neighbouring properties has been reviewed without reference to any
agreed alternative target criteria, in terms of impacts to neighbouring properties, although clearly
the site is within an urban context and given the minimal massing on site, it is inevitable that some
departure from the BRE Guide target criteria will occur.
Daylight

8.4.8

The main consideration for neighbouring daylight review is in reference to the vertical sky
component (VSC) and daylight distribution (where room layouts are known) as per the BRE Guide.
Given that there is fairly limited existing massing on site, whilst reductions in daylight require due
consideration, given that some of the surrounding neighbouring properties will have higher levels of
daylight (could be considered less anticipated for an urban location), it is also considered
appropriate that some consideration is also given to retained values of daylight in the proposed
scenario i.e. retained values with the proposed development in situ.

8.4.9

The review has focused upon the conventional BRE Guide analysis of VSC and daylight
distribution review. However, given that there are some properties with analysis results not
meeting BRE Guide target criteria (especially, given limited existing massing on site), the
extent of any ‘adverse impact’ has been categorised on the basis of Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) consideration for reductions that exceed 20% / not meeting BRE Guide
target criteria (i.e. adverse / noticeable effect). Consideration on some aspects of seeking to
classify adversity is presented within Appendix I of the BRE Guide. However, it is common for
sunlight and daylight industry professionals to consider initial adversity with reference to the

Page 91
numerical loss only, albeit a subsequent interpretation of the findings and an appropriate
judgement needs to be made for any reductions not meeting the BRE target criteria.
8.4.10 Appendix I of the BRE Guide sets out the following adverse definitions:

 Minor Adverse: Reductions in VSC or NSL of >20% to 29.9%;
 Moderate Adverse: Reductions in VSC or NSL of 30% to 39.9%; and
 Major Adverse: Reductions in VSC or NSL of equal / greater than 40%.
8.4.11 The daylight results can be summarised as follows (with reference to GIA’s Daylight & Sunlight
Report dated 20th July 2020):
North of the railway tracks / site:
8.4.12 The following properties are considered:




Canterbury Gardens Estate:
o 1-8 Wincheap Court
o 1-40 Westgate Court
o 1-59 Chartham Court
o 1-10 Chilham Court
o 1-36 Northgate Court
o 1-12 Blacktree Mews
Canterbury Arms (consented)

8.4.13 For the properties to the north of the railway tracks / site, for reductions in daylight to
neighbouring properties containing residential, these meet the default BRE Guide target in
reference to the following:





1-10 Chilham Court
1-36 Northgate Court
1-12 Blacktree Mews
Canterbury Arms (consented)

8.4.14 In terms of the remaining properties analysed (to the north), comment is provided with each of
these properties now examined in further details as below:
1-8 Wincheap Court:
Daylight
8.4.15 For both applicable reductions in daylight VSC and daylight distribution, default BRE Guide is met
with the isolated exception of 1 No 1st floor room with a daylight distribution at the low end of
‘moderate adverse’; such an isolated reduction can be considered reasonable for an urban context.
1-40 Westgate Court:
Daylight
8.4.16 Daylight VSC: From the 12 No windows analysed, 4 No have ‘major adverse’ reductions, 2 No
‘moderate adverse’ and 2 No ‘minor adverse’ reductions. However, all retained VSC values are in
the mid-teens and above with the exception of 1 No window which is marginally below this. Based
upon recent appeal cases, some VSCs levels at these retained levels have been accepted and in
this instance is also considered acceptable.

Page 92
8.4.17 Daylight Distribution: Any applicable reductions in daylight distribution meet BRE Guide target
criteria / there is no adverse effect to daylight distribution.
1-59 Chartham Court:
Daylight
8.4.18 Daylight VSC: The majority of windows have reductions that meet the default BRE Guide target
criteria; for the isolated windows where reductions are greater, these relate to 15 No windows with
such reductions being ‘minor adverse’ and should be considered reasonable for this urban context.
8.4.19 Daylight Distribution: Any applicable reductions in daylight distribution meet the default BRE Guide
target criteria / there is no adverse effect to daylight distribution with the isolated exception of 1 No
room at 1st floor with a reduction just falling into ‘major adverse’. The retained daylight distribution
value is 0.57 (57%), which is considered to be acceptable.
South of the railway tracks / site:
8.4.20 The following properties are considered:





Atlantic Road : Nos 22-26, 28, 46 & 48
Coldharbour Lane: Nos 378, Graville Court, Walton Lodge (374), Nos 368-372, Nos 360-366
Valentia Place: Nos 2-7 & 1 Coal Lane
Southwyck House, Somerleyton Estate

8.4.21 For the properties to the south of the railway tracks / site, for reductions in daylight VSC and
Daylight Distribution to neighbouring properties containing residential, these meet the default BRE
Guide target in reference to the following:





Atlantic Road: Nos 22-26, 46 & 48
Coldharbour Lane: Nos 378, & Nos 360-366
Valentia Place: Nos 2-7
Southwyck House, Somerleyton estate

8.4.22 In terms of the remaining properties analysed (to the south), comment is provided with each of
these properties now examined in further details as below:
28 Atlantic Road:
Daylight
8.4.23 For both applicable reductions in daylight VSC and daylight distribution, default BRE Guide is met
with the isolated exception of 2 No 1st floor windows with VSC reduction of ‘minor adverse’; such
isolated reductions can be considered reasonable for an urban context.
Granville Court, Coldharbour Lane
Daylight
8.4.24 For both applicable reductions in daylight VSC and daylight distribution, default BRE Guide is met
with the isolated exception of 4 No windows with VSC reductions of ‘minor adverse’; such isolated
reductions can be considered reasonable for an urban context.

Page 93
Walton Lodge (374), Coldharbour Lane
Daylight
8.4.25 This property includes 13 No self-contained dwellings in total arranged over the 1st and 2nd floors.
The building effectively runs perpendicular to the proposal thus the main front and rear elevations
do not directly face the proposal. However, there are a number of side windows resulting from
various projections / recesses to the building which do face towards the proposal. The impact to
daylight is summarised as follows:
Daylight VSC
8.4.26 The majority of reductions to daylight VSC not meeting BRE Guide target criteria relate to
bedrooms and can be summarised as 6 No having ‘major adverse’ reductions, 4 No ‘moderate
adverse’ and 1 No ‘minor adverse’ reductions. In most cases the retained VSC values are below
the mid-teens so clearly there is some significant adversity although this should be balanced with
the inherent arrangement, that these windows are already typically partially restricted to daylight by
their projecting or recessed positions to that of the main or rear elevation thus some degree of
inherent sensitivity. Given that these reductions are to bedrooms, in terms of overall judgement, it
is reasonable to consider overall a ‘moderate’ adversity.
8.4.27 In addition to the bedrooms, there are some VSC minor adverse reductions 2 No living/ kitchen/
dining rooms and 1 No kitchen but for these rooms, an acceptable or good retained VSC value is
achieved.
Daylight Distribution
8.4.28 Similar to VSC, the majority of reductions to daylight distribution not meeting BRE Guide target
criteria relate to bedrooms and can be summarised as 5 No having ‘major adverse’ reductions, 3
No ‘moderate adverse’ and 1 No ‘minor adverse’ reductions. There is clearly some significant
adversity although this should be balanced with the inherent arrangement, that the windows
serving these rooms are already typically partially restricted to daylight by their projecting or
recessed positions to that of the main or rear elevation thus some degree of inherent sensitivity.
Given that these reductions are to bedrooms, in terms of overall judgement, it is reasonable to
consider overall as ‘moderate’ adversity.
8.4.29 In addition to the bedrooms, there is ‘minor adverse’ reduction in daylight distribution to 1 No
living/kitchen/dining rooms. This impact is considered to be acceptable.
368-372 Coldharbour Lane
8.4.30 This property is arranged around a central courtyard and has circa 155 No flats in a part-five and
part-seven storey building. The north elevation faces towards site (railway track facing) and
experiences the greatest reductions whilst the return elevation (west facing) is perpendicular to site
thus limited impact from the proposal.
8.4.31 The windows in the north facing elevation (closest to site) serving habitable rooms all serve
bedrooms with the isolated exception of 1 No single aspect living room at ground floor. It is also
noted that these flats are all typically dual aspect with living rooms more typically facing out onto
the central courtyard and the windows of ground floor flats in urban locations such as this often do
not score as highly as those of upper floor flats and experience more shadowing and daylight
reductions from surrounding buildings. The impact to daylight is summarised as follows:
Daylight VSC

Page 94
8.4.32 For the north facing elevation, the majority of reductions to daylight VSC to windows do not meet
BRE Guide target criteria; with the exception of 1 No living room, these all relate to bedrooms. In
terms of reductions to bedrooms, these can be summarised as 46 No. having ‘major adverse’
reductions, 11 No. ‘Moderate adverse’ and 2 No. ‘Minor adverse’ reductions; thus in total 59 No
windows in the north elevation having a noticeable impact. However, in 28 No. instances (circa
50%) the retained VSC values are mid-teens or above. In addition, for the isolated 1 No living
room, there is a major adverse reduction to VSC.
Daylight Distribution
8.4.33 Similar to VSC, for the north facing elevation, the majority of reductions to daylight VSC to rooms
served by windows in the north elevation do not meet BRE Guide target criteria although with the
exception of 1 No living room, these all relate to bedrooms. In terms of reductions to bedrooms,
these can be summarised as 42 No having ‘major adverse’ reductions, 4 No ‘moderate adverse’
and 6 No ‘minor adverse’ reductions; thus in total, 52 No bedrooms in the north elevation having a
noticeable impact. In addition, for the isolated 1 No living room, there is a major adverse reduction
to daylight distribution.
8.4.34 Given the extent of reductions to the windows/rooms in the north elevation, where there is some
noticeable adversity, in the majority of cases, there is a degree of noticeable adversity to both VSC
and daylight distribution.
8.4.35 For the windows serving rooms within the west facing elevation, which includes a significant
number of living room windows, in terms of daylight VSC, there are some isolated ‘minor adverse’
reductions whilst for daylight distribution, reductions meet the default BRE Guide target criteria.
8.4.36 In summary, there is significant adversity to the windows and rooms served by those windows in
the north facing elevation facing the railway / closest to site) and limited adversity to those in the
west facing elevation (the latter should readily be considered acceptable). For the north facing
windows / rooms, the majority relate to bedrooms which appear to be within dual aspect flats
(based on floor plans) and with living rooms facing the central courtyard to the south (with the
exception of 1 No. ground floor living room served by a window in the north elevation although this
particular flat appears to still have a separate open-plan kitchen dining room viewing onto the
central courtyard to the south). On balance, given that the majority of reductions are to bedrooms,
albeit there is also one living room, in terms of overall judgement, it could be considered overall as
‘high moderate / low major’ adversity with due consideration that the flats are dual aspect and
majority relating to bedrooms, although quite an extensive number of bedrooms.
Valentia Place: 1 Coal Lane
Daylight
8.4.37 For both applicable reductions in daylight VSC and daylight distribution, default BRE Guide is met
with the isolated exception of 2 No windows with VSC reductions of ‘minor / moderate adverse’;
such isolated reductions in this instances relate to inherent self-restriction / sensitivity and are not
due to an adverse proposal.

Sunlight and overshadowing
8.4.38 On the aspect of sunlight to neighbouring habitable rooms relating to all of the residential properties
identified above, living rooms are the main sun important rooms and for windows applicable for
consideration those that face within 90 degrees of south, the analysis review confirms that

Page 95
reductions typically meet the BRE Guide target criteria. Thus availability of sunlight to neighbouring
habitable rooms, with particular focus upon living rooms is considered to closely adhere to the BRE
Guide target criteria / there is no adverse effect. As background, a significant number of analysed
properties are to the south of the proposal thus given this context, only properties to the north of
the proposal would be applicable for review.
8.4.39 In terms of amenity areas, only the amenities to the north of the proposal are applicable for review
and for those applicable areas, these meet BRE Guide target criteria (2 hour sun to amenity at the
equinox test). These include the properties on the Canterbury Gardens Estate and the consented
Canterbury Arms site as set out above. Shadow plots have also been provided to assist visually on
the extent of shadowing from the proposal. In summary, there is no material adverse impact to
sunlight provision and overshadowing.
Solar glare
8.4.40 In terms of solar glare, an initial analysis has been undertaken (GIA ‘Solar Glare Report and as
amended 23rd June 2020), which does not identify any solar glare concerns. Notwithstanding this, a
condition requiring a more detailed review of solar glare from the proposal with additional
viewpoints for consideration (especially from the railway) and pending finalised cladding materials
etc. is considered to be appropriate and would be conditioned if the committee are minded to be
grant permission.
Impact upon potential surrounding future development
8.4.41 With reference to the anticipated emerging draft Brixton Central SPD Master Plan, which would
look to bring forward future development on the neighbouring Pop Brixton Site it is considered that
with suitable design of such neighbouring development and appropriate use (not all residential),
that reasonable provision of daylight and sunlight could be achieved to for future residential
elements.
8.4.42 It has not been possible to undertake an analysis of the proposal’s impact on neighbouring
properties cumulatively with the impacts of the Masterplan as the draft Brixton Central SPD
Masterplan is under review.
Self-testing (availability of daylight and sunlight within the proposal)
8.4.43 In terms of the self-testing of the proposed scheme, the proposal is not for residential use and thus
detailed self-testing for the provision of natural daylight and sunlight in reference to the current BRE
Guide is not currently required.
Outlook, Openness, Privacy and Overlooking
8.4.44 The nearest residential properties to the site, as shown in Figure 23 below, are located off Brixton
Station road to the north (Canterbury Arms; Chilham Court, Westgate Court, Wincheap Court;
Northgate Court; and No.12 Black Tree Mews) on the opposite side of the railway viaduct and to the
south-west on Atlantic Road (Nos. 22-26; 28; 46 and 48) and off Coldharbour Lane (Nos. 360-366;
368-372; and 378; Southwyck House; Walton Lodge (374); and Granville Court and Valentia Place
(Nos.2-7; and 1 Coal Lane).

Page 96

Figure 23 – Relationship with Neighbouring Residential Properties (separation distances)
8.4.45 The development comprises no residential accommodation and has been designed to ensure no
undue overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring residential properties. With respect to the
possible implications on amenity by way of overlooking and impact on privacy to existing
neighbouring occupiers, the windows and terrace areas within the southern elevation have been
designed and appropriately positioned to minimise the potential for overlooking. All properties to
the north in the Canterbury Gardens Estate and Canterbury Gardens are separated from the site
by the single storey railway viaduct and Brixton Station Road and would be located in excess of
18m from the proposed building thereby ensuring no undue loss of outlook, overlooking or loss of
privacy.
8.4.46 To the south, the site is separated from the nearest residential properties by the two-storey railway
viaduct that borders the site. The proposal is appropriately designed and positioned to ensure no
undue overlooking or loss of privacy to the nearest residential properties to the south and southeast and is sufficiently distant to ensure no undue loss of outlook. The proposal would be in excess
of 18m from the nearest residential properties on Atlantic Road (Nos. 22-26; 28; 46 and 48),
Valentia Place (Nos.2-7; and 1 Coal Lane) and Coldharbour Lane (Nos. 360-366; 378; Southwyck
House; and Granville Court). Where the separation distances do fall short of the 18m (Walton
Lodge (374) and 360-366 Coldharbour Lane), the windows and terraces within the proposed
building are appropriately located and designed to ensure no undue overlooking or loss of privacy.
8.4.47 In the case of Walton Lodge (No.374 Coldharbour Lane), located 13m at its nearest point from the
proposed development, this building is three-storeys and sits predominantly below the railway
viaduct with its habitable room windows located in its eastern elevation facing away from the
application site. The development would face its northern flank elevation nearest to the railway
viaduct and would largely look over the roof of that building with no undue impact on residential
amenity.
8.4.48 In the case of Nos. 368-372 Coldharbour Lane, located 17m at its nearest point from the
development, the habitable room windows in the north facing elevation (closest to the site) of this 4

Page 97
to 7 storey development all serve bedrooms with the isolated exception of 1 No single aspect living
room at ground floor level. The proposed building is appropriately located and designed to ensure
no undue overlooking or loss of outlook to these neighbouring properties.
8.4.49 Given the separation distances proposed and positioning of the proposed windows and terrace
areas, the proposed development would not appear visually overbearing or result in any undue
overlooking or loss of privacy to neighbouring residential properties and would accord with policy
Q2 of the Local Plan.
Noise and Vibration
8.4.50 Policy 7.15 of the London Plan concerns the reduction and management of noise. At a strategic level
the transport, spatial and design policies of the London Plan will be implemented in order to reduce
and manage noise to improve health and quality of life and support the objectives of the Mayor’s
Ambient Noise Strategy.
8.4.51 Amongst other objectives, the policy states that development proposals should seek to manage
noise by avoiding significant adverse noise impacts on health and quality of life as a result of new
development, mitigating and minimising the existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on,
from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of new development without placing unreasonable
restrictions on development. Proposals should also separate new noise sensitive development
from major noise sources.
8.4.52 An environmental noise and vibration survey has been carried out at the site. The representative
free field background sound levels measured during the survey were LA90 54 dB during the
daytime and LA90 44 dB at night. Based on the requirements of the Council and on the results of
the noise survey, all proposed plant must be designed, such that the cumulative noise level at 1 m
from the worst affected windows of the nearby noise sensitive premises does not exceed LAeq 47
dB during the daytime and LAeq 37 dB during the night. The average ambient noise levels
measured during the survey were LAeq, 16h 60 dB during the daytime and LAeq, 8h 56 dB at night.
8.4.53 A Basement Construction Method Statement, prepared by AKT II Ltd, has been submitted detailing
the matters arising from the proposed construction of the basement. This report is considered to be
satisfactory and condition is proposed to ensure the measures identified in the report are
implemented. The vibration survey undertaken indicated that tactile vibration and re-radiated noise
are unlikely to be problematic for the proposed development. In addition, no adverse impacts are
expected in respect of increases in traffic flow as a result of the development.
8.4.54 No objection has been raised by the Council’s Environmental Health Section subject to conditions
requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the Basement Construction Method
Statement; and further noise and vibration attenuation details for the ventilation plant and the
commercial areas being submitted and approved by condition to address the concerns raised by
local residents.
8.5

Ecology, Trees and Landscaping

8.5.1

Policy G5 of the Intend to publish London Plan and Q9 of the Local Plan reflects the aims of Policy
EN1, promoting opportunities for greening as well as protection and enhancement of existing
biodiversity. Policy Q9 also supports the use of landscaping to provide strong boundary treatments,
together with access routes and parking areas compliant with safety standards and minimum
parking standards.

8.5.2

The site is not subject to any nature conservation designations. The Loughborough Park Site of
Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINC) is located approximately 400m to the east of
the site and the Rush Common and Raleigh Gardens SLINC is located approximately 550m to the

Page 98
south of the site. The site has no connectivity to these SLINCs and other green spaces due to the
presence of large commercial and residential developments, un-vegetated railway lines, and main
roads between the SLINCs and the site, and the lack of green space within the immediate vicinity
of the site.
8.5.3

A Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Protected Species Assessment of the site has been provided with
the application. This identifies the site as being of limited ecological interest and that there is a
limited scope for development to cause negative ecological impacts. Accordingly, it is possible for
the proposed development to result in a net positive impact on biodiversity.

8.5.4

In order to achieve this, the Phase 1 Habitat Survey identifies, in accordance with the strategy of
Policy 7.19 of the London Plan, Policy G6 of the Intend to publish London Plan and Policy EN1 of
the Local Plan, that a range of measures should be undertaken to satisfy the requirement for the
ecological enhancement of the site. This could include tree planting and other soft landscaping at
the site using species that have known benefits to wildlife and the installation of green walls and
roofs.

8.5.5

Overall, areas of hard and soft landscaping are proposed across the site with landscaped terrace
areas proposed on the upper floors of the Western and Eastern blocks and on the roof area
between. The draft Public Realm Strategy submitted also illustrates the intention to plant a large
specimen tree and a mix of planting in containers and rain gardens, offering a substantial
improvement for a site that currently has no formal landscaping as shown in Figure 24 below. The
final landscaping scheme details would be secured by condition and in the Public Realm and Art
Strategy secured by s106.

Figure 24 – Proposed landscaping and green roof/terrace planting
8.5.6

The proposed development includes the potential for urban greening at ground and roof level with
details of hard and soft landscaping, including tree planting, green roofs and terraces, to be
secured by condition. Within the new civic square envisaged for Pope’s Road, the provision of
street trees, soft landscaping and urban greening in this enlarged public realm would also promote
biodiversity and create a more pleasant, healthier and safer space for local people and visitors
alike.

8.5.7

The London Plan is clear that the design process should embed urban greening as a fundamental
element of site and building design. In accordance with Policy G5 of the Intend to publish London
Plan, the GLA have requested that the applicant calculate and provide the Urban Greening Factor
(UGF) score for the proposed development and meet the minimum specified target of 0.3. A
drawing showing the surface cover types and accompanying UGF calculation has been requested
and should be submitted and agreed prior to the Stage 2 referral. By integrating green roofs across

Page 99
the proposed development a UGF score of 0.3 should be readily achievable’ The applicant has
agreed to provide the additional information requested by the GLA prior to Stage 2 referral and full
details of the green roofs proposed would be secured by condition.
8.5.8

Overall, the landscaping proposed, including the incorporation of soft landscape planting on the
terrace and roof areas of the proposed building and within the public realm works envisaged for
Popes Road, will provide a material uplift in the ecological value of the site. The proposal therefore
provide positive contributions through significantly improved landscaping across the site, creating
benefits for local wildlife.

8.6

Transport

8.6.1

Policies 6.1 and 6.3 of the London Plan and Policies T1, T3 and T4 of the Intend to publish London
Plan seek to ensure that the impacts of development in transport capacity and the transport
network are fully assessed.

8.6.2

Policies T3, T6, T7 and T8 of the adopted Local Plan and Policies T3, T7 and T8 of the submission
version of the Local Plan both seek to ensure that proposals for development will have a limited
impact on the performance and safety of the highway network and that sufficient and appropriate
car parking and cycle storage is provided whilst meeting objectives to encourage sustainable
transport and to reduce dependence on the private car. If development will have an unacceptable
transport impact, it should be refused in the absence of mitigation measures to make the
development acceptable.
Site context

8.6.3

The site is bounded by Popes Road to the west, railway viaducts to the north and south, and a
narrow section of Valentia Place to the east. The main site frontage lies on Pope’s Road which
runs north-south, and for this section of the road is a Pedestrian Zone, operational 8am – 6pm
Monday – Sunday. During daytime hours market stalls line the road, effectively blocking footways,
making the carriageway the main thoroughfare for pedestrians at these times. The application site
contains a large single storey building which has a roof-top car park which is accessed by a ramp
from the rear service yard off Valentia Place.

8.6.4

The existing railway arches within the railway viaduct to the north open onto Brixton Station Road.
These arches have some servicing access from the rear, accessed via Valentia Place. The railway
arches within the railway viaduct to the south do not have a street frontage and are accessed solely
from the Valentia Place service yard.

8.6.5

The site has a PTAL of 6b, which is considered ‘excellent’, and is the highest possible level of
accessibility, making it suitable for an increased density of development.
Access

8.6.6

Two pedestrian entrances are proposed on Pope’s Road, leading to two internal market streets.
The retail units are accessible from within the market streets, with a secondary access provided on
the side streets either side of the building as shown on Figures 4 and 17 above. The market would
be publicly accessible throughout the opening hours. A designated access for users of the longterm cycle parking is proposed from Pope’s Road.

8.6.7

To reach the office space, users would enter the market via one of the access points and use one
of the lobbies proposed within the market on the eastern and western sides. The main vehicular
access point to the building would be located on the service yard on Valentia Place.

Page 100
Sustainable travel
8.6.8

The development would secure the following sustainable travel measures:












8.6.9

The development would be parking business permit-free for all employees based at the site,
and a Travel Plan would cover all uses proposed on site;
A financial contribution towards the installation of a new TfL cycle hire docking station in the
vicinity of the site, and the provision of free cycle hire keys for 10% of employees (the final
amount is to be confirmed with the applicant and TfL);
A financial contribution of £15,000 towards the installation of Legible London signage;
A financial contribution of £300,000 to fund the delivery of improvements to Atlantic Road and
Brixton Station Road. Atlantic Road (the section between Brixton Station Road and Pope’s
Road) will be a key route for pedestrians approaching the development from Brixton
Underground station, while Brixton Station Road (the section between Pope’s Road and
Valentia Place adjacent to the site) will also see a significant increase in footfall associated with
the development;
A financial contribution of £450,000 to fund additional bus services in the area as agreed with
TfL;
A financial contribution of £30,000 for the provision of 2 x on-street disabled bays in the vicinity
of the development including EV charge points to be installed on the public highway;
EV charge points will also be provided for all loading bays within the service yard, to meet
London Plan standards;
The delivery and servicing strategy includes a commitment to 50% freight consolidation, to
reduce the number of servicing vehicles on surrounding roads; and
The proposal includes high quality long-stay and short-stay cycle parking, both within the site
and within the surrounding public realm on Pope’s Road, and within the wider Brixton town
centre (via a contribution towards additional visitor cycle parking as set out in the cycle parking
section below).

The above measures, to be secured by way of an s106 legal agreement in any permission granted,
would ensure that the proposal would not increase existing capacity issues and would actually
improve not just the impacts of this proposal but also more widely within the surrounding area.
Cycle Parking

8.6.10 Table 4 below summarises the proposed cycle parking provision on site. The total number of cycle
parking spaces proposed does not meet draft London Plan cycle parking standards, which would
require the number of spaces shown in Table 5 below.
Level of cycle parking proposed within development
Type
Long-stay
Short-stay
Sheffield Stand
47
30
Two-Tier
236
n/a
Bicycle Lockers
39
n/a
Total
322
30

Total
77 (22%)
236 (67%)
39 (11%)
352

Table 4 – Cycle Parking Provision
Level of cycle parking required to meet draft London Plan standards
Land Use
Long-stay
Short-stay
3,212sqm A1 / A3*
18
135
25,435sqm B1 Office
334
15
221sqm D1 / D2
0
3

Total
153
349
3

Page 101
Total

352

153

505

Table 5 – London Plan cycle parking standards
*assumed as 50% A1 & 50% A3
Short-stay Cycle Parking
8.6.11 The short-stay cycle parking requirement falls short of the London Plan requirements. Assuming a
50/50 split of retail/restaurant (A1/A3) use (and 50/50 food/non-food retail), 153 short-stay spaces
would be required to serve all the proposed uses on site, meaning a shortfall of 123 short-stay
(visitor) cycle parking spaces. As part of the proposal, 30 x short-stay visitor cycle parking spaces
are proposed within the red line boundary in the railway arch at the north-west corner of the site.
The draft Pope’s Road Public Realm and Arts Strategy prepared by Gort Scott indicates that some
additional visitor cycle parking can be accommodated in the new public square on Pope’s Road
8.6.12 The illustrative proposals show 10 Sheffield stands accommodating 20 cycles, with an additional 50
spaces potentially deliverable by way of a two-tier cycle storage unit. This is welcomed, but it is
likely that even including the approx. 70 x cycle parking spaces that may be delivered on the new
public square, this would still leave a shortfall of some 53 short-stay cycle parking spaces. A
significant shortfall of visitor cycle parking is of concern for a development which is expected to
generate a significant increase in cycle trips associated with the A1 / A3 and D1 / D2 uses, and
Brixton town centre is already known to have a shortage of visitor cycle parking.
8.6.13 The Transport Assessment Addendum submitted with the revised proposal suggests the applicant
is willing to commit to future monitoring of visitor cycle parking. However, given the well-known
shortage of visitor cycle parking across Brixton town centre, a S106 contribution toward the delivery
of additional cycle parking across the wider town centre is considered more appropriate. At a cost
of £300 per Sheffield stand on the public highway, this would be a contribution of between £8,100
(for 53 spaces / 27 Sheffield stands at £300 each - assuming the remaining 70 spaces could be
accommodated on Pope’s Road public realm), and £18,600 (for all 123 spaces / 62 Sheffield
stands). This contribution would be used to address shortages of visitor cycle parking across the
wider Brixton town centre.
8.6.14 A contribution (the amount is to be confirmed with the applicant and TfL) towards a new cycle
docking station would also be secured via s106 legal agreement. In addition, cycle hire
membership for 10% of the expected employee numbers would be secured.
Long-stay Cycle Parking
8.6.15 The total long-stay provision as shown on the revised plans also currently falls short of the new
London Plan requirement by 30 spaces. However, an indicative plan has been provided by the
application showing where an additional 34 spaces could be provided at ground floor level, and it is
considered that a policy compliant level of long-term cycle parking could therefore be secured via
condition. It is noted that 22% of the total cycle parking provision is proposed by way of Sheffield
stands which is welcomed.
8.6.16 Long-stay employee cycle parking is proposed at Basement level 1, accessed via a lift from Pope’s
Road. The lift measures 2m x 2m. London Cycle Design Standards (LCDS) states that ‘lifts should
have minimum dimensions of 1.2 by 2.3 metres, with a minimum door opening of 1000mm’. The
capacity of the lift to accommodate all cyclists accessing the basement cycle parking has not been
assessed. Depending on how many cyclists can be accommodated in each lift, and the expected
wait times at peak times of day, additional lift capacity may be required. Cyclists may also be able
to use the main passenger lifts for example. Within the areas of two-tier cycle parking, aisle widths
of less than 2m are shown in some locations. The LCDS suggests a minimum aisle width of 2.5m is
required. A minimum of 1 in 10 cycle parking spaces should also have access to electrical charge

Page 102
points. The changing facilities, showers and lockers shown are considered appropriate. Further
details of the proposed short-stay and long-stay cycle parking and lift dimensions should be
secured via condition.
Trip Generation and Impacts
8.6.17 The ground floor and first floors are proposed to be occupied by a covered market with the upper
floors in office use. The applicant advised at the pre-application stage that the building occupancy
would be between 2,000 – 3,000 persons. The Transport Assessment (TA) and Transport
Assessment Addendum (TAA) include trip generation and modal split analyses, which outline the
expected number of weekday AM and PM trips related to the office element of the proposal, as well
as the weekday evening peak and weekend peak associated with the busiest times for A1 / A3
uses. In assessing the impacts on local road and transport networks during weekday AM and PM
peak times, trips associated with the A1 / A3 have been discounted since these are likely to be
pass-by or linked trips, rather than specific journeys made to reach these uses. This approach is
considered broadly appropriate.
8.6.18 However, the TA includes an assessment of the increased activity that the A1 / A3 uses would
generate at other times. This is particularly relevant to understanding levels of pedestrian and
cyclist activity in the immediate vicinity of the site, particularly later in the evening and at weekends
when Pope’s Road is busiest (see Public Realm Impact Assessment below). Five comparable
office sites have been selected from the TRICs database to derive an average trip rate. The
proposed office development is expected to generate 777 two-way (712 inbound and 64 outbound)
person trips during the AM peak hour and 705 (653 outbound and 52 inbound) during the PM peak
hour. Modal split has been derived from 2011 Census data, adjusted to reflect the lack of parking
available to employees, and the results are summarised in Table 4 below.
Mode

Census
Mode
Split

Underground

20.0%

Adjuste
d
Mode
Split
25.5%

AM Peak
Hour Trips
In
Out

Train

16.7%

20.9%

149

13

162

11

137

147

Bus
Taxi
Motorcycle
Car Driver
Car
Passenger
Cycle
Walk
Total

27.9%
0.2%
1.3%
19.2%
1.0%

34.9%
0.2%
0.4%
0.4%
1.0%

249
1
3
3
7

22
0
0
0
1

271
2
3
3
8

18
0
0
0
1

228
1
3
3
7

246
1
3
3
7

5.4%
8.3%
100.0%

6.7%
10.4%
100.0%

48
74
712

4
7
64

52
81
777

3
5
52

44
68
653

47
73
705

179

PM Peak Hour Trips
In

Out

Total

16

Tot
al
195

13

164

177

Table 4 – Anticipated Average Trip Rates
8.6.19 Over 80% of trips are expected to be made by public transport, with some 17% by active modes.
However, the expected proportion of trips to be made by bike is considered low. Given the age of
the census data and the subsequent growth in levels of cycling, combined with cycle infrastructure
improvements being delivered locally and the provision of good cycling facilities on site, it is
anticipated that walking and cycling will be key modes of travel to be used to reach the
development.

Page 103
8.6.20 Given that the long term impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic is not yet known, the assessment has
been based on a pre-Covid-19 basis which is considered to reflect a worst-case scenario thereby
ensuring the proposal has been given the most robust of scrutiny.
8.6.21 It is noted that train use is expected to be high. Being so close to Brixton station this is likely to be
the case. Brixton station is known to experience severe capacity issues during the morning peak on
Platform 1 and the stairs, although if a new station entrance is provided on Pope’s Road in future
these capacity issues should be addressed, along with providing step-free access. To address this
concern, Network Rail have requested that a contribution be sought towards improvements to
Brixton mainline station to improve access in the form of the installation of 2 lifts, one for each
platform, at a cost of £300,000. This would help to mitigate against any expected increase in
demand associated with the proposed development. TfL has also requested a contribution towards
the provision of additional bus services in the area. The Council’s Transport Section supports all
reasonable requests for improvements to local public transport services and facilities and these are
to be secured by s106 in any permission granted.
Public Realm
8.6.22 The existing public realm immediately outside the site on Popes Road is of poor quality,
constrained by the existing public toilet block opposite the site, and street furniture such as the
bollards on the forecourt of the site. There is also a lack of permeability through the site itself.
These issues and others are highlighted by policy PN3 Brixton and Site 16 within the Local Plan.
8.6.23 The proposed development presents a significant opportunity to improve the public realm within
and around the site, by opening adjacent arches to increase permeability through the site, and by
providing a more generous public space. While the revised scheme does increase the size of the
public space on Pope’s Road by setting back the building line by 2.5m, the opportunity to increase
permeability through the site has not been fully realised by the scheme as currently proposed. The
proposal does allow for increased permeability west to east through the site and possible
connectivity to improve both the north and south routes in the future with the applicant actively
exploring the possibility of purchasing the required railway arches with Network Rail to facilitate this
wider aspiration.
Station Entrance, Public Space and the Market
8.6.24 Site Allocation 16 outlines the design principles and key development considerations of the site,
and states that the council will support development on the site that: ‘provides opportunities to
improve the station entrance and station facilities generally, including lift access and cycle parking’.
A new Pope’s Road public square should therefore provide opportunities to improve the station
entrance and station facilities. Reinstating the Brixton station entrance to Pope’s Road would
provide improved step-free access, gate-lines, ticket and passenger facilities, including visitor cycle
parking. The entrance and public square should create a sense of arrival for visitors, be of sufficient
space to accommodate expected passenger flows, and help with visitors’ orientation.
8.6.25 Site Allocation 16 also states that the council will support development on the site that: ‘opens up
Popes Road to provide a wider public space with the potential to provide improved and/or
additional market spaces’, and ‘includes market facilities’. Policy Q6 states that the council will
support development provides: (ii) safe, attractive, uncluttered, co-ordinated public realm that
enhances the setting of and spaces between buildings, and (v) new or enhanced public open
space. An enlarged public space with a new station entrance would change the character of this
section of Pope’s Road from a thoroughfare to a ‘market square’. Setting back the building line by
2.5m has created an enlarged public space, and the Pope’s Road Public Realm and Arts Strategy
prepared by Gort Scott shows how the new square could accommodate street market pitches,
allowing sufficient space for people to move between stalls, the station and the adjacent

Page 104
development, including more seating, soft landscaping, cycle parking etc., creating a space where
people will dwell as well as pass through.
8.6.26 The Pope’s Road area is expected to experience a significant increase in footfall in both peak
hours and throughout the day both weekdays and weekends, as a result of both the proposed
development and the new station entrance, alongside its role as a street market. The revised trip
generation contained within the TA has been included in the revised Public Realm Impact
Assessment conducted by Space Syntax as discussed below.
Public Realm Impact Assessment
8.6.27 The Public Realm Impact Assessment presents an assessment of the capacity of the proposed
new public spaces to accommodate pedestrian flows and dwelling. Camera surveys were
conducted at over 80 locations in Brixton town centre in July and November 2019, and the results
are presented as average pedestrian movement (people per hour) on a weekday and weekend.
The results demonstrate that Pope’s Road currently experiences higher levels of pedestrian activity
than the Brixton town centre average, particularly at the weekend (Pope’s Road weekend average
1,200pph, compared to area wide weekend average of 841pph). It’s also clear that weekends are
much busier on Pope’s Road than weekdays (an average of 1,200pph at the weekend, compared
to 740pph on a weekday). Pope’s Road does not appear to experience a marked weekday AM
peak in pedestrian activity, with activity levels gradually rising to a PM peak of nearly 1,400pph
between 18:00 and 19:00. The busiest peak hour overall occurs at the weekend with 2,340pph on
Pope’s Road between 14:00 and 15:00.
8.6.28 The trip generation for the Class A1 and A3 standalone restaurant uses were applied to existing
flows to obtain future peak hour flows. For the proposed new market units, the surveyed pedestrian
flows associated with the existing 86 units within Brixton Village were extrapolated to estimate the
additional pedestrian flows associated with the 40 x new market units. This analysis resulted in an
additional 815 two-way pedestrian movements in the PM peak (17:00-18:00), and an additional
1,660 two-way movements during the weekend Peak (14:00-15:00).
8.6.29 The assessment includes expected Pedestrian Comfort Level (PCL) assessments at a number of
pinch point locations on Pope’s Road, based on the indicative layouts within the Pope’s Road
Public Realm and Arts Strategy. The analysis concludes that all the assessed locations perform at
PCL B+ or A-. All locations have at least 54% spare capacity to accommodate additional flows
within the levels recommended by TfL (PCL C+). The PCL locations assessed are identified in
Figure 25 below.
Pedestrian Environment Review System (PERS)
8.6.30 A PERs Audit is included in the TA. This assessed the quality of the seven most local links and
crossings. All crossings, and all but one link, were found to achieve a green RAG rating, providing
a satisfactory pedestrian environment. Link 4: Atlantic Road (both footways between Brixton Road
and Coldharbour Lane), was found to have an amber rating, reflecting narrow effective footway
widths, poor surface quality, user conflict and footway obstructions.
8.6.31 A contribution of £300,000 would help fund the delivery of improvements to Atlantic Road and
Brixton Station Road. Atlantic Road will be a key route for pedestrians approaching the
development from Brixton Underground station, while Brixton Station Road will also see a
significant increase in footfall associated with the development. Such a contribution, to be secured
by s106, would be used to aid walking and cycling along these roads and could potentially be used
to provide priority access for cycles; more space for walking with widened pavements, safer
crossing points and junctions and improved lighting; and high quality, welcoming public realm with
a reduced level of street ‘clutter.

Page 105

Figure 25 - PCL locations assessed (locations marked A to E)
Increasing Permeability, Opening up and enhancing the Arches
8.6.32 Site Allocation 16 states that the council will support development on the site that: ‘provides public
realm improvements to Brixton Station Road to include links to both the mainline and underground
stations, the opening up of arches to provide links to north-south routes east of Popes Road and
potential links to Brixton Village’; and ‘enhances the arches to provide active uses and routes
through’. The redevelopment of this site provides an opportunity to create a more connected and
legible sequence of routes to connect Coldharbour Lane and Brixton Station Road (via Brixton
Village), and Pope’s Road and Valentia Place. Pope’s Road must allow pedestrians and cyclists to
move between these areas without conflict with other users of the space.
8.6.33 One of the wider aspirations of this proposal is to increase pedestrian permeability through the site
by opening up adjacent railway arches (linking to Brixton Village to the south and providing a
second entrance from Brixton Station Road to the north). Such connections would significantly
increase the wider public benefits of the proposal and would be strongly supported. However,
delivering these links is not in the applicant’s gift since the relevant railway arches are not in the
applicant’s ownership and are not within the red line boundary of the site. Therefore these
aspirations cannot be given any weight as a public benefit in determining the application.
8.6.34 It is also suggested that the two access routes between the development and the viaducts to the
north and south could in future become animated pedestrian routes through the site. It’s
understood that the ground floor units of the proposed development will able to open both ends of
their premises, allowing for an active frontage towards the viaducts, while it’s hoped that in future
the neighbouring arches might also front onto the application site. Currently these access routes
serve to provide maintenance access for Network Rail, and servicing access to the existing
businesses within the arches, via the service yard accessed from Valentia Place. These routes
therefore have something of a ‘back of house’ feel which does not create an attractive or safe
pedestrian environment.

Page 106
8.6.35 Given the nature of the current businesses within arches, and the potential length of their leases, it
may be many years before these railway arches come forward in a more animated and attractive
manner which would make for a safe pedestrian environment. Given these concerns regarding the
nature of the space and considering that these routes are not within the red line boundary of the
site, this aspiration cannot be given any weight as a public benefit in determining the application.
Car Parking
8.6.36 The proposed development will provide zero car parking on-site, which is supported. The
development will be secured as parking permit-free. All employees and visitors will be expected to
make use of sustainable and active modes of travel to arrive and depart from the site.
8.6.37 The proposal does not include any disabled car parking spaces on site, and instead the applicant
proposes to contribute towards the installation of one disabled parking bay on Brixton Station Road
or Atlantic Road. The draft London Plan parking standards for non-residential disabled persons
parking are based on a percentage of the total number of parking bays (in this case 5% of the total
provision for both workplace and retail). Because this is a zero car parking scheme, the required
number of disabled car parking spaces cannot be calculated in this way, and the draft London Plan
goes on to say ‘careful assessment will therefore be needed to ensure that these percentages
make adequate provision in light of the need for disabled persons parking bays by Blue Badge
holders. The provision of disabled persons parking bays should be regularly monitored and
reviewed to ensure the level is adequate and enforcement is effective. All proposals should include
an appropriate amount of Blue Badge parking, providing at least one space even if no general
parking is provided.’
8.6.38 The 25,435sqm of office space proposed is assumed to accommodate over 2000 employees,
based on an average employee density of 1 per 12sqm (Lambeth Employment and Skills SPD).
This compares to the recently consented Elizabeth House scheme in Waterloo (146,170sqm of B1,
accommodating over 12,000 employees), where 8 disabled bays are to be provided at the outset
and a monitoring regime secured to monitor and review demand for disabled parking. While both
Brixton and Waterloo are highly accessible locations, and Brixton Underground Station provides
step-free access, it is recommended that two disabled bays are provided on Brixton Station Road,
to provide one space each for the retail and office elements of the scheme, at a cost of £10,000 per
bay. Both of these bays should have an EV charge point, for which an additional fee of £10,000 is
required for each bay. The applicant should therefore contribute £30,000 via S106 towards the
installation of these bays. A monitoring regime should also be secured via S106, to ensure this
level of disabled parking is adequate and enforcement is effective, through regular monitoring and
review.
8.6.39 The Planning Statement and TA also suggest that vehicle access will be available at the rear of the
site to enable pick-up and drop-off for disabled users. However, it’s considered unlikely that
disabled access via Valentia Place would be suitable given that this will be a busy service yard,
serving the site and the neighbouring arches, and the safety and attractiveness of this route is
questioned.
Servicing, including Refuse and Recycling
Servicing
8.6.40 The TA, TA Addendum (TAA) and Framework Delivery and Servicing Plan set out the proposed
servicing strategy for the market units, office and standalone restaurant. The servicing strategy for
the new market units has been amended and it is now proposed that all servicing activity
associated with the development is undertaken within the service yard at the rear of the
development, accessible from Valentia Place. It was previously proposed to use the public

Page 107
highway on Pope’s Road, which contravenes draft London Plan policy T8, part (c) and would
conflict with Pope’s Road’s future role as a busy public square. The Framework DSP should be
amended to clearly set out that all servicing associated with the proposed development should be
undertaken within the service yard and should not be undertaken on the public highway. This would
be secured by condition.
8.6.41 The TAA includes further assessment of the capacity of the service yard, demonstrating that up to
three 7.5t box vans can be simultaneously accommodated within the service yard. A swept path
has been submitted demonstrating that 3 x vans can be accommodated whilst still retaining
sufficient space for a large refuse vehicle to turn on-site and maintaining clear routes either side of
the development along the arches for other users and/or emergency access.
8.6.42 The TAA includes a revised servicing trip generation assessment. Based on the existing markets in
Brixton, it is anticipated that the new proposed market units will generate a demand for some 20
servicing trips throughout the day, with the standalone restaurant generating demand for 3-7
deliveries a day. Based on a typical office floor space demand of circa 0.22 deliveries per 100sqm
(based on published guidance from the City of London), the proposed office use is expected to
generate approximately 55 deliveries per day. However, through delivery consolidation for the
office element, this number of office deliveries would be halved. Therefore in total, the revised
proposal would result in 52-53 servicing trips per day using the service yard.
8.6.43 The revised servicing strategy which meets draft London Plan Policy T8 is supported. The 50%
consolidation of office servicing trips should be secured via a monitoring mechanism to be detailed
within the S106 Agreement. The size of vehicles servicing the site should also be restricted to a
maximum 7.5t box van (set out within the DSP and / or condition).
8.6.44 In line with draft London Plan Policy T8, part (i), the use of zero emissions vehicles like electric
vehicles and cargo bikes should be maximised. All loading bays should be fitted with electric
vehicle rapid charge points. This would be secured by s106.
Refuse and Recycling
8.6.45 The new market units would be overseen by the same in-house management as the existing
markets operated by the applicant. The existing waste collection regime would therefore be
extended to cover the proposed market units. It’s understood that porters will transfer waste from
each of the units to a consolidated office / market / restaurant waste store within the Valentia Place
service yard. The TA suggests that Veolia have advised that an additional 4 x 1,100L bins, 6 x
240L bins and a cardboard baler should be provided to meet the needs of the new market units,
and that refuse collection would be undertaken daily. A swept path has been submitted which
demonstrates that a refuse collection vehicle can enter and exit the yard in forward gear while all
three loading bays are in use.
8.6.46 Waste storage for the office will be provided within the consolidated waste store where a total of 6 x
1,100L bins for recycling and 4 x 1,100L bins for general waste will be provided. This is assumed to
be in addition to the market bin capacity mentioned above. Waste will be collected Monday –
Friday, with two vehicle attendances to collect recyclables and general waste separately. Within the
shared waste store at the rear of the site, provision is also made for the standalone restaurant
including 1100L bins for general waste and recyclables, and 240L bins for food waste. Again, it’s
assumed this is in addition to the bin capacities mentioned above. Full details of refuse and
recycling arrangements would be secured by condition.
Combined impact on service yard
8.6.47 The development is expected to generate a maximum of 53 deliveries a day, equivalent to 106 twoway movements. The TA presents the findings of an ATC survey undertaken within the existing

Page 108
service yard. An entry and exit count was undertaken between Sunday 1st December and
Saturday 7th December 2019 at the Valentia Place access. The arrival and dwell times of vehicles
are not presented within the TA so it’s not possible to know how much spare capacity there is
within the service yard.
8.6.48 The results of the survey indicate that an average of 87 two-way vehicle movements (4% HGVs)
occurred each day, with a daily peak of 137 movements (6% HGVs) on the Wednesday. It’s
assumed that a significant proportion of the existing movements are associated with the existing
tenants of the site and would therefore be lost as a result of the proposal. Adding the forecast 106
two-way movements to the existing maximum 137 two-way movements (equating to 243 two-way
movements a day) is therefore likely to be an overestimate of future demand.
8.6.49 While the TA and TAA have not included a full capacity assessment of the service yard, it is
expected that the 3 x loading bays within the yard would have the capacity to accommodate the
expected levels of servicing associated with the proposed development. This is providing the 50%
consolidation of office deliveries, and the other measures outlined in the Framework DSP such as
the pre-booking system, are adhered to fully.
Construction
8.6.50 A draft Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) and a Construction Management Plan (CMP) have been
submitted with the application. A revised July 2020 Outline CLP has also been submitted to
address previous concerns raised by Lambeth Transport.
8.6.51 The CLP sets out the expected construction programme, which is expected to last from Jan 2022
to June 2025. Peak vehicular activity to the site is expected to occur during basement excavation
and piling (1,200 trips per month). This equates to a maximum of 51 vehicles per day and up to 13
in the peak hour, the majority being vehicles over 7.5t. This number of HGVs travelling on roads in
the Brixton area and beyond raises concerns over impacts on vulnerable road users and these
impacts should be addressed.
8.6.52 The main site access is proposed via the existing access onto Valentia Place. Routing from the
north is proposed via the A23 Brixton Road, Gresham Road, Wiltshire Road and Canterbury
Crescent, Pope’s Road, Brixton Station Road and Valentia Place. A swept path of a 16.5m
articulated vehicle entering the site access via this route is presented in the July 2020 Outline CLP.
However, this is a convoluted route requiring a number of tight turns and is unlikely to be
appropriate.
8.6.53 Vehicles arriving from the east, south and west are expected to approach via the A2217 and/or the
A23 Brixton Hill, Coldharbour Lane and northbound along Valentia Place. This route is likely to be
more appropriate and a swept path is presented in the July 2020 Outline CLP. Further discussions
on suitable construction routing will be required with the Council’s Highways section and the final
CLP would be secured via condition.
Travel Plan
8.6.54 A draft Travel Plan has been submitted with the application and an improved version has also been
submitted taking on board comments made by Lambeth’s Travel Plan Monitoring Officer. A full
Travel Plan will be secured via condition and monitoring via s106.
Mitigation
8.6.55 The following mitigation measures will be delivered as part of the development:


Business Parking permit-free;

Page 109













A contribution of £30,000 for the provision of 2 x on-street disabled bays (a cost of £10,000 for
each bay) and associated EV Charge Points (a cost of £10,000 for each charging point);
A contribution of £300,000 towards the delivery of improvements to walking and cycling routes
to the site. This will help fund the delivery of improvements to Atlantic Road and Brixton Station
Road. Atlantic Road will be a key route for pedestrians approaching the development from
Brixton Underground station, while Brixton Station Road will also see a significant increase in
footfall associated with the development.
A contribution (the amount is to be confirmed with the applicant and TfL) towards the provision
of a new TfL cycle hire docking station in the vicinity of the site, and the provision of free cycle
hire keys for 10% of employees;
A Legible London Signage contribution of £15,000;
A contribution of between £8,100 and £18,600 (as set out above) to address shortages of
visitor cycle parking across the wider Brixton town centre;
A contribution of £450,000 to fund additional bus services in the area as agreed with TfL;
Network Rail: Brixton station contribution (amount to be confirmed following further discussions
with Network Rail);
Construction Management Plan;
Delivery and Servicing Plan, including a commitment to 50% freight consolidation; and
Travel Plan and monitoring.

8.6.56 No objection has been raised by the Council’s Transport and Highways Sections to the proposal.
Subject to the above mitigation measures, the proposal would be in accordance with Policies 6.1
and 6.3 of the London Plan and Policies T3, T6, T7 and T8 of the Local Plan.
8.7

Sustainable Design and Construction

8.7.1

Policies 5.2 and 5.3 of the London Plan state that development proposals should minimise carbon
dioxide emissions and exhibit the highest standards of sustainable design and construction, whilst
Policy 5.7 states that they should provide on-site renewable energy generation. Policy 5.5 states
that Boroughs should seek to create decentralised energy networks, whilst Policy 5.6 requires
development proposals to connect to an existing heating network as a first preference if one is
available.

8.7.2

Policy 5.3 provides a list of the sustainability criteria against which planning applications will be
assessed. The London Plan policy seeks to ensure the following sustainable design principles:









Minimizing carbon dioxide emissions across the Site, including buildings and services
Avoid internal overheating and contributions to the urban heat island effect
Efficient use of natural resources including water
Minimising pollution (including noise and air)
Minimising the generation of waste and maximizing reuse or recycling
Ensuring developments are comfortable and secure for users
Securing sustainable procurement of materials
Promoting and protecting biodiversity and green infrastructure

8.7.3

The London Plan also requires that the development follows an energy hierarchy when considering
reducing CO2 emissions. The energy hierarchy must consider incorporation of energy efficiency
measures including passive design, supplying energy efficiently (with a particular emphasis on decentralised energy generation including CHP) and using renewable energy technologies.

8.7.4

Policy EN3 of the adopted and submission version Local Plan requires development to utilise
decentralized heating, cooling or power networks in the vicinity of the site, or future proof for
planned energy networks.

Page 110
8.7.5

In accordance with the principles of Policy 5.2 and Policy SI2 of the Intend to publish London Plan,
the applicant has submitted an Energy Statement which is compliant with the draft London Plan
policies and Energy Assessment Guidance Energy Hierarchy. It has been demonstrated that a
reduction of 19% would be achieved over the Part L 2013 Building Regulations baseline through
passive (Be Lean) measures. No Be Clean measures are proposed. For the Be Green stage, a
centralised air to water heat pump system is being proposed for space heating. The proposal has
been revised to include provisions for the installation of photovoltaic renewable energy technology
for the development.

8.7.6

Overall, the Energy Statement (as amended by the addendum) confirms that the development
would meet the target for 35% CO2 reductions for commercial developments. A final roof layout
plan providing full details of the photovoltaic panels to be installed and areas of green roof to be
provided would be secured by condition. A financial contribution relating to the shortfall in carbon
reductions would also be secured. Carbon offsetting will be calculated and paid in accordance with
an updated Energy Statement to be secured by s106 legal agreement.

8.7.7

The applicant has not proposed a Combined Heat and Power (CHP) system on the grounds that
CHP will not work efficiently due to low hot water demand, and instead proposes to use efficient air
to water heat pumps (ASHP) in Office and Office Space blocks. This takes advantage of the lower
carbon emissions of the electric grid as well as the efficiency of the heat pumps coefficient of
performance. A final Energy Statement, which includes justification for the choice of individual
ASHPs for space heating, over a site-wide heating system, would be secured by s106.

8.7.8

In order to comply with Policy EN4 of the London Plan, pre-assessments have been conducted
which confirm that it is feasible for all new build, non-residential elements of the development to
achieve BREEAM Excellent.

8.7.9

The Energy Statement and Sustainability Statements demonstrate that sustainable design
standards are integral to the design, operation and construction of the development. These are
compliant with the draft London Plan policies, the Council’s Local Plan and the GLA’s Energy
Assessment Guidance. The proposed development aims to maximise opportunities for water
efficiency, which include the use of water saving fixtures and fittings, reduced water flow rates and
the installation of water meters. This would be secured by condition.

8.7.10 In accordance with Policy EN7, a Waste Management Strategy is to be created and implemented.
The Sustainability Statement identifies that construction waste and waste created through the
operation of the development are sought to be minimised in accordance with the waste hierarchy
and sufficient internal space for the storage, recycling and composting of waste has been
incorporated for all proposed uses. The Statement confirms that the proposed development has
been carefully designed to take the likely impacts of climate change into account. The incorporation
of SuDS, brown roofs and other sustainability measures will reduce the water demands of the
development and manage it as close to its source as possible. The proposed development also
includes some planting to combat the effects of climate change; incorporates solar control glazing
to reduce reliance on air conditioning systems and effective ventilation to reduce internal heat
gains.
8.7.11 Due to the site’s accessible location, the proposed development also takes opportunities to
encourage transport by non-car modes and provides 352 cycle parking spaces to encourage
sustainable modes of travel. Lockers, showers and on-site changing facilities are incorporated into
the design to further encourage this and no car parking spaces are proposed for the occupants of
the building. The Transport Assessment also includes a draft Travel Plan which will encourage and
maximise the use of sustainable travel options available in the vicinity of the site.
8.7.12 Notwithstanding the evolving Energy Strategy, the proposed development has been designed to be

Page 111
highly sustainable and maximise the potential carbon savings that can be achieved in accordance
with the aims of the NPPF, London Plan (policies EN4, EN7, 5.2, 5.3, 5.5, 5.6 and 5.7), the Intend
to publish London Plan (policy S12), the Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG and
adopted and submission Local Plan (Policy EN3).
8.8

Other Environmental Matters

8.8.1

Flood Risk

8.8.2

The NPPF states that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by
directing development away from areas at highest risk but, where development is necessary,
making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Policy 5.12 of the London Plan states that
development proposals must meet flood risk assessment and management requirements. The
London Plan SPG states new development should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems and green roofs where practical with the aim of maximising all opportunities to achieve a
Greenfield run-off rate, increasing biodiversity and improving water quality. Greenfield runoff rates
are defined as the runoff rates from a site, in its natural state, prior to any development. Typically
this is between 2 and 8 litres per second per hectare. Surface water run-off is to be managed as
close to source as possible.

8.8.3

A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application to demonstrate that the
proposed development can be satisfactorily accommodated without worsening flood risk for the
area and without placing the development itself at risk of flooding, as per National guidance
provided within the National Planning Policy Framework document (NPPF) and in accordance with
Policy EN5 of the Local Plan. The FRA also raises no concern in relation to any impact from the
River Effra which does not run beneath or in close proximity to the site.

8.8.4

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, the site would be categorised as lying
within Flood Zone 1 - an area assessed as having 1 in 1000 or less annual probability of river or
sea flooding (<0.1%). The proposed development is classified as "less vulnerable" for the office
and retail and "more vulnerable" for non-residential institution class D1/D2 land use. The land use
in the proposed development is considered acceptable under the terms of the Sequential Test and
there is no requirement for an Exception Test to be carried out.

8.8.5

The FRA concludes the following:











The site has been assessed as being at very low probability of flooding from fluvial and tidal
sources;
The site has been assessed as being at low risk of flooding from sewers and other drainage
networks as long as they are adequately maintained;
The site has been assessed as being at a low risk from groundwater sources, subject to a
suitable waterproofing strategy at basement level;
The site has been assessed as being at low risk from artificial sources;
The site has been assessed as being at a low risk from surface water flooding;
The site is located in a very low to low risk area, however, the areas to the west (Pope's Road)
and east (Valentia Place) of the site have been identified as medium to high risk. The area
north of the site (Brixton Station Road) is classified as low to very low risk of flooding;
The proposed development has an acceptable flood risk within the terms and requirements of
the National Planning Policy Framework;
The site lies within a critical drainage area, so flooding during severe weather might affect the
infrastructure around the site;
The site does not currently cause flooding to adjacent sites and SUDs measures are proposed,
therefore, the risk to adjacent properties will be limited. A sustainable drainage system is to be

Page 112





8.8.6

specified to reduce the peak surface water discharge from the proposed development.
In order to reduce the risk of flooding from sewer to the site and other properties downstream,
the proposed peak discharge rate from the development will need to be consulted with the
local authority, Thames Water and the MEP; and
Safe access should be provided to the north of the development, an area with a lower risk of
surface water flooding.

No objection is raised on flooding grounds. The FRA has been undertaken in accordance with the
principles set out in NPPF and it concludes that providing the development adheres to the
mitigation strategy recommended the proposed development can accommodate without increasing
flood risk within the locality in accordance with planning policy objectives.
Air Quality

8.8.7

The site falls within an Air Quality Management Area in relation to a breach of nitrogen dioxide and
particulate matters objectives as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000. Policy 7.14 of the
London Plan and Policy T1 of the Local Plan requires development to support measures that
reduce levels of local air pollution and improve air quality.

8.8.8

An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application which provides an assessment
of the air quality impacts associated with the proposed mixed-use development. The proposal
would generate additional traffic on the local road network, but the assessment has shown that
there would be no significant effects on any existing, sensitive receptor.

8.8.9

During the construction works, a range of best practice mitigation measures would be implemented
to reduce dust emissions and the overall effect would be ‘not significant’; appropriate measures
have been set out in the report and these would be included in the final Air Quality and Dust
Management Plan for the works that would be secured by condition.
8.8.10 Overall, the construction and operational air quality effects of the proposal are judged to be ‘not
significant’. The proposal has also been shown to meet the London Plan’s requirement that new
developments are at least ‘air quality neutral’.
8.8.11 No objection has been raised by the Council’s Sustainability Section to the proposal. A condition
would therefore be attached to any permission granted requiring the implementation of appropriate
mitigation measures to ensure the proposal is air quality neutral. The residual effects of the
proposed development are considered to be negligible for NO2 and particulate matter and the
overall effect of the proposed development on local air quality is not considered to be significant.
8.8.12 Policy T8 of the Local Plan requires planning applications to be accompanied by a construction and
logistic plan, demonstrating arrangements for construction traffic and how environmental, traffic
and amenity impacts would be minimised. An outline of the principles of a construction
management plan are set out in the submitted documents.
8.8.13 A final management plan will be required setting out full details of the demolition and construction
programme to fully protect the locality from the transport and environmental impacts of
construction. These further details would be secured by condition. A condition is also
recommended to ensure any Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) used during construction and
demolition in order to minimise detrimental impact on air quality.
Wind Microclimate
8.8.14 Policy 7.7 of the London Plan states that tall buildings should not have an unacceptable harmful
impact on their surroundings and should not adversely affect microclimate or wind turbulence.
Policy Q26 of the Local Plan concerns tall and large buildings. The policy text states that, in relation

Page 113
to wind effects, proposals will be supported where they do not have an unacceptably harmful impact
on their surroundings including microclimate and wind turbulence.
8.8.15 Wind conditions around the application site are generally calm, as expected for a relatively low-rise
area without any significantly tall buildings. Wind conditions range from suitable for sitting to strolling
use with localised walking use conditions on Pope’s Road during the windiest season. Wind
conditions would be generally calmer during the summer season, ranging from suitable for sitting
use to strolling use.
8.8.16 A Wind Assessment, prepared by Trium, has been submitted with the application that considers the
likely significant effects of the proposed development on the site and surrounding area in terms of
the wind microclimate. The assessment has been subject to wind tunnel testing which has
influenced the design of the proposed development in order to ensure that the wind microclimate is
suitable for the intended uses.
8.8.17 With the inclusion of the proposed development, the Assessment identifies that there would be a
general increase of the wind speeds around the site. Wind conditions during the windiest season
would generally range from suitable for sitting to walking use, with four locations with instances of
walking use wind conditions at ground level during the windiest season.
8.8.18 With the inclusion of the wind mitigation strategy, wind conditions at and surrounding the proposed
development would be safe and comfortable for all uses throughout the year; however slightly
windier than desired wind conditions would persist at two locations in the context of the existing
surroundings only. Wind mitigation measures at these locations have been suggested within
Section 6 “Wind Mitigation Measures” of the Assessment report.
8.8.19 No objection has been raised by the Council’s Environmental Section to the proposal subject to a
condition securing the wind mitigation strategy identified within the Assessment.
Ground Conditions and contamination
8.8.20 Whilst the Local Plan does not contain specific policies on land contamination, the supporting text
to Policy EN4 notes that a remediation strategy should be submitted prior to commencement of
development in instances where contamination exists.
8.8.21 A Phase 1 Land Contamination Assessment, prepared by Trium, has been submitted with the
application that considers the likely significant effects of the proposed development associated with
potential contamination risks during the construction and operational stages. The site is reported to
have 20 recorded potentially contaminative historical land uses on site that relate to railway
infrastructure. There are no current contaminative land uses identified on the site and the existing
retail land use is associated is of low risk. According to the Council’s records, there are no records
of contamination on the site, and no enforcement concerns relating to Part IIA of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990.
8.8.22 The Assessment identifies that potentially significant pollution pathways within the site and
surrounding area are associated with ingestion/inhalation of windblown dust from adjacent site
users and dermal contact, ingestion or inhalation of potentially contaminated soil or dust for
demolition and construction workers and service repair staff. It is also considered that there is a risk
of potential contamination of surface water runoff from general demolition and construction related
activities and/or via operational site drainage.
8.8.23 Potential contamination within the soil could have a significant effect on buried services (utilities)
which are susceptible to corrosion from direct contact with pollutants within soil. There is the
potential for ground gas migration in permeable strata, accumulation and risk of explosion to

Page 114
demolition and construction workers and future site users. The superficial geology (Taplow
Gravels) underlying the site is relatively permeable and therefore, there is the potential risk of
contamination pathways via groundwater.
8.8.24 The overall risk from the existing buildings is considered to be moderate for demolition and
construction workers due to the potential presence of asbestos in buildings and low for surface
water due to potentially contaminated runoff entering the drainage system.
8.8.25 The overall risk of potential contamination within soils and groundwater on on-site and offsite
sources is moderate on construction workers as workers will be working directly in potentially
contaminated soils and/or groundwater and very low for adjacent site users. There is no risk from
potential contamination within soils and groundwater from future site users and planting because
there are no proposed areas of exposed soils and/or groundwater at ground level and the proposed
development is 100% hardstanding. Should any future planting occur, then this will be via above
ground planters using clean soils.
8.8.26 There is a moderate risk of existing ground gas migration accumulating and potential for explosion
within the site on demolition and construction workers. This is because there is significant thickness
of made ground on site, therefore, it is recommended that ground gas monitoring and a risk
assessment is undertaken prior to demolition and construction on site. Following this, appropriate
mitigation measures will be proposed (where necessary) to ensure there is no risk to construction
workers.
8.8.27 The Assessment recommends that a targeted site investigation is undertaken to quantify the
contamination status of the underlying soils and ground water, with particular regard to the
excavation of materials for the construction of the basement. This site investigation should also
consider the risk of ground gas and the design of mitigation measures where required.
8.8.28 No objection has been raised by either the Environment Agency or the Council’s Environmental
Health Section to the proposal. Further investigation and measures to mitigate the potential effects
of any contamination found would be secured by condition. Good demolition and construction
practices are to be used to reduce the contamination risks to demolition/construction workers on
site and adjacent site users, this will include ensuring demolition/construction workers wear
appropriate personal protective equipment (PPE) and that any necessary licences would be
obtained for the storage, treatment and disposal of waste.
8.8.29 An appropriate surface water drainage strategy will be designed to ensure there are no adverse
effects of contamination as a result of surface water runoff. This would also be secured by
condition.
Archaeology
8.8.30 Historic England (Archaeology) have reviewed the proposal and have raised no objections. Having
considered the proposal with reference to the information held in the Greater London Historic
Environment Record and/or made available in connection with this application, they have
concluded that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on heritage assets of
archaeological interest and have advised that no further assessment or conditions are necessary.
Public Art
8.8.31 Policy Q4, part (c) of the local plan encourages the provision of new public art in major
development proposals in town centres. Within the Pope’s Road public realm area proposed, a
piece of new art and design is intended to be commissioned to the benefit of all those using and
passing by the development.

Page 115
8.8.32 Full details of the intended piece and timeframe for installation, together with a contribution to
secure its delivery, are to be agreed as part of the final Public Realm and Art Strategy to be
secured by s106 legal agreement.
8.9

Employment and Training

8.9.1

Policy 4.12 of the London Plan and Policy ED4 of the Local Plan support employment and training
schemes within all major developments to maximise local employment opportunities to address the
skills deficit in the borough. The proposed development would deliver a mix of retail, office and
community uses to complement and promote growth across Brixton Town Centre providing a new
office floorspace ecosystem in an area where there is an identified lack of supply and
competitiveness with other locations. The proposed retail uses and office floorspace would
integrate and work collaboratively together creating a wider ecosystem that would benefit the local
public and future office users by encouraging local business growth and supporting community
projects/organisations. This would be achieved through the Commercial and Commercial Use
Strategy and Management Plan that would be secured by s106 as detailed in the ‘Planning
Obligations and CIL’ section below.

8.9.2

The development would contribute to securing greater provision of office space suitable for SMEs,
aid in meeting the Borough’s requirement for affordable workspace, and attract visitors to the local
area – all of which would stimulate the local economy. In addition to the affordable workspace
specifically targeting local businesses in the creative industry, the workspace would be designed as
business ‘incubator’ operations, which would be flexible and able to accommodate small
businesses of different sizes, allowing local businesses to develop and expand.

8.9.3

The development would also provide a significant uplift of economic activity in Brixton with the
construction phase of the development expected to generate 440 jobs annually on-site across the
3.3-year construction period, equivalent to circa 145 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs across the
entire period. Upon completion, the proposed development is expected to accommodate circa
1,600 gross FTEs providing an uplift in employment of 1,550 FTEs or 1,800 jobs. This equates to a
3,600% increase compared to the jobs currently supported on-site.

8.9.4

Applying the average rateable value per sqm of office floorspace in the surrounding area, as well
as an estimated rateable value for retail/restaurant space based on similar hotels in the local area,
it is estimated that the proposed development would pay a total of at least £2.4m in annual
business rate payments, equivalent to an uplift of at least £2.3m annually.

8.9.5

The Applicant has committed to providing an Employment and Skills Plan, in accordance with the
requirements of the Council’s Employment and Skills SPD (Feb 2018), to be secure by s106, which
outlines how the local labour targets of 25% will be secured in the construction and end-use
phases of the development through the use of reasonable endeavours to:





8.9.6

Advertise and promote job vacancies locally including, but not limited to, through the
Opportunity Lambeth website;
Provide apprenticeships and supported employment opportunities (29 and 12 opportunities
respectively for the long-term unemployed are proposed);
Offer bespoke training and skills activities related to the jobs created by the development,
working in partnership with local training providers; and
Engage with young people and/or job seekers through activities such as work experience,
career inspiration and mentoring (Sector-specific under-represented priority groups or groups
suffering disproportionately from unemployment are to be identified in the agreement and
targeted for appropriate job vacancies arising from the development).

The applicant is proposing that 10% of the net internal Class B1 floorspace (2,544sqm) would be

Page 116
provided as affordable workspace at 50% of market rents for a period of 25 years. The applicant, in
conjunction with Impact Brixton would manage and operate the affordable workspace within the
proposed development. Education and training programmes would be provided by Impact Brixton
on-site to help strengthen the skills of local communities and local businesses, as well as providing
affordable workspace in a co-working environment. A Workspace Strategy that identifies how the
affordable workspace will be designed to accommodate different scales of businesses with
particular reference to the types of spaces required to support Brixton’s local economy including
start-up, incubator and grow-on space for creative and digital industries as well as an initial model
‘scale up’ strategy that shows how local businesses will be able to develop and flourish within the
development. The Employment and Skills Plan and Workspace Strategy would both be secured by
s106.
8.9.7

The Employment and Skills SPD also seeks a monetary contribution to help support those sections
of the Lambeth workforce that are furthest from employment, having been out of work for a long
period of time and/or having low levels of skills. The financial contributions will be used by the
council to fund training and support to enable access to newly created employment opportunities
arising from development. For this development the financial contribution would be £520,072 based
on the formula set out in the SPD. Discussions are currently ongoing with the applicant in relation
to the possibility of taking a proportion of this financial contribution by way of an endowment to
provide an ongoing financial benefit to local employment and training initiatives is currently being
explored. If such an approach were agreed, Officers would seek to agree how the endowment is
spent so that funding is focussed on local priorities at that time (for example, through an agreed
plan of how the endowment will be spent which is reviewed every three years).This would be made
up of 3 constituent parts including: a) a £150,000 payment upfront; a £56,000 annual payment
index linked; and a 1% growth related payment (further details of this are to be agreed with the
applicant and set out in the Committee Addendum) which would be paid to the Council and spent
on priorities identified at the time. This would be secured by s106 agreement.

8.9.8

Subject to this agreement, the development would be compliant with Policy 4.12 of the London
Plan and Policy ED4 of the Local Plan.

8.10

Planning Obligations and CIL

8.10.1 Policy D4 of the Local Plan and Annex 10 sets out the Council’s policy in relation to seeking
planning obligations and the charging approaches for various types of obligation. For contributions
that are not covered by Annex 10, the Council’s approach to calculating contributions is guided by
the Council’s Development Viability SPD (adopted 2017) and the Employment and Skills SPD
(adopted 2018).
8.10.2 The planning obligations that are proposed are considered necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the development and are fairly and reasonably
related in kind and in scale to the development. They are therefore compliant with the requirements
of Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.
8.10.3 The proposed obligations to be secured through the s106 Agreement are as follows:
Employment and Skills


Employment and skills plan which outlines how the local labour targets of 25% will be
secured in the construction and end-use phases of the development through use of reasonable
endeavours to:
o advertise and promote job vacancies locally including, but not limited to, through the
Opportunity Lambeth website;
o provide apprenticeships and supported employment opportunities;

Page 117
o
o

offer bespoke training and skills activities related to the jobs created by the development,
working in partnership with local training providers; and
engage with young people and/or job seekers through activities such as work experience,
career inspiration and mentoring;



Employment and training contribution of £520,072; (figure to be agreed – the possibility of
taking a proportion of the financial contribution by way of an endowment to provide an ongoing
financial benefit to local employment and training initiatives is currently being explored. If such
an approach were agreed, the Council would seek to agree how the endowment is spent so
that funding is focussed on local priorities at that time (for example, through an agreed plan of
how the endowment will be spent which is reviewed every three years). This would be made
up of 3 constituent parts including: a) a £150,000 payment upfront; a £56,000 annual payment
index linked; and a 1% growth related payment (further details of this are to be agreed with the
applicant and set out in the Committee Addendum) which would be paid to the Council and
spent on priorities identified at the time.



Provision of 10% affordable workspace in line with the Draft Affordable Workspace SPD and
to include an affordable workspace management plan setting out an allocations strategy
prioritising local businesses;



Workspace Strategy that identifies how workspace will be designed to accommodate different
scales of businesses with particular reference to the types of spaces required to support
Brixton’s local economy including start-up, incubator and grow-on space for creative and digital
industries as well as an initial model ‘scale up’ strategy that shows how local businesses will be
able to develop and flourish within the development.

Public Realm and Community


Public Realm Design Scheme (PRDS) for Popes Road to include:
o

Layout of market pitches, cycle parking, seating/street furniture, surfacing materials,
planting and signage that identifies and reinforces pedestrian routes to/from the existing
railway station; pedestrian routes alongside the railway arches and potential new
development between the railway viaducts; pedestrian routes into Brixton Village indoor
market; pedestrian routes between the Brixton Station Road and Atlantic Road; and
pedestrian routes outside a new station entrance to the west on Popes Road and any
proposed major mixed use development to the east;

o

Retention, reconfiguration and potential increase in the existing 34 market pitches as
informed by the design principles set out in the Brixton Street Market Master Plan & Action
Plan and in consultation with the Council’s Markets team and Brixton Market Traders
Federation (each market pitch is required to measure a minimum of 2.74m long, 2.18m
wide and 3.05m high);

o

Provision of secure cycle stands to support interchange with the railway station and
general access to the town centre - the total number to be provided will be confirmed by
the needs assessment to be undertaken;

o

Emergency vehicle access - a minimum clear width of 3.7m to facilitate emergency vehicle
access to adjacent buildings;

o

A scheme of tree planting to be determined by the need to enable vehicular access
required to undertake maintenance and future works once fully established; avoid
compaction from mobile stalls; mitigate direct damage from vandalism or accidental vehicle

Page 118
or market stall movement; prevent interference with the railway infrastructure; include
species which provide good ground clearance, openness of canopy to increase natural
light levels, shading, visual impact and biodiversity value; mitigate the impact of downdrafts
caused by buildings of scale; and the planting of replacement trees for any that may die or
are damaged within 5 years of planting;



o

Green infrastructure, including green walls where expansive retaining walls are available;

o

Public Art - the celebration and integration of the Michael Johns mural and identification of
opportunities for other public art (to be finalised in a Public Art Strategy to be secured);

o

Provision of signage to assist orientation when arriving by train or navigating the town
centre;

o

Re-provision of the existing public toilet block within the new development;

o

Street lighting which balances illumination and ambience, and celebrates the architecture
of the railway infrastructure;

o

Delivery of PRDS - requirement for the developer to take on delivery of the agreed PRDS
in a timeframe to be agreed with the LPA (the cost of the delivery of the agreed PRDS is
anticipated by the applicant to be £1,500,000);

Community and Commercial Use Strategy and Management Plan demonstrating how the
applicant will build on the established Community and Commercial Use Commitments provided
including how the community floorspace (the dedicated D class use) within the proposal will be
dedicated, managed and curated and how the local community will use the facilities throughout
the development, including the dedicated D class use. This should include:
o

Local community access secured to full range of on-site facilities in perpetuity – this should
include a community use access strategy for the use of space throughout the building by
the local community (e.g. in relation to specific element such as meeting rooms for
coaching and training, development kitchen, events space) and an events strategy to
maximise the use of the space for the activities raised during the community consultation
undertaken and subsequent consultation, taking in to account representation across ages;

o

Local Community Partner Lead to be appointed to facilitate consultation and engagement
with local groups, businesses and stakeholders to develop the Community & Commercial
Use Strategy;

o

Setting up of steering group (range of stakeholders) to review operational aspects of
community uses and progress periodically for first 10 years of adoption;

o

Frequent community communications and publicity of opportunities/access
arrangements of the range of community activities/access arrangements that are available
at the site via a list of approved community contacts/disseminators, a website and a ready
provided point of contact for community enquiries;

o

Yearly social value monitoring which is made publically available during the operational
phase;

o

Affordable temporary market stall space commitment to support new/existing local traders
and a young people’s market;

Page 119



o

Meanwhile/pop-up strategy agreed with the council to outline efforts made toward local
businesses to ensure that vacant units are readily activated and available for short periods
to allow local businesses to make the most of such opportunities;

o

Community access to free or discounted meeting rooms and spaces suited to exhibitions in
both the market and affordable workspaces – business tenants should be required to
agree a community access offer as part of their leases to be publicised via the applicant’s
central website for the development;

o

Dedicated community space and programming for the local community that responds to
the community needs raised during the community engagement undertaken and
subsequent engagement that requires closed or more private spaces (the final location of
the space and its size is to be agreed following community engagement on the Community
and Commercial Use Strategy and Management Plan outlined above);

o

Public toilets free, publicly-accessible, available during full opening hours associated with
the development and designed in accordance with the guidance in British Standard
BS8300-2:2018;

Public Art Strategy and contribution – (the exact contribution amount is to be agreed once the
community engagement on the public realm proposals has been completed and the design has
been agreed and costed);

Transport and Highways


Car-free development with Business Parking permit-free;



Legible London signage contribution – a contribution of £15,000 confirmed by GLA in their
Stage 1 response received 8th July 2020;



Enter into s278 agreement (and s38 agreement where necessary) for off-site highways works –
this is for any necessary works to facilitate the development, including making good any
damaged caused during construction, and excludes any wider public realm improvement works
to highways/public realm as set out below;



Delivery and Servicing Management Plan including mechanism to monitor 50% freight
consolidation with cap on servicing trips (half the predicted number within the revised Transport
Assessment submitted);



Travel plan and monitoring fee of £8,000 for all non-residential uses;



Implementation of improvements to walking and cycling routes to the site contribution of
£300,000 to fund the delivery of improvements to Atlantic Road and Brixton Station Road.
Atlantic Road (section between Brixton Road and Pope’s Road) will be a key route for
pedestrians approaching the development from Brixton Underground station, while Brixton
Station Road (section between Pope’s Road and Valentia Place adjacent to the site) will also
see a significant increase in footfall associated with the development. The contribution has
been calculated on the basis of £250 per sqm of works and the extent of the area to cover such
works, as shown on a plan, is to be agreed.



New cycle hire docking station contribution and cycle hire membership for 10% of the expected
employee numbers - contribution amount to be confirmed with applicant and TfL;

Page 120


Provision of two new disabled bays on Brixton Station Road and installation of rapid charge
points with a contribution of £30,000 (this includes £20,000 (2 x £10,000) for the disabled bays
and £10,000 (2 x £5000) per EV charge point) for implementation of these secured;



Disabled parking monitoring and review mechanism;



Brixton Rail Station Improvements contribution of £300,000 towards improving station
accessibility (this covers the cost of introducing 2 x lifts each costing £150,000);



Installation of additional visitor cycle parking in the wider town centre contribution of between
£8,100 (for 53 spaces / 27 Sheffield stands at £300 each - assuming the remaining 70 spaces
could be accommodated on Pope’s Road public realm), and £18,600 (for all 123 spaces / 62
Sheffield stands). This contribution would be used to address shortages of visitor cycle parking
across the wider Brixton town centre;



Additional bus services in the area contribution of £450,000 has been agreed with TfL;

Energy, Sustainability and Microclimate


Final Energy Strategy for future energy network connection and to identify the value of any
carbon off-setting contribution (this is estimated to be £22,005 although will be subject to final
agreement) to secure delivery of carbon dioxide savings elsewhere with reference to urban
greening, landscaping details to the rooftops and the air to water heat pumps.

Administration


Administration and implementation fee (for obligations of this scale, 5% of total value of
financial contributions) - this is to be confirmed by the Council’s Legal section.

8.10.4 If the application is approved and the development is implemented, there would be no liability to
pay either the Mayoral or Lambeth Community Infrastructure Levies (CIL).
9.

Conclusion

9.1

The proposed development will bring forward the regeneration of the site and is aligned with the
desire for growth within Brixton Town centre. Comprising a mix of retail, restaurant, community and
office floorspace, the proposal is considered appropriate in policy terms and would assist in
facilitating the aims of the site allocation.

9.2

The proposal would also provide a substantial uplift in jobs (approximately 1,600 in total) with a
wide-range of flexible employment spaces creating diverse employment opportunities for
established business, small to medium sized enterprises and start-ups and a policy complaint
affordable workspace provision (10% affordable workspace amounting to 2,544sqm of B1a
floorspace is proposed).

9.3

It further delivers a new public square, including facilitating the future creation of new pedestrian
routes to improve connectivity within the immediate area; provides dedicated community floorspace
within the development, including the provision of new and expanded public toilets; and provides
investment in local public transport infrastructure, including contributions towards improving Brixton
Rail Station; providing additional bus services in the area; improving cycle parking in the town
centre; and improvements to signage and walking/cycling routes along Atlantic Road & Brixton
Station Road.

9.4

The application has been advertised as a departure from policy on the basis that it is not in

Page 121
accordance with the Policy Q26, part (ii) ‘there is no adverse impact on the significance of strategic
or local views or heritage assets including their settings’; and site allocation ''Site 16 - Brixton
Central (between the viaducts) SW9'' - Design principles and key development consideration (x)
‘proposes low buildings to protect the amenity of new residential development on Coldharbour
Lane adjoining the site’ of the Lambeth Local Plan.
9.5

The height and massing of the development, which makes the proposal a policy departure, has
been assessed in relation to its impact from a wide range of viewpoints and has been found to be
acceptable and justified, including in relation to its impact on heritage assets. An assessment of the
current application has identified less than substantial harm caused. Both the GLA and Historic
England have also come to the same conclusion.

9.6

Notwithstanding that the proposal represents a departure from Policy Q26 and Site Allocation 16 of
the Local Plan, the application scheme is considered not to conflict with policy in all other regards
and as such, as a policy compliant scheme it would deliver social, economic, environmental and
sustainable benefits to the community.

9.7

However, as the proposal represents a departure from adopted local plan policy and has been
identified as causing ‘less than substantial’ harm it is important to identify the public benefits that
would outweigh these in line with paragraph 196 of the NPPF. These benefits are considered to be:










New and Diverse Employment Opportunities – the creation of a new office floorspace
ecosystem providing flexible office and workspace accommodation, including medium, small
and micro workspaces well suited to small creative and cultural businesses and start-ups;
Jobs – the creation of approximately 1,600 on-site jobs across a range of sectors and
additional jobs during construction and from associated resident and occupier expenditures;
local employment and training initiatives; and the provision of 10% affordable workspace
(2,544sqm) within the development;
Community – the provision of dedicated community floorspace within the development and the
use of the publicly accessible central space within the market by the community to host events.
Transport – investment in local public transport infrastructure, including contributions towards
improving Brixton Rail Station; providing additional bus services in the area; improving cycle
parking in the town centre; improvements to signage and walking/cycling routes along Atlantic
Road & Brixton Station Road; and a commitment to 50% freight consolidation to reduce
servicing trips to and from the site;
Public Realm – the delivery of a new public square on Pope’s Road to support a range of uses
and to create a multi-functional, inclusive, useable public space; and
Public facilities – the provision of new and expanded public toilets within the development to
replace the existing dated block in Popes Road.

9.8

The identified social, economic, environmental and sustainability value that the scheme would
bring, with the addition of the benefits identified above, it is considered that the public benefits of
the application scheme outweigh the departure from policy and ‘less than substantial’ harm
identified.

9.9

The height of the development in this highly publically accessible location is considered to be
acceptable. The proposed building on the site has been sensitively designed, taking its cue from
the surrounding and historic context of the site, and would respect the character, context and the
form and scale of neighbouring buildings and would sit comfortably within the streetscene and
surrounding area. The appearance and detailed façade treatment of the development is considered
to be high quality, displaying an appropriate response to the surrounding character and the
proposal would result in ‘less than substantial harm’ to the setting of nearby listed buildings,
conservation areas and protected views.

Page 122
9.10

The proposed scheme does result in some adverse and noticeable reductions in daylight and
sunlight as identified above. However, consideration should be given to the particular
characteristics of the properties reviewed and to the fairly minimal existing massing on the
application site which is unusual in an urban context. It is also reasonable to consider the identified
effects alongside the planning merits of the scheme overall. In conclusion officers consider that the
many planning benefits that the scheme would deliver over and above those required by policy are
sufficient to outweigh the identified impacts on residential amenity.

9.11

The development would have a sustainable construction, meeting all of the relevant sustainability
standards.

9.12

The proposed development will secure the regeneration and revitalisation of an important site as
identified within the Lambeth Local Plan. It will support the local area as a destination as a place to
work and shopping and for community and leisure.

9.13

In conclusion, officers consider that the many planning benefits the development would deliver are
sufficient to outweigh the identified impacts on heritage and residential amenity; and that, in this
instance, taking account of all the relevant material considerations, and notwithstanding the
departure from the design principles and key development consideration (x) in the allocation of Site
16 and Policy Q26 of the Local Plan, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in all other
respects, including the land uses proposed, transport impacts, sustainability, landscaping and
urban greening. As such, the proposal is considered to be acceptable when judged against
national, London wide and local plan policy and guidance and all relevant material considerations
and is recommended for approval.

10

PROCEDURAL MATTERS

10.1

The application is referable to the Mayor under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(Mayor of London) Order 2008. The application has been referred to the Mayor at ‘Stage 1’. Before
Lambeth can issue a decision on this application it will need to refer the application again to the
Mayor at Stage 2; at which point the Mayor will have the opportunity to elect to become
determining authority, direct refusal, or allow Lambeth to proceed and issue the decision in line with
its resolution.

11

EQUALITY DUTY AND HUMAN RIGHTS

11.1

In line with the Public Sector Equality Duty the council must have due regard to the need to
eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity, as set out in section 149 of the
Equality Act 2010. In making this recommendation, due regard has been given to the Public Sector
Equality Duty and the relevant protected characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation).

11.2

In line with the Human Rights Act 1998, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is
incompatible with a Convention right, as per the European Convention on Human Rights. The
human rights impact have been considered, with particular reference to Article 1 of the First
Protocol (Protection of property), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life) and Article 14
(Prohibition of discrimination) of the Convention.

11.3

The Human Rights Act 1998 does not impair the right of the state to make decisions and enforce
laws as deemed necessary in the public interest. Concerns that the proposal would
disproportionately and detrimentally impact on BAME business owners on or in the vicinity of the
site have been fully considered.

11.4

The flexible offices with affordable work space provide vital space for new business, including

Page 123
those run by BAME entrepreneurs, to develop and grow. The incorporation of community space
and uses within the development will also provide the opportunity to ensure that all parts of the
local community are provided for within the development. Further engagement with the local
community is to be undertaken by way of a ‘Commercial and Community Use Strategy and
Management Plan’ to be secured by s106 as set out in ‘Planning Obligations’ section, para. 8.10.3
of the report. The recommendation is therefore considered appropriate in upholding the council's
adopted and emerging policies and is not outweighed by any engaged rights.
12

RECOMMENDATION
1

Resolve to grant conditional planning permission subject to the completion of an
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
containing the planning obligations listed in this report and any direction as may be
received following further referral to the Mayor of London.

2

Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Sustainability to:
a) Finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report, addendums and/or
PAC minutes; and
b) Negotiate, agree and finalise the planning obligations as set out in this report,
addendums and/or PAC minutes pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

3

In the event that the committee resolves to refuse planning permission and there is a
subsequent appeal, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport
and Sustainability, having regard to the heads of terms set out in this report, addendums
and/or PAC minutes, to negotiate and complete a document containing obligations
pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) in
order to meet the requirement of the Planning Inspector.

4

In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed within 6 months of
committee, delegated authority is given to the Director of Planning, Transport and
Sustainability to refuse planning permission for failure to enter into a section 106
agreement for the matters identified in this report, addendums and/or the PAC minutes.

Page 124
APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Draft Decision Notice - Conditions and Informatives
Standard Conditions

1.

Time period
The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than three years from the
date of this decision notice.
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2.

In accordance with approved plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved
plans and drawings listed in this decision notice, other than where those details are altered pursuant to
the conditions of this planning permission.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
Pre-commencement Conditions

3.

Drainage scheme
No development shall commence on site until the detailed design for the surface water drainage
system and associated pipework referred to in the Basement Impact Assessment, Flood Risk
Assessment and Drainage Assessment produced by AKT11 has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The approved for the surface water drainage scheme shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details before the development is first put into
use/occupied and thereafter maintained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and in the
interests of securing a more sustainable development and to reduce the impact of flooding both to and
from the development and third parties in accordance with Policy 5.13 of the London Plan (2015) and
Policy EN6 of the Lambeth Local Plan (September 2015).

4.

Contamination
Notwithstanding demolition and site clearance on site, no development shall take place until the
following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority:
(i)

A site investigation scheme, based on previous findings to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site;
(ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment resulting from (i);
(iii) An options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures
required and how they are to be undertaken; and
(iv) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that
the works set out in iii) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring
of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.

Page 125

The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details and measures
approved.
Reason: For the protection of controlled waters and the site is located over a Secondary Aquifer and it
is understood that the site may be affected by historic contamination. (Policies 5.21 of the London
Plan and EN4 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).

5.

Basement Construction Method statement
Notwithstanding demolition and site clearance on site, no development shall commence until full
details of the proposed basement construction methodology, in the form of a Construction Method
Statement, is submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Construction
Method Statement shall be written by a suitably qualified person and shall include details of:
a)
b)
c)
d)

The basement excavation methods of demolition and construction;
Measures to prevent mud and debris on the public highway;
Details of the phasing of construction;
Details of other measures including movement monitoring and reporting for nearby premises or
structures that may be affected by the excavation and
e) Measures to ensure ground stability and avoid adverse impacts on nearby premises or structures
The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details and measures
approved.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to avoid hazard and
obstruction being caused to users of the public highway and to ensure minimal nuisance or
disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of adjoining occupiers and of the area
generally, and avoid hazard and obstruction to the public highway. (Policies T1, T6, T7, Q2 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

6.

Construction and Environmental Management Plan
No development shall commence until a Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP),
including the method of demolition, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
The CEMP shall include details of the following relevant measures:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
(x)
(xi)

An introduction consisting of construction phase environmental management plan, definitions and
abbreviations and project description and location;
A description of management responsibilities.
A description of the construction programme which identifies activities likely to cause high levels
of noise or dust;
Site working hours and a named person for residents to contact;
Detailed Site construction logistics arrangements;
Details regarding parking, deliveries, and storage;
Details of an air quality and dust management plan;
Details regarding dust and noise mitigation measures to be deployed including identification of
sensitive receptors and ongoing monitoring;
Details of the hours of works and other measures to mitigate the impact of construction on the
amenity of the area and safety of the highway network;
Measures to prevent the deposit of mud and debris on the public highway; and
Communication procedures with the LBL and local community regarding key construction issues.

Page 126
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the details and measures
approved in the CEMP for the duration of the construction period, unless the written consent of the
local planning authority is received for any variation.
Reason: This is required prior to demolition and construction to avoid hazard and obstruction being
caused to users of the public highway and to safeguard residential amenity during the whole of the
construction period (Policies T6 and Q2 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

7.

Air Quality and Dust Management Plan
No demolition or development shall commence until full details of the proposed mitigation measures
for impact on air quality and dust emissions, in the form of an Air Quality and Dust Management Plan
(AQDMP), have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. In preparing
the AQMDP the applicant should follow the guidance on mitigation measures for medium Risk sites
set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and Demolition SPG
2014 for demolition, earthworks and construction and high risk for trackout. Both ‘highly
recommended’ and ‘desirable’ measures should be included. The AQDMP shall include the following
for each relevant phase of work (demolition, earthworks, construction and trackout):
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

A summary of work to be carried out;
Proposed haul routes, location of site equipment including supply of water for damping down,
source of water, drainage and enclosed areas to prevent contaminated water leaving the site;
Inventory and timetable of all dust and NOx air pollutant generating activities;
List of all dust and emission control methods to be employed and how they relate to the Air
Quality (Dust) Risk Assessment;
Details of any fuel stored on-site;
Details of a trained and responsible person on-site for air quality (with knowledge of pollution
monitoring and control methods, and vehicle emissions);
Summary of monitoring protocols and agreed procedure of notification to the local authority; and
A log book for action taken in response to incidents or dust-causing episodes and the mitigation
measure taken to remedy any harm caused, and measures employed to prevent a similar
incident reoccurring.

Automatic continuous PM10 monitoring should be carried out on site. Baseline monitoring should
commence at least three months before the commencement of the demolition phase and continue
throughout all construction phases. Monitors should be used at locations in use by sensitive receptors
and construction traffic for the duration of the development. Details of the equipment to be used and
its exact positioning should be submitted to the Council as part of the Air Quality Dust Management
Plan and approved prior to use. Data should be available for download by the local authority on
request. An annual summary report of continuous monitoring data should be provided to the council
for the duration of the development.
No demolition or development shall commence until all necessary pre-commencement measures
described in the AQDMP have been put in place and set out on site. The demolition and development
shall thereafter be carried out and monitored in accordance with the details and measures approved in
the AQDMP.
Reason: Development must not commence before this condition is discharged to manage and mitigate
the impact of the development on the air quality and dust emissions in the area and London as a
whole, and to avoid irreversible and unacceptable damage to the environment (London Plan Policies
5.3 and 7.14, and the London Plan SPGs for Sustainable Design and Construction and Control of Dust
and Emissions during Construction and Demolition).

Page 127

8.

Air Quality Neutral Assessment
No development shall commence until a full Air Quality Neutral Assessment in accordance with the
GLA Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Guidance has been undertaken
and submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Where Air Quality Neutral
benchmarks cannot be met a scheme of mitigation must be submitted which includes on site mitigation
that is part of the proposed development and may also include off-site offsetting. The details as
approved shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently
retained.
Reasons: To minimise increased exposure to existing poor air quality and make provision to address
local problems of air quality (particularly within AQMAs) (Policy 7.14 of the London Plan 2015).

Internal water use
9. Prior to the commencement of the development, details shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that the internal water consumption will achieve the
12.5% improvement over the baseline performance standard, achieving the BREEAM Excellent
standard for the Wat 01 category and to demonstrate that the development has incorporated
measures such as smart metering, water saving and recycling measures, including retrofitting, to help
to achieve lower water consumption rates and to maximise future-proofing through the provision of
post- construction BREEAM evidence used to sign off credits Wat 02 and Wat 03.
Reason: To ensure the development would achieve an acceptable standard of water efficiency (Policy
5.3 of the London Plan).
Non road-mobile machinery
10. No non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) shall be used on the site unless it is compliant with the
NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements (or any superseding requirements) and until it has been
registered for use on the site on the NRMM register (or any superseding register).
Reason: To ensure that air quality is not adversely affected by the development in line with London
Plan Policy 7.14 and the Mayor’s SPG: The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction and
Demolition.
Cycle lift details
11. Prior to the commencement of the construction of any part of the development hereby approved,
details of the dedicated ground floor cycle lift serving the basement cycle parking provision shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available on site and to promote sustainable modes of
transport (Policies T1, T3 and Q13 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Flues and extraction plant
12. Prior to the commencement of construction on site, the uses hereby permitted shall not commence
until details and full specifications of flues extraction and filtration equipment together with details of
including noise and vibration attenuation measures and an ongoing maintenance plan (including
elevational drawings and plant screening) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The use hereby permitted shall not commence until the approved details are fully
implemented. The approved flues, extraction and filtration equipment shall thereafter be retained and
maintained in working order for the duration of the use in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Page 128
Land contamination and drainage maintenance
Land Contamination
13. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development, a verification report demonstrating completion
of the works set out in the approved remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the
approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. It shall also
include any plan (a “long-term monitoring and maintenance plan”) for longer-term monitoring of
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action, as identified in the
verification plan, and for the reporting of this to the local planning authority.
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site then
no further development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained written
approval from the local planning authority for, an amendment to the remediation strategy detailing how
this unsuspected contamination will be dealt with.
Reasons: Development must not commence before relevant parts of this condition are discharged to
safeguard future users or occupiers of this site and the wider environment from irreversible risks
associated with the contaminants which are present by ensuring that the contaminated land is properly
treated and made safe before development. (Policies 5.21 of the London Plan (2015) and EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Drainage, Infrastructure, Management and Maintenance
14. No part of the development shall be brought into use/occupied until a Drainage Infrastructure
Management and Maintenance Plan including the foul and surface water management system and
associated pipework has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The plan must consider the management and maintenance for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements made to secure the operation of the scheme. The approved plan shall
be implemented in full in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions and thereafter retained as
such for the lifetime of the development.
All provisions for drainage must be undertaken in accordance with the details approved, unless the
written consent of the local planning authority is received for any variation.
Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and in the
interests of securing a more sustainable development and to reduce the impact of flooding both to and
from the development and third parties in accordance with Policy 5.13 of the London Plan (2015) and
Policy EN6 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and to ensure there are clear arrangements in place for
ongoing maintenance over the lifetime of the development (Government ministerial statement
HCWS161).
Design Details
External Materials
15. Prior to the commencement of building works above ground of the development hereby permitted, the
following details of the external elevations of the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority:

Page 129
a) A technical specification schedule of the materials; and
b) A sample panel to be erected on site (or another convenient local location), at a scale of 1:1, for
inspection showing ‘typical’ façade construction and illustrating the materials and their
construction detailing.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained
as such for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not detract
from the character and visual amenity of the area along with setting of the nearby conservation areas
(Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Fine Detailing
16. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved drawings, prior to the completion of the frame of
the new building, construction drawings (including sections at 1:10 scale) of all external elements of
the development (including brickwork, cills, copings, soffits, parapet detailing, ledges, reveals, fins,
vents, screens, louvres, shopfronts, windows (including those to the viewing area with the proposed
restaurant on the eighth floor) and balcony screens where required shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not detract
from the character and visual amenity of the area along with setting of the nearby conservation areas
(Policies Q6, Q7, Q8, and Q22 of the Lambeth Local Plan 2015).
Plumbing
17. No vents, plumbing or pipes, other than those approved, shall be fixed to the external faces of the
building.
Reason: To ensure an appropriate standard of design (Policies Q6, Q8 and PN3 of the Lambeth Local
Plan 2015).
Amenity
Pedestrian risk mitigation measures
18. Prior to the occupation of development, mitigation measures to protect pedestrians from the diagonal
bracing of the building facing Pope’s Road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details,
which shall be permanently retained thereafter.
Reason: To ensure the development does not cause a hazard and obstruction to users of the public
highway (Policy T6 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Noise and Vibration attenuation of ventilation plant
19. Prior to the occupation of the uses hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, an
assessment of the acoustic impact arising from the operation of all internally and externally located
plant shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The assessment of the acoustic impact shall be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142: 2014 (or
subsequent superseding equivalent) and current best practice and shall include a scheme of
attenuation measures to ensure the rating level of noise emitted from the proposed building services
plant is 10dB less than background.

Page 130
The uses hereby permitted, or the operation of any building services plant, shall not commence until a
post-installation noise assessment has been carried out to confirm compliance with the noise criteria.
The scheme of attenuation shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
attenuation measures, and they shall be permanently retained and maintained in working order for the
duration of the use and their operation.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Site Maintenance and Management
Fire Statement
20. Prior to the commencement of above ground works, a Fire Statement shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Fire Statement shall be produced by a suitably
competent and qualified person which shall detail the building’s construction, methods, products and
materials used; the means of escape for all building users including those who are disabled or require
level access together with the associated management plan; access for fire service personnel and
equipment; ongoing maintenance and monitoring and how provision will be made within the site to
enable fire appliances to gain access to the building. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details, and to the satisfaction of current Building Regulations and the
measures and means shall thereafter be retained for the lifetime of the building hereby approved.
Reason: In order to provide a safe and secure development in accordance with Policy D12 of the
Intend to publish London Plan (2019).
Operating hours.
21. Customers are not permitted in the retail, restaurant and café and community and leisure uses hereby
permitted other than within the following times:
-

08:00 Hours to 23:00 Hours – Monday through to Thursday. 08:00 Hours to 00:00 Hours –
Fridays and Saturdays.
10:00 Hours to 23:00 hours – Sundays, Bank or Public holidays.

Reason: To ensure that no nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of
adjoining occupiers or of the area generally.
Maintenance of flues and extraction plant
22. The restaurant and cafe (Class A3) uses hereby permitted shall not commence until details of an
ongoing maintenance plan for the fume extraction and filtration equipment have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved fume extraction and filtration
equipment shall thereafter be retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the use in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Noise control and management.
23. Prior to the occupation of the development, a scheme of noise and vibration attenuation to the
commercial areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall fully achieve the commercial room standards as detailed in BS8233:2014 and ensure
noise breakout from the 8th floor food and drink use is properly controlled. A post installation validation
report confirming full installation of the approved scheme and demonstrating compliance with the
standards approved shall be submitted by a suitably qualified person and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The approved noise and vibration attenuation measures shall thereafter be

Page 131
retained and maintained in working order for the duration of the uses in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Customer Management Plan
24. The restaurant and café and community and leisure uses hereby permitted shall not commence until a
Customer Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing for each use by the local
planning authority. This should include but not be limited to, hours of operation, management
responsibilities during all operating hours, measures to control noise from live and amplified music
(including the screening of sporting events and public address systems) and minimising the effects of
patrons coming and going from site and demonstrating how customers leaving the building will be
prevented from causing nuisance for people in the area. The uses hereby permitted shall thereafter be
operated in accordance with the approved details for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area (Policy Q2 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Waste and recycling storage
25. Prior to the occupation of the uses hereby permitted, details of waste and recycling storage (including
detail on ventilation of refuse stores) for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The waste and recycling storage shall be provided in accordance with
the approved details prior to the commencement of any of the uses hereby permitted, and shall
thereafter be retained solely for its designated use. The waste and recycling storage areas/facilities
should comply with the Lambeth's Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide (2013), unless it is
demonstrated in the submissions that such provision is inappropriate for this specific development.
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to encourage the
sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual amenities of the area (Policies Q2 and
Q12 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Waste Management Strategy
26. Prior to the occupation of the uses hereby permitted, a Waste Management Strategy shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development hereby
permitted shall be built in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be retained solely
for its designated use. The uses hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the
approved Waste Management Strategy.
Reason: To ensure suitable provision for the occupiers of the development, to encourage the
sustainable management of waste and to safeguard the visual amenities of the area (Policies Q2 and
Q12 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Cycle Storage
27. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of the provision to be made for
cycle parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle
parking shall thereafter be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details before the use
hereby permitted commences and shall thereafter be retained solely for its designated use for the
lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure adequate cycle parking is available on site and to promote sustainable modes of
transport (Policies T1, T3 and Q13 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).

Page 132
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan
28. The uses hereby permitted shall not commence until a Delivery and Servicing Management Plan,
including details of freight consolidation and confirming that all servicing will be undertaken off-street
within the service yard, has been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details for the
lifetime of the development. The submitted details must include the following:
a) Frequency and timings of deliveries to the site;
b) Frequency and timings of other servicing vehicles, such as refuse collections;
c) Dimensions of delivery and servicing vehicles, with confirmation that the maximum size of any
servicing vehicles will not exceed 8 metres (7.5 tonnes);
d) Proposed loading and delivery locations; and
e) A strategy to manage vehicles servicing the site.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers and the surrounding area
(Policy Q2 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and to limit the effects of the increase
in travel movements (Policy T8 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Security and Site Management Strategy
29. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, a Security and Site
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
submitted details will include the following:
a) A summary of known crime risks in the area;
b) Details of how the development has mitigated known crime risks in the area; and
c) Detail of how the development seeks to achieve 'Secured by Design Standards', including details of
a CCTV scheme, external security and gates, street lighting and landscaping.
The development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details for the lifetime
of the development.
Reason: To ensure that the development maintains and enhances community safety (Policy Q3 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Office use restriction
30. The floorspace shown on the approved plans to be used as offices for operational and administrative
functions shall be used as such and for no other purpose.
Reason: To retain and maintain the supply of office space within Brixton Town Centre in accordance
with policies.
Mix of uses within the development
31. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development, a Commercial Business and Service Uses Mix
Strategy confirming the mixture of uses within the development shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. No less than 50% of the floorspace within the flexible uses
proposed at ground and first floor levels hereby approved shall be in retail use and no more than 50%
of the floorspace identified on the drawings hereby approved shall be used for the sale of food and
drink for consumption within the premises.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory provision of Class A1 units and floorspace within the indoor market
(policy PN3 of the London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and policy PN3 of the Draft Revised
Lambeth Local Plan Submission Version (2019)).

Page 133
Limitations on ground and first floor uses
32. The retail, food and drink, office and community uses on the ground and first floors of the development
as indicated on the approved plans shall be used as such and for no other purpose
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory mix of retail, commercial and community space (policy PN3 of the
London Borough of Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Landscaping, biodiversity and External Amenity
Landscaping Scheme and Ecological Enhancements Strategy
33. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby permitted, a soft and hard landscaping
scheme and ecological enhancement strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The specifications shall include details of the quantity, size, species, position
and the proposed time of planting of all elements of the landscape design (together with details of their
anticipated routine maintenance and protection) to demonstrate that the Urban Greening Factor of 0.3
has been achieved.
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved timetable. All tree,
shrub and hedge planting included within the above specification shall accord with BS3936:1992,
BS4043:1989 and BS4428:1989 (or subsequent superseding equivalent) and current Arboricultural
best practice.
Reason: In order to introduce high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in the interests of the
ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual
amenity (Policy Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Green roofs
34. Prior to the occupation of any part of the development hereby permitted, a detailed specification of the
green roofs shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
specification shall include details of the quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of
planting of all elements of the green roof, together with details of their anticipated routine maintenance
and protection. The green roofs shall only be installed and thereafter maintained in accordance with
the approved details for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: In order to introduce high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in the interests of the
ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual
amenity (Policies EN4 and Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and Policy G1 of the Intend to publish
London Plan (2019).
Landscaping Scheme and Ecological Enhancements Strategy implementation
35. Within six months of first occupation of any part of the development, evidence to demonstrate that the
net biodiversity gains (secured under the Ecological Enhancements details approved as part of the
discharge of Condition 29) have been achieved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.
Reason: In the interests of the ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of
the site in the interests of visual amenity (Policies EN4 and Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and
Policy G1 of the Intend to publish London Plan (2019).
Landscaping Timescales
36. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of soft landscaping shall be carried
out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the development hereby
permitted. Any trees, hedgerows or shrubs forming part of the approved landscaping scheme which
within a period of five years from the occupation or substantial completion of the relevant phase die,

Page 134
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season
with others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives written consent to any
variation.
Reason: In order to introduce high quality soft landscaping in and around the site in the interests of the
ecological value of the site and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual
amenity (Policies EN4 and Q9 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015) and Policy G1 of the Intend to publish
London Plan (2019).
Lighting Scheme
37. Prior to occupation of any part of the development, an external lighting scheme must be submitted and
approved by the local planning authority in accordance with the Institute of Lighting Professional's
Guidance notes for the reduction of obstructive light. The scheme must be designed by a suitably
qualified person in accordance with the recommendations for environmental zone E3 in the ILP
document "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011.
The development should be implemented in accordance with the approved details and retained and
properly maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure minimal nuisance or disturbance is caused to the detriment of the amenities of
adjoining occupiers and to ensure the external appearance of the building is satisfactory and does not
detract from the setting of the nearby conservation areas (Policies Q2, Q6, Q7, Q8 and Q22 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Pedestrian wind microclimate
38. Prior to the commencement of above ground works, a scheme of mitigation of the impact of the
development hereby permitted on local wind microclimate shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall incorporate the recommended mitigation
measures set out in the Pedestrian Level Wind Microclimate Assessment reference RWDI Project
#2000240 Rev E and dated 30 March 2020. The scheme shall take account of BRE Digest DG520
(Wind Microclimate Around Buildings) and shall include elevational drawings of any structures or
screens and any further supporting assessment to ensure that all external spaces achieve the relevant
standards set out in the Lawson Comfort Criteria, allowing for cumulative development, including
mitigation of any identified off-site impacts. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details and thereafter retained as such for the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To avoid unacceptable detriment of the amenities of future occupiers or of the area generally
(Policy Q2 (Amenity) – Lambeth Local Plan 2015) and in accordance with policy 7.6 of the Mayors
London Plan.
Pedestrian wind microclimate implementation
39. The Pedestrian wind microclimate scheme of mitigation shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and mitigation measures, and they shall be fully installed prior to occupation and
permanently retained and maintained for the lifetime of the development. Any variation to the layout or
built form of the development shall be accompanied by a revised Wind Microclimate Assessment
which details any additional identified adverse wind microclimate impacts. Any additional steps
required to mitigate these impacts shall be detailed and implemented, as necessary. The revised
assessment shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the details as
approved shall thereafter be permanently retained.
Reason: To avoid unacceptable detriment of the amenities of future occupiers or of the area generally
(Policy Q2 (Amenity) – Lambeth Local Plan 2015) and in accordance with policy 7.6 of the London
Plan.

Page 135
Sustainability and Energy
BREEAM – Post Construction Certificate
40. Within six months of first occupation of any part of the development, a BREEAM Post Construction
certificate and summary score sheet should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority demonstrating that a rating of ‘Excellent’ has been achieved for the Office space, or
a rating of Very Good (with a minimum score of 63%) has been achieved with a justification to explain
why an Excellent rating could not be achieved. The summary score sheets for the assessment should
demonstrate that the actions proposed to reduce waste during construction and water during operation
are undertaken in line with the approved Sustainability Statement.
Reason: To ensure that the development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policy EN4 of the
Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Photovoltaic panels
41. Prior to above ground construction works commencing, plans, elevations and sections of the roof(s)
showing the location of the proposed photovoltaic array(s) should be submitted for approval to the
Local Planning Authority. The photovoltaic array(s) shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved details and retained and properly maintained permanently thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the appearance of the completed development and to ensure that the
development has an acceptable level of sustainability (Policies Q2, Q7, Q8 and EN4 of the Lambeth
Local Plan (2015)).
Travel Plan
42. Prior to the uses hereby approved commencing, a Travel Plan relating to those uses shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The measures approved in the
Travel Plan to be implemented before occupation shall so be implemented prior to the use
commencing and shall be so maintained for the duration of the use, unless the prior written approval of
the Local Planning Authority is obtained to any variation.
Reason: To ensure that the travel arrangements to the site are appropriate and to limit the effects of
the increase in travel movements (Policy 6.3 of the Intend to publish London Plan 2019 and Policies
T1 and T6 of the Lambeth Local Plan (2015)).
Informatives
1. This decision letter does not convey an approval or consent which may be required under any
enactment, by-law, order or regulation, other than Section 57 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.
2. Your attention is drawn to the provisions of the Building Regulations, and related legislation which
must be complied with to the satisfaction of the Council's Building Control Officer.
3. You are advised to consult the Council's Environmental Health Division concerning compliance with
any requirements under the Housing, Food, Safety and Public Health and Environmental Protection
Acts and any by-laws or regulations made there under.
4. Your attention is drawn to the provisions of The Party Wall Act 1996 in relation to the rights of
adjoining owners regarding party walls etc. These rights are a matter for civil enforcement and you
may wish to consult a surveyor or architect.
5. The property numbers of all ground floor units with external doors hereby approved shall be clearly
and permanently displayed at their entrance.

Page 136
6. You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council's Streetcare team within the Public Protection
Division with regard to the provision of refuse storage and collection facilities.
7. You are advised of the necessity to consult the Council’s Highways team prior to the commencement
of construction on 020 7926 9000 in order to obtain necessary approvals and licences prior to
undertaking any works within the Public Highway including Scaffolding, Temporary/Permanent
Crossovers, Oversailing/Undersailing of the Highway, Drainage/Sewer Connections, Hoarding,
Excavations (including adjacent to the highway such as basements, etc), Temporary Full/Part Road
Closures, Craneage Licences etc.
8. You are advised that this permission does not authorise the display of illuminated advertisements at
the premises and separate consent may be required from the Local Planning Authority under the Town
and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992.
9. As soon as building work starts on the development, you must contact the Street Naming and
Numbering Officer if you need to do the following:
-

name a new street

-

name a new or existing building

-

apply new street numbers to a new or existing building

This will ensure that any changes are agreed with Lambeth Council before use, in accordance with the
London Buildings Acts (Amendment) Act 1939 and the Local Government Act 1985. Although it is not
essential, we also advise you to contact the Street Naming and Numbering Officer before applying
new names or numbers to internal flats or units. Contact details are listed below. Street Naming and
Numbering Officer e-mail: streetnn@lambeth.gov.uk tel: 020 7926 2283 fax: 020 7926 9104.
10. For information on the NRMM Low Emission Zone requirements and to register NRMM, please visit
“http://nrmm.london/”. Background documents – Case file (this can be accessed via the planning
Advice Desk, Telephone 020 7 926 1180). For advice on how to make further written submissions or
to register to speak on this item, please contact Democratic Services, 020 796 2170 or email.
11. When construction timeframes are known the developer will need to pass related details (precise
location, maximum height and associated timescales) to the Defence Geographic Centre (DGC) which
maintains the UK's master database of tall structures (the Digital Vertical Obstruction File). The DGC
point of contact is 0208 818 2702/dvof@mod.uk.
12. Temporary structures such as cranes can be notified through the means of a Notice to Airmen
(NOTAM). If above a height of 300ft (91.4m) above ground level, the developer must ensure that the
crane operator contacts the CAA's Airspace Regulation (AR) section on ARops@caa.co.uk or
02074536599.
13. For cranes below this high the developer must ensure that the crane operator contacts Low Flying
Operations at RAF Wittering CAS-ASLFOSOpsLF@mod.uk / 01780 146 208. However, in this case
that is not necessary as no military low-flying routinely takes place in this location. If the crane is to be
in place for in excess of 90 days it should be considered a permanent structure and will need to be
notified as such: to that end the developer should also contact the DGC (see above). Additionally, any
crane of a height of 60m or more will need to be equipped with aviation warning lighting in line with
CAA guidance concerning crane operations which is again available at
http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP%201096%20In%20Focus%20-%20Crane%20Ops.pdf.
14. As Network Rail are the land owner of the viaduct/arch structure, the applicant will have to obtain
business and technical clearance from Network Rail which is crucial to ensure inspections and

Page 137
maintenance of the asset/structure can continue as well as other important Network Rail tasks.
Therefore the applicant must contact Network Rail’s Asset Protection and Optimisation Team via
AssetProtectionLondonSouthEast@networkrail.co.uk with a view to enter an Asset Protection
Agreement well before any work commencing. Our Asset Protection Team will also assist with the
technical clearance process.
15. Thames Water have advised that the development should not be occupied until confirmation has been
provided that either: - 1. Capacity exists off site to serve the development, or 2. An infrastructure
phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water. Where an infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no
occupation should take place other than in accordance with the agreed infrastructure phasing plan, or
3. All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the
development have been completed. The Applicant is advised to liaise with Thames Water
Development Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998).
With regard to surface water drainage, Thames Water have requested that the development not be
occupied until confirmation has been provided that either: - 1. Capacity exists off site to serve the
development or 2. An infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water. Where an
infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the
agreed infrastructure phasing plan. Or 3. All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate
the additional flows from the development have been completed. Any reinforcement works identified
will be necessary in order to avoid flooding and/or potential pollution incidents. The Applicant can
request information to support the discharge of this requirement by visiting the Thames Water website
at thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. You are advised to liaise with Thames Water Development
Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the development commencing.
Thames Water have identified that upgrades to the water network will be required. Works are ongoing
to understand this in more detail. The development may low / no water pressures and network
reinforcement works are anticipated to be necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made
available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the new development. Any necessary
reinforcement works, in order to avoid low / no water pressure issues, should be discussed directly
with Thames Water Development Planning Department (telephone 0203 577 9998) prior to the
development commencing.
There are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames Water do NOT permit the
building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're planning significant works near our
mains (within 3m) we’ll need to check that your development doesn’t reduce capacity, limit repair or
maintenance activities during and after construction, or inhibit the services we provide in any other
way. The Applicant is advised to read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.
https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-site/Planning-your-development/Workingnear-or-diverting-our-pipes
The proposed development is located within 15m of our underground water assets, as such the
development could cause the assets to fail if appropriate measures are not taken. Please read
Thames Water’s guide ‘working near our assets’ to ensure your workings are in line with the
necessary processes the development needs to follow if any working above or near Thames Water’s
pipes or other structures, which can be found at: https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-alarge-site/Planning-your-development/Working-near-or-diverting-our-pipes. Should you require further
information please contact Thames Water. Email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk.
Thames Water have also requested confirmation whether the proposed foul water discharge by gravity
into manhole TQ31752401 will be at proposed surface water discharge at 5.0 l/s for all storm events
up to and including 1:100yr+40%CC into manhole TQ31752401.

Page 138
16. You are advised that any external illumination of the upper storeys (above the height of the slab block)
of the building is unlikely to be acceptable as this is likely to adverse impact on the visual amenity of
the surrounding area and the setting of heritage assets within the vicinity of the site

Appendix 2: List of Consultees (Statutory and Other Consultees)
Statutory
Greater London Authority
Historic England
Historic England - Archaeology
London Underground
Network Rail
Thames Water
Transport for London
Internal/Consultants
Bioregional
LBL Building Control
LBL Conservation & Urban Design
LBL EHST Noise Pollution
LBL EHST Fume Extraction
LBL Enterprise, Employment and Skills
LBL Highways Team
LBL Planning Policy
LBL Public Protection & Regulatory Services
LBL Regeneration Team
LBL Sustainability Team
LBL Transport
Veolia Waste Lambeth Planning App
Ward Councillors
Other
Brixton Business Improvement Districts
Brixton Community Base
Brixton Society
Central Brixton Housing Forum
EDF Energy
Friends of the Earth England & Wales
Guinness Trust & Loughborough Park Tenants Association
Helen Hayes MP
Herne Hill Society
Loughborough Junction Action Group
Minet Conservation Association
Moorlands Estate Management Steering Group
Southwyk House Tenants Association
Southwyk House Tenants & Residents Association

Page 139
Appendix 3: List of relevant policies in London Plan, Lambeth Local Plan. Reference to SPGs,
SPD and other relevant guidance
The London Plan (2016)
Provided below is a list of the key London Plan policies which are considered relevant in the
determination of these applications:












































Policy 1.1 Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London
Policy 2.1 London in its global, European and United Kingdom context
Policy 2.9 Inner London
Policy 2.10 Central Activities Zone – strategic priorities
Policy 2.11 Central Activities Zone – strategic functions
Policy 2.12 Central Activities Zone – predominantly local activities
Policy 2.13 Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
Policy 2.15 Town Centres
Policy 3.1 Ensuring equal life chances for all
Policy 3.2 Improving health and addressing health inequalities
Policy 3.9 Mixed and balanced communities
Policy 4.1 Developing London’s economy Economic sectors & workspaces
Policy 4.2 Offices
Policy 4.3 Mixed use development and offices
Policy 4.5 London’s visitor infrastructure
Policy 4.6 Support for and enhancement of Arts, Culture, Sport and Entertainment
Policy 4.7 Retail and Town Centre Development
Policy 4.8 Supporting a successful & diverse retail sector & related facilities & services
Policy 4.9 Small Shops
Policy 4.10 New and emerging economic sectors
Policy 4.11 Encouraging a connected economy
Policy 4.12 Improving opportunities for all
Policy 5.1 Climate change mitigation
Policy 5.2 Minimising carbon dioxide emissions
Policy 5.3 Sustainable design and construction
Policy 5.4 Retrofitting
Policy 5.4 A Electricity and gas supply
Policy 5.5 Decentralised energy networks
Policy 5.6 Decentralised energy in development proposals
Policy 5.7 Renewable energy
Policy 5.8 Innovative energy technologies
Policy 5.9 Overheating and cooling
Policy 5.10 Urban greening
Policy 5.11 Green roofs and development site environs
Policy 5.12 Flood risk management
Policy 5.13 Sustainable drainage
Policy 5.14 Water quality and wastewater infrastructure
Policy 5.15 Water use and supplies
Policy 5.16 Waste net self-sufficiency
Policy 5.17 Waste capacity
Policy 5.18 Construction, excavation and demolition waste
Policy 6.1 Strategic approach
Policy 6.3 Assessing effects of development on transport capacity

Page 140






























Policy 6.4 Enhancing London’s transport connectivity
Policy 6.7 Better streets and surface transport
Policy 6.8 Coaches
Policy 6.9 Cycling
Policy 6.10 Walking
Policy 6.12 Road network capacity
Policy 6.13 Parking
Policy 7.1 Lifetime neighbourhoods
Policy 7.2 An inclusive environment
Policy 7.3 Designing out crime
Policy 7.4 Local character
Policy 7.5 Public realm
Policy 7.6 Architecture
Policy 7.7 Location and design of tall and large buildings
Policy 7.8 Heritage assets and archaeology
Policy 7.9 Heritage-led regeneration
Policy 7.11 London View Management Framework
Policy 7.12 Implementing the London View Management Framework
Policy 7.13 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
Policy 7.14 Improving air quality
Policy 7.15 Reducing and managing noise
Policy 7.18 Protecting open space and addressing deficiency
Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and access to nature
Policy 7.20 Geological conservation
Policy 7.21 Trees and woodlands
Policy 8.1 Implementation
Policy 8.2 Planning obligations
Policy 8.3 Community infrastructure levy
Policy 8.4 Monitoring and review

Intend to Publish London Plan (December 2019)




















GG1 Building strong and inclusive communities
GG2 Making the best use of land
GG3 Creating a healthy city
GG6 Increasing efficiency and resilience
Policy SD4 The Central Activities Zone (CAZ)
Policy SD5 Offices, other strategic functions and residential development in the CAZ
Policy SD10 Strategic and local regeneration
Policy D1 London’s form, character and capacity for growth
Policy D2 Infrastructure requirements for sustainable densities
Policy D3 Optimising site capacity through the design-led approach
Policy D4 Delivering good design
Policy D5 Inclusive design
Policy D8 Public realm
Policy D9 Tall buildings
Policy D11 Safety, security and resilience to emergency
Policy D12 Fire safety
Policy D13 Agent of Change
Policy D14 Noise
Policy HC1 Heritage conservation and growth

Page 141



























Policy HC3 Strategic and Local Views
Policy HC4 London View Management Framework
Policy G1 Green infrastructure
Policy G5 Urban greening
Policy G6 Biodiversity and access to nature
Policy G7 Trees and woodlands
Policy SI 1 Improving air quality
Policy SI 2 Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
Policy SI 3 Energy infrastructure
Policy SI 4 Managing heat risk
Policy SI 5 Water infrastructure
Policy SI 6 Digital connectivity infrastructure
Policy SI 7 Reducing waste and supporting the circular economy
Policy SI 8 Waste capacity and net waste self-sufficiency
Policy SI 12 Flood risk management
Policy SI 13 Sustainable drainage
Policy T1 Strategic approach to transport
Policy T2 Healthy Streets
Policy T3 Transport capacity, connectivity and safeguarding
Policy T4 Assessing and mitigating transport impacts
Policy T5 Cycling
Policy T6 Car parking
Policy T6.1 Residential parking
Policy T7 Deliveries, servicing and construction
Policy T9 Funding transport infrastructure through planning
Policy DF1 Delivery of the Plan and Planning Obligations

Lambeth Local Plan (2015) policies:
Provided below is a list of the key Local Plan policies which are considered relevant in the
determination of these applications:










D1 - Delivery and monitoring
D2 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development
D3 - Infrastructure
D4 - Planning obligations
ED3 - Large offices (greater than 1,000 m2)
ED5 - Railway Arches
ED6 - Town Centres
ED7 - Evening economy and food and drink uses
ED11 - Visitor attractions, leisure, arts and culture uses












ED13 - Markets
ED14 - Employment and training
S1 - Safeguarding existing community premises
S2 - New or improved community premises
T1 - Sustainable travel
T2 - Walking
T3 - Cycling
T4 - Public transport infrastructure
T6 - Assessing impacts of development on transport capacity
T7 - Parking

Page 142






























T8 - Servicing
EN1 - Open space and biodiversity
EN3 - Decentralised energy
EN4 - Sustainable design and construction
EN5 - Flood risk
EN6 - Sustainable drainage systems and water management
EN7 - Sustainable waste management
Q1 - Inclusive environments
Q2 - Amenity
Q3 - Community safety
Q4 - Public Art
Q5 - Local distinctiveness
Q6 - Urban design: public realm
Q7 - Urban design: new development
Q8 - Design quality: construction detailing
Q9 - Landscaping
Q10 - Trees
Q11 - Building alterations and extensions
Q12 - Refuse/recycling storage
Q13 - Cycle storage
Q15 - Boundary treatments
Q17 – Advertisements and signage
Q18 - Historic environment strategy
Q20 - Statutory listed buildings
Q22 - Conservation areas
Q23 - Undesignated heritage assets: local heritage list
Q25 - Views
Q26 Tall and large buildings
PN3 Brixton

Draft Revised Lambeth Local Plan Submission Version (2019) policies




















ED1 – Offices (B1a)
ED1 – Affordable Workspace
ED6 – Railway Arches
ED7 – Town Centres
ED8 – Evening Economy and Food and Drink Uses
ED12 – Markets
ED13 – Visitor Attractions, Leisure, Arts and Culture Uses
ED15 – Employment and Training
S1 – Safeguarding Existing Social Infrastructure
S2 – New or Improved Community Premises
T1 – Sustainable Travel
T2 – Walking
T3 – Cycling
T4 – Public Transport Infrastructure
T7 – Parking
T8 – Servicing
EN1 – Open Space, Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
EN4 – Sustainable Design and Construction
EN5 – Flood Risk

Page 143















EN6 – Sustainable Drainage Systems and Water Management
EN7 – Sustainable Waste Management
Q1 – Inclusive Environments
Q5 – Local Distinctiveness
Q6 – Urban Design – Public Realm
Q7 – Urban Design – New development
Q8 – Design Quality: Construction Dealing
Q9 – Landscaping
Q12 – Refuse/Recycling Storage
Q13 – Cycle Storage
Q17 – Advertisements and Signage
Q25 – Views
Q26 – Tall and Large Buildings
PN3 - Brixton

Regional Guidance
Relevant publications from the GLA include:









Central Activities Zone (March 2016)
Social Infrastructure (May 2015)
Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment (October 2014)
The control of dust and emissions during construction and demolition (July 2014)
Character and Context (June 2014)
Sustainable Design and Construction (April 2014)
Use of planning obligations in the funding of Crossrail, and the Mayoral Community Infrastructure
Levy SPG (2013)
London View Management Framework (March 2012)

Local Guidance / Supplementary Planning Documents
Relevant local guidance and SPDs for Lambeth include:






Employment and Skills SPD
Parking Survey Guidance Notes
Refuse & Recycling Storage Design Guide
Waste Storage and Collection Requirements - Technical Specification
Air Quality Planning Guidance Notes

This page is intentionally left blank

